# PUBLICATIONS

LEWIS, FRANK L., Ph.D. Tuesday, October 04, 2022 Moncrief-O'Donnell Endowed Chair, Professor of Electrical Engineering, UTA Fellow, National Academy of Inventors Professional Engineer, State of Texas Chartered Engineer, U.K. Engineering Council Fellow, International Federation of Automatic Control (IFAC) Life Fellow, Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE) Fellow, Institute of Measurement and Control, U.K. Member European Union Academy of Sciences, Fellow American Association for the Advancement of Science (AAAS) University Distinguished Scholar Professor, UTA University Distinguished Teaching Professor, UTA Texas Regents Outstanding Teacher Head, Advanced Controls and Sensors Group, UTA Research Institute Address. UTA Research Institute, The University of Texas at Arlington, 7300 Jack Newell Blvd.

# SEE SEPARATE RESUME. FLLresume.docx

Lewis is Ranked as number 19 in the world of all scientists in Electronics and Electrical Engineering by Research.com

S, Ft. Worth, Texas 76118, tel 817-272-5972, Lewis@uta.edu, http://www.uta.edu/utari/acs/

https://research.com/scientists-rankings/electronics-and-electrical-engineering

Lewis is ranked number 5 in the world in the subfield of Industrial Engineering and Automation according to a Stanford University Research Study in 2021.

F. Lewis is a Top 1% Highly Top Cited Researcher by Clarivate Web of Science, November, 2021. Cited as a Highly Cited Researcher every year since 2019. 75,555 google citations, h-index 123.

Thomson Reuters Web of Science Highly Cited Researcher 2018-2020.

Author of 23 books, 465 journal papers, 35 reprint volumes/journal special issues, 63 book chapters, 429 fully refereed & published conference papers.

**Textbooks.** Author of 23 books, including 5 textbooks currently in use in universities worldwide-Optimal Control, Optimal Estimation, Aircraft Control and Simulation, Applied Optimal Control, Robot Manipulator Control.

# **Table of Contents**

PUBLICATIONS	1
Table of Contents	2
Books	3
Journal Papers	4
Reinforcement Learning, Intelligent Control, Game Theory, Optimization	4
Multi-agent Games on Graphs, Graph Structure	10
Cooperative Multi-agent Distributed Control	11
Control of Microgrid and Electric Power Systems	17
Aircraft, Aerial Systems, UAV, Underwater Systems, and Helicopter Control	19
Discrete Event Supervisory Control & Decision Systems	21
Control of Industrial and Computer Processes	21
Robotics and Human-Robot Interaction	23
Sensor Networks & Real-Time/Internet-Based Control	24
MEMS Microelectromechanical Systems	24
System Theory	25
Adaptive and Robust Control	25
Neural Networks for Control	26
Fuzzy Logic Control	28
Biosystems	29
Mobile Robots	29
Stewart Platform Manipulator	30
Flexible and Vibratory Systems Control	30
Construction Automation	30
2-Dimensional Systems	30
Singular/Descriptor Systems	30
Conference Papers Published in Proceedings	32
Reinforcement Learning, Intelligent Control, Game Theory, Optimization	32
Multi-agent Games on Graphs, Graph Structure	35
Cooperative Multi-Agent Distributed Control	35
Control of Microgrid and Electric Power Systems	
Aircraft, Aerial System, and Helicopter Control	38
Discrete Event Control & Decision Systems	39
Control of Industrial and Computer Processes	41
Robotics and Human-Robot Interaction	42
Sensor Networks & Real-Time/Internet-Based Control	43
MEMS Microelectromechanical Systems	45
System Theory	45
Adaptive and Robust Control	46
Neural Networks for Control	47
Fuzzy Logic Control	50
Mobile Robots	51
Stewart Platform Manipulator	52
Flexible and Vibratory Systems Control	52
Construction Automation	53
2-Dimensional Systems	53
Singular/Descriptor Systems	54
Book Chapters	55
Journal Special Issues	59
Proceedings and Reprint Volumes	60
Magazine and Trade Journal Articles	61
I echnical Keports	6l
Unpuonsneu Reports	01
Reviews and Eurofials	02

# Books

- Hao Liu, Deyuan Liu, Yan Wan, Frank L. Lewis, and Kimon P. Valavanis, *Robust Formation Control for Multiple Unmanned Aerial Vehicles*, Taylor and Francis book series, accepted Sept 2022. \*\*
- [2] Yan Wan, K.G. Vamvoudakis, Yangquan Chen, and F.L. Lewis, *Smarter Cyberphysical Systems: Enabling Technologies and Applications*, CRC Press, Taylor and Francis, 2021, to appear.
- [3] K. G. Vamvoudakis, Y. Wan, F. L. Lewis, D. Cansever (Eds.), *Handbook on Reinforcement Learning and Control*, Springer, 2021.
- [4] A. Bidram, V. Nasirian, A. Davoudi, and F.L. Lewis, Cooperative Synchronization in Distributed Microgrid Control, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2017.
- [5] F.L. Lewis, Hongwei Zhang, K. Hengster-Movric, Abhijit Das, *Cooperative Control of Multi-Agent Systems: Optimal and Adaptive Design Approaches*, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2014.
  This book was translated into Chinese.
  This book reached 38,782 chapter downloads in 2016. It is a top 25% Springer downloaded book.
- [6] F.L. Lewis and Derong Liu, editors, *Reinforcement Learning and Approximate Dynamic Programming for Feedback Control*, John Wiley/IEEE Press, Computational Intelligence Series. 2012.
- [7] D. Vrabie, K. Vamvoudakis, and F.L. Lewis, *Optimal Adaptive Control and Differential Games by Reinforcement Learning Principles*, IET Press, 2012.
- [8] O. Kuljaca, F. Lewis, and K. Horvat, *Intelligent Control of Industrial and Power Systems*, Lambert Academic Publishing, Saarbrucken, 2012.
- [9] C.K. Pang, F.L. Lewis, T.H. Lee, and Z.Y. Dong, *Intelligent Diagnosis and Prognosis of Industrial Networked Systems*, CRC Press, Boca Raton, 2011.
- [10] K. Sreenath, M.F. Mysorewala, D.O. Popa, and F.L. Lewis, Adaptive Sampling with Mobile WSN: Simultaneous robot localisation & mapping of parametric spatio-temporal fields, Control Engineering Series. IET, 2011.
- [11] J. Gadewadikar and F.L. Lewis, *H-Infinity Output-Feedback Control: Application to Unmanned Aerial Vehicles*, Lambert Academic Publishing, Saarbrucken, Germany, 2010.
- [12] P. Ballal and F.L. Lewis, Wireless Sensor Network Design, VDM Verlag, Saarbrucken, Germany, 2010.
- [13] Contributing co-author, Ai Qun Liu, Photonics MEMS Devices, CRC Press, Boca Raton, 2008
- [14] S. Bogdan, F.L. Lewis, Z. Kovacic, and J. Mireles, Manufacturing Systems Control Design: A Matrix Based Approach, Springer-Verlag, London, 2006.
- [15] G. Vachtsevanos, F.L. Lewis, M. Roemer, A. Hess, B. Wu, Intelligent Fault Diagnosis and Prognosis for Engineering Systems, John Wiley, New York, 2006.

This book was translated into Chinese

- [16] M. Abu-Khalaf, J. Huang, and F.L. Lewis, Nonlinear H2/H-Infinity Constrained Feedback Control: A Practical Design Approach Using Neural Networks, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2006.
- [17] S.S. Ge and F.L. Lewis, editors, *Autonomous Mobile Robots: Sensing, Control, Decision-Making, and IET*, CRC Press, Boca Raton, 2006.
- [18] F.L. Lewis, J. Campos, and R. Selmic, Neuro-Fuzzy Control of Industrial Systems with Actuator Nonlinearities, Society of Industrial and Applied Mathematics Press, Philadelphia, 2002.
- [19] G. Tao and F.L. Lewis editors, *Adaptive Control of Nonsmooth Dynamic Systems*, Springer-Verlag, London, 2001.
- [20] F.L. Lewis, S. Jagannathan, and A. Yesildirek, Neural Network Control of Robot Manipulators and Nonlinear Systems, Taylor and Francis, London, 1999.
- [21] Y. Kim and F.L. Lewis, *High-Level Feedback Control with Neural Networks*," World Scientific, Singapore, 1998.

- [22] F.L. Lewis, D.M. Dawson, and C.T. Abdallah, *Robot Manipulator Control: Theory and Practice*, 2<sup>nd</sup> edition, Revised and Expanded, CRC Press, Boca Raton, 2006.
- [23] F.L. Lewis, C.T. Abdallah, and D.M Dawson, Control of Robot Manipulators, Macmillan, New York, Mar. 1993.
- [24] M.W. Spong, F.L. Lewis, and C.T. Abdallah, ed., *Robot Control: Dynamics, Motion Planning, and Analysis,* New Jersey: IEEE Press Reprint Vol., 1992.
- [25] F.L. Lewis, *Applied Optimal Control and Estimation: Digital Design and Implementation*, Prentice-Hall, New Jersey, TI Series, Feb. 1992.
- [26] B.L. Stevens, F.L. Lewis, and E.N. Johnson, *Aircraft Control and Simulation: Dynamics, Control, and Autonomous Systems*, John Wiley and Sons, New York, Third Edition, 2016.
- [27] B.L. Stevens and F.L. Lewis, Aircraft Control and Simulation, John Wiley and Sons, New York, Feb. 1992. Second edition, 2003.
- [28] F.L. Lewis, L. Xie, and D. Popa, *Optimal & Robust Estimation: With an Introduction to Stochastic Control Theory*, CRC Press, Boca Raton, 2007. Second Edition.
- [29] F.L. Lewis, D. Vrabie, and V. Syrmos, *Optimal Control*, third edition, John Wiley and Sons, New York, 2012.
- [30] F.L. Lewis and V. Syrmos, *Optimal Control*, second edition, John Wiley and Sons, New York, 1995.
- [31] F.L. Lewis, *Optimal Estimation: With an Introduction to Stochastic Control Theory*, John Wiley and Sons, New York, April 1986.
- [32] F.L. Lewis, Optimal Control, John Wiley and Sons, New York, February 1986. Note: these two books resulted in the receipt of the American Society of Engineering Education (ASEE) Frederick Emmons Terman Award in 1989.

# **Journal Papers**

## Reinforcement Learning, Intelligent Control, Game Theory, Optimization

- [1] Bosen Lian, Yusuf Kartal, Frank L. Lewis, Dariusz G. Mikulski, Gregory R. Hudas, Yan Wan, and Ali Davoudi, "Anomaly Detection and Correction of Optimizing Autonomous Systems with Inverse Reinforcement Learning," IEEE Transactions On Cybernetics,, accepted Sept 2022. \*\*
- [2] Jinna Li, Lin Yuan, Tianyou Chai, and Frank L. Lewis, "Consensus of Nonlinear Multi-agent Systems with Uncertainties Using Reinforcement Learning Based Sliding Mode Control," IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems, accepted, Sept. 2022. \*\*
- [3] Jinna Li, Weiran Cheng, Tianyou Chai, and Frank L. Lewis, "Efficient Reinforcement Learning for Synchronization of Heterogeneous Multi-agent Systems by Improved Q-functions," IEEE Trans. Automatic Control, accepted, Sept 2022. \*\*
- [4] Ruizhuo Song, Gaofu Yang, and Frank L. Lewis, "Nearly Optimal Control for Mixed Zero-Sum Game Based on Off-Policy Integral Reinforcement Learning," IEEE Transactions on Neural Networks and Learning Systems, accepted Aug 2022. DOI 10.1109/TNNLS.2022.3191847.
- [5] Chun Li, Jinliang Ding, Frank Lewis, Tianyou Chai, "Model-Free Q-Learning for the Tracking Problem of Linear Discrete-Time Systems" IEEE Transactions on Neural Networks and Learning Systems, Accepted July 2022.
- [6] Bosen Lian, Wenqian Xue, Frank L. Lewis, Tianyou Chai, "Inverse Reinforcement Learning for Multiplayer Noncooperative Apprentice Games," Automatica, to appear, May 2022.
- [7] Ci Chen, Lihua Xie, Kan Xie, Frank L. Lewis, Shengli Xie, "Adaptive Optimal Output Tracking of Continuous-time Systems via Output-Feedback-Based Reinforcement Learning," Automatica, to appear, July 2022.
- [8] Vrushabh Donge, Bosen Lian, Frank L. Lewis, and Ali Davoudi, "Multi-agent Graphical Games with Inverse Reinforcement Learning," IEEE Transactions On Control Of Network Systems, accepted, Aug 2022. \*\*
- [9] Bosen Lian, Vrushabh Donge, Frank L. Lewis, Tianyou Chai, and Ali Davoudi, "Data-Driven Inverse Reinforcement Learning Control for Linear Multiplayer Games," IEEE Transactions On Neural Networks And Learning Systems, to appear 12, June, 2022. DOI 10.1109/TNNLS.2022.3186229

- [10] Li Zhang, Jialu Fan, Wenqian Xue, Victor Lopez, Jinna Li, Tianyou Chai, and F.L. Lewis, "Data-Driven *H*infinity Optimal Output Feedback Control for Linear Discrete-Time Systems Based on Off-Policy *Q*-Learning," IEEE Transactions On Neural Networks And Learning Systems, to appear Sept. 2021, DOI 10.1109/TNNLS.2021.3112457.
- [11] Yi Jiang, Weinan Gao, Jin Wu, Tianyou Chai, Frank L. Lewis, "Reinforcement Learning and Cooperative H1 Output Regulation of Linear Continuous-Time Multi-Agent Systems," Automatica, to appear July 2022.
- [12] Yi Jiang, Weinan Gao, Jing Na, Di Zhang, Timo T. Hämäläinen, Vladimir Stojanovic, Frank L. Lewis," Value iteration and adaptive optimal output regulation with assured convergence rate," Control Engineering Practice, vol. 121, 2022. DOI 10.1016/j.conengprac.2021.105042.
- [13] Wanbing Zhao, Hao Liu, Kimon P. Valavanis, and Frank L. Lewis, "Fault-Tolerant Formation Control for Heterogeneous Vehicles via Reinforcement Learning," IEEE Transactions On Aerospace And Electronic Systems, to appear, 2022, DOI 10.1109/TAES.2021.3139260
- [14] Ci Chen, Frank L. Lewis, and Bo Li, "Homotopic policy iteration-based learning design for unknown linear continuous-time systems," Automatica, accepted, Dec. 2021. DOI 10.1016/j.automatica.2021.110153.
- [15] Chun Li, Jinliang Ding, Frank L. Lewis, Tianyou Chai, "A Novel Adaptive Dynamic Programming Based on Tracking Error for Nonlinear Discrete-Time Systems," Automatica, to appear, April 2021. DOI 10.1016/j.automatica.2021.109687
- [16] Wenqian Xue, Bosen Lian, Jialu Fan, Patrik Kolaric, Tianyou Chai, and Frank L. Lewis, "Inverse Reinforcement Q-Learning Through Expert Imitation for Discrete-time Systems," IEEE Transactions on Neural Network and Learning Systems to appear 2021. DOI: 10.1109/TNNLS.2021.3106635.
- [17] Wenqian Xue, Patrik Kolaric, Jialu Fan, Bosen Lian, Tianyou Chai, and Frank L. Lewis, "Inverse Reinforcement Learning in Tracking Control Based on Inverse Optimal Control," in *IEEE Transactions on Cybernetics*, vol. 52, no. 10, pp. 10570-10581, Oct. 2022, doi: 10.1109/TCYB.2021.3062856 \*\*
- [18] Zhe Chen, Wenqian Xue, Ning Li, and Frank L. Lewis, "Two-Loop Reinforcement Learning Algorithm For Finite-Horizon Optimal Control Of Continuous-Time Affine Nonlinear Systems," Int. J. Robust and Nonlinear Control, to appear, Oct. 2021. DOI 10.1002/rnc.5826.
- [19] Zhe Chen, Wenqian Xue, Ning Li, Bosen Lian and Frank L. Lewis, "A Novel Z-Function based Completely Model-Free Reinforcement Learning Method to Finite Horizon Zero-Sum Game of Nonlinear System," Nonlinear Dynamics, to appear, 2021. DOI: 10.1007/s11071-021-07049-z.
- [20] Jinna Li, Jinliang Ding, Tianyou Chai, Frank L. Lewis, and S. Jagannathan, "Adaptive Interleaved Reinforcement Learning: Robust Stability of Affine Nonlinear Systems with Unknown Uncertainty," IEEE Transactions On Neural Networks And Learning Systems, Vol. 33, No. 1, pp. 270-280, January 2022, DOI 10.1109/TNNLS.2020.3027653.
- [21] Wenqian Xue, Jialu Fan, Victor Lopez, Yi Jiang, Tianyou Chai, and Frank L. Lewis, "Off-Policy Reinforcement Learning for Tracking in Continuous-Time Systems on Two Time-Scales," IEEE Transactions on Neural Network and Learning Systems, vol. 32, no. 10, pp. 4334-4346, Oct. 2021, DOI 10.1109/TNNLS.2020.3017461.
- [22] Yunjie Yang, Yan Wan, Jihong Zhu, and F.L. Lewis, "H∞ Tracking Control for Linear Discrete-Time Systems: Model-Free Q-Learning Designs," IEEE Control Systems Letters, Vol. 5, No. 1, pp. 175-180 January 2021. DOI 10.1109/LCSYS.2020.3001241.
- [23] Chenyuan He, Yan Wan, Yixin Gu, and F.L. Lewis, "Integral Reinforcement Learning-Based Multi-Robot Minimum Time-Energy Path Planning Subject to Collision Avoidance and Unknown Environmental Disturbances," IEEE Control Systems Letters, VOL. 5, NO. 3, pp. 983-988, July 2021. DOI 10.1109/LCSYS.2020.3007663.
- [24] Dewen Li, Ning Li, and Frank Lewis, "Projection-free Distributed Optimization with Nonconvex Local Objective Functions and Resource Allocation Constraint," IEEE Transactions on Control of Network Systems, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 413-422, Mar. 2021. DOI 10.1109/TCNS.2020.3027787
- [25] Patrik Kolaric, Victor G. Lopez, and Frank L. Lewis, "Optimal Dynamic Control Allocation with Guaranteed Constraints and Online Adaptive Learning," Automatica, to appear, 2021.
- [26] Farnaz Adib Yaghmaie, Svante Gunnarsson, F.L. Lewis, "Output Regulation of Unknown Linear Systems using Average Cost Reinforcement Learning, "Automatica, to appear, 2019.

- [27] Ruizhuo Song, Junsong Li, and Frank L. Lewis, "Robust Optimal Control for Disturbed Nonlinear Zero-Sum Differential Games Based on Single NN and Least Squares," IEEE Transactions On Systems, Man, And Cybernetics: Systems, vol. 50, no. 11, pp. 4009-4019, Nov. 2020. DOI 10.1109/TSMC.2019.2897379.
- [28] Ruizhuo Song, Qinglai Wei, Huaguang Zhang, and F.L. Lewis, "Discrete-Time Non-Zero-Sum Games with Completely Unknown Dynamics, IEEE Transactions On Cybernetics, vol. 51, no. 6, pp. 2929-2943, 2021, DOI 10.1109/TCYB.2019.2957406.
- [29] Jialu Fan, Qian Wu, Yi Jiang, Tianyou Chai, and F.L. Lewis, "Model-Free Optimal Output Regulation for Linear Discrete-Time Lossy Networked Control Systems," IEEE Transactions on Systems, Man, and Cybernetics, vol. 50, no. 11, pp. 4033-4042, Nov. 2020. DOI 10.1109/TSMC.2019.2946382.
- [30] Yi Jiang, Bahare Kiumarsi, Jialu Fan, Tianyou Chai, Jinna Li, and F.L. Lewis, "Optimal Output Regulation of Linear Discrete-Time Systems With Unknown Dynamics Using Reinforcement Learning," IEEE Transactions on Cybernetics, Vol. 50, No. 7, Pp. 3147-3156, July 2020. DOI 10.1109/TCYB.2018.2890046.
- [31] Jinna Li, Jinliang Ding, Tianyou Chai, and F.L. Lewis, "Nonzero-Sum Game Reinforcement Learning for Performance Optimization in Large-Scale Industrial Processes," IEEE Transactions On Cybernetics, vol. 50, no. 9, pp. 4132-4145, Sept. 2020, DOI 10.1109/TCYB.2019.2950262.
- [32] Wenqian Xue, Jialu Fan, Victor G. Lopez, Jinna Li, Yi Jiang, Tianyou Chai, and Frank L. Lewis, "New Methods for Optimal Operational Control of Industrial Processes using Reinforcement Learning on Two Time-Scales," IEEE Transactions On Industrial Informatics, vol. 16, no. 5, pp. 3085-3099, May 2020, DOI 10.1109/TII.2019.2912018.
- [33] Bahare Kiumarsi, Bakur AlQaudi, Hamidreza Modares, Frank L. Lewis, Daniel S. Levine, "Optimal Control Using Adaptive Resonance Theory and Q-Learning," Neurocomputing, vol. 361, p. 119-125 October 2019.
- [34] Ci Chen, H. Modares, Kan Xie, F.L. Lewis, Yan Wan, and Shengli Xie, "Reinforcement Learning-based Adaptive Optimal Exponential Tracking Control of Linear Systems with Unknown Dynamics," IEEE Trans. Automatic Control, vol. 4423, no. 11, pp. 4423-4438, Nov. 2019. DOI 10.1109/TAC.2019.2905215.
- [35] Rohollah Moghadam and F.L. Lewis, "Output-Feedback H∞ Quadratic Tracking Control of Linear Systems Using Reinforcement Learning," International Journal of Adaptive Control and Signal Processing, to appear 2019.
- [36] H. Modares, R. Moghadam, F.L. Lewis, and A. Davoudi, "Static output-feedback synchronisation of multiagent systems: a secure and unified approach,' IET Control Theory and Applications, to appear, 2019.
- [37] K. Vamvoudakis, F.L. Lewis, W.E. Dixon, "Open-Loop Stackelberg Learning Solution for Hierarchical Control Problems," Int. Journal of Adaptive Control and Signal Processing, to appear 2019.
- [38] Amir Parviz Valadbeigi, Ali Khaki Sedigh, and F. L. Lewis, "H-infinity Static Output-Feedback Control Design for Discrete-Time Systems Using, Reinforcement Learning," IEEE Transactions On Neural Networks And Learning Systems, vol. 31, no. 2, pp. 396-406, Feb. 2020. DOI 10.1109/TNNLS.2019.2901889.
- [39] Xinglong Lu, Bahare Kiumarsi, Tianyou Chai, Yi Jiang, and F.L. Lewis, "Operational Control of Mineral Grinding Processes Using Adaptive Dynamic Programming and Reference Governor," IEEE Transactions on Industrial Informatics, vol. 15, no. 4, pp. 2210-2221, April 2019.
- [40] Victor Lopez and F.L. Lewis, "Dynamic Multiobjective Control for Continuous-time Systems using Reinforcement Learning," IEEE Trans. Automatic Control, vol. 64, no. 7, pp. 2869-2874, July 2019.
- [41] Yi Jiang, Jialu Fan, Tianyou Chai, F.L. Lewis, "Dual-Rate Operational Optimal Control for Flotation Industrial Process with Unknown Operational Model," IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics, vol. 66, no. 6, pp. 4587-4599, June 2019.
- [42] Jinna Li, Tianyou Chai, F.L. Lewis, Jinliang Ding, Yi Jiang, "Off-policy interleaved Q-learning: optimal control for affine nonlinear discrete-time systems," IEEE Transactions on Neural Networks and Learning Systems, vol. 30, no. 5, pp. 1308-1320, May 2019. DOI 10.1109/TNNLS.2018.2861945
- [43] Qinglai Wei, F.L. Lewis, Derong Liu, Ruizhuo Song, and Hanquan Lin, "Discrete-Time Local Value Iteration Adaptive Dynamic Programming: Convergence Analysis," IEEE Transactions on Systems, Man, and Cybernetics: Systems, Vol. 48, No. 6, pp. 875-891, June 2018.

- [44] Jinna Li, Tianyou Chai, F.L. Lewis, Jialu Fan, Zhengtao Ding, and Jinliang Ding, "Off-policy Q-learning: set-point design for optimizing dual-rate rougher flotation operational processes," IEEE Trans. Industrial electronics, vol. 65, no. 5, pp. 4092-4102, May 2018.
- [45] Bahare Kiumarsi, K. Vamvoudakis, H. Modares, and F.L. Lewis, "Optimal and Autonomous Control Using Reinforcement Learning: A Survey," IEEE Trans. Neural Networks and Learning Systems, vol. 29, no. 6, pp. 2042-2061, June 2018.

Listed as a 2018 Publication Spotlight of the IEEE Computational Intelligence Society

Paper recognized as one of the 2018 Google Scholar Classic Papers in the area of Automation and Control Theory.

- [46] Jan Škach, Bahare Kiumarsi, Frank L. Lewis, and Ondřej Straka, "Actor-Critic Off-Policy Learning for Optimal Control of Multiple-Model Discrete-Time Systems," IEEE Transactions on Cybernetics, vol. 48, no. 1, pp. 29-40, Jan. 2018.
- [47] Yi Jiang, Jialu Fan, Tianyou Chai, Jinna Li, and F.L. Lewis, "Data-Driven Flotation Industrial Process Operational Optimal Control Based on Reinforcement Learning," IEEE Trans. Industrial Informatics, vol. 14, no. 5, pp. 1974-1989, May 2018.
- [48] Yi Jiang, Jialu Fan, Tianyou Chain, F.L. Lewis, and Jinna Li, "Tracking Control for Linear Discrete-time Networked Control Systems with Unknown Dynamics and Dropout," IEEE Trans. Neural Networks and Learning Systems, vol. 29, no. 10, pp. 4607-4620, Oct. 2018.
- [49] Jinna Li, Bahare Kiumarsi, Tianyou Chai, F.L. Lewis, and Jialu Fan, "Off-Policy Reinforcement Learning: Optimal Operational Control for Two-Time-Scale Industrial Processes," IEEE Trans. Cybernetics, vol. 47, no. 12, pp. 4547-4558, Dec. 2017.
- [50] Qinglai Wei, F.L. Lewis, Q. Sun, P. Yan, and Ruizhuo Song, "Discrete-Time Deterministic Q-Learning: A Novel Convergence Analysis," IEEE Transactions on Cybernetics, vol. 47, no. 5, pp. 1224-1237, May 2017.
- [51] Junfei Xie, Yan Wan, Kevin Mills, James Filliben, Frank L. Lewis, "A Scalable Sampling Method to Highdimensional Uncertainties for Optimal and Reinforcement Learning-based Controls", IEEE Control Systems Letters, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 98-103, July 2017.
- [52] Bahare Kiumarsi, Frank L. Lewis, Zhong-Ping Jiang, "H-infinity Control of Linear Discrete-time Systems: Off-policy Reinforcement Learning," Automatica, vol. 78, pp. 144-152, 2017.
- [53] K.G. Vamvoudakis, H. Modares, B. Kiumarsi, and F.I. Lewis, "Game Theory-Based Control System Algorithms with Real-Time Reinforcement Learning," IEEE Control Systems Magazine, pp. 33-52, Feb. 2017.

This was the top most downloaded paper for the month of February 2017. It was listed as a top CSM 50 cited paper in June 2020.

- [54] Ruizhuo Song, F.L. Lewis, Qinglai Wei, "Off-Policy Integral Reinforcement Learning Method to Solve Nonlinear Continuous-Time Multi-Player Non-Zero-Sum Games," IEEE Transactions on Neural Networks and Learning Systems, vol. 28, no. 3, pp. 704-713, March 2017.
- [55] B. Kiumarsi, Wei Kang, and F.L. Lewis, "H∞ Control of Nonaffine Aerial Systems Using Off-policy Reinforcement Learning," Unmanned Systems, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 51-60, 2016.
- [56] H. Modares, B. Kiumarsi, F.L. Lewis. Z.P. Jiang, "Optimal Output-feedback Control of Unknown Continuous-time Linear Systems using Reinforcement Learning," IEEE Transactions on Cybernetics, vol. 46, no. 11, pp. 2401-2410, Nov. 2016.
- [57] Ruizhuo Song, F.L. Lewis, Qinglai Wei, and Huaguang Zhang, "Off-Policy Actor-Critic Structure for Optimal Control of Unknown Systems with Disturbances," IEEE Trans. Cybernetics, vol. 46, no. 5, pp. 1041-1050, 2016.
- [58] H. Modares, F.L. Lewis, and Z.-P. Jiang, "H-infinity Tracking Control of Completely-unknown Continuoustime Systems via Off-policy Reinforcement Learning," IEEE Transactions on Neural Networks and Learning Systems, vol. 26, no. 10, pp. 2550-2562, Oct. 2015.

- [59] A.E. Ruano, S.S. Ge, T.M. Guerra, F.L. Lewis, J.C. Principe, and M. Colnaric, "Computational intelligence in control," Annual Reviews in Control, to appear 2015.
- [60] B. Kiumarsi, F.L. Lewis, M.-B. Naghibi-Sistani, and A. Karimpour, "Optimal Tracking Control of Unknown Discrete-time Linear Systems Using Input-output Measured Data," IEEE Trans. Cybernetics, vol. 45, no. 12, pp. 2770-2779, Dec. 2015
- [61] Ruizhuo Song, F.L. Lewis, Qinglai Wei, Huaguang Zhang, Zhong-ping Jiang, and Dan Levine, "Multiple Actor-Critic Structures for Continuous-Time Optimal Control Using Input-Output Data," IEEE Transactions on Neural Networks and Learning Systems, vol. 26, no. 4, pp. 851-865, April 2015.
- [62] B. Kiumarsi, F.L. Lewis, and D. Levine, "Optimal Control of Nonlinear Discrete Time-varying Systems Using a New Neural Network Approximation Structure," Neurocomputing, vol. 156, pp. 157-165, May 2015
- [63] Muthukumar Palanisamy, H. Modares, F.L. Lewis, and M. Aurangzeb, "Continuous-time Q-learning for Infinite-horizon Discounted Cost Linear Quadratic Regulator Problems," IEEE Trans. Cybernetics, vol. 45, no. 2, pp. 165-176, Feb. 2015.
- [64] B. Kiumarsi and F.L. Lewis, "Actor-Critic-Based Optimal Tracking for Partially Unknown Nonlinear Discrete-Time Systems," IEEE Transactions on Neural Networks and Learning Systems, vol. 26, no. 1, pp. 140-151, Jan. 2015.
- [65] Lemei Zhu, H. Modares, Gan Oon Peen, F.L. Lewis, and Baozeng Yue, "Adaptive Suboptimal Output-Feedback Control for Linear Systems Using Integral Reinforcement Learning," IEEE Trans. Control Systems Technology, vol. 23, no. 1, pp. 264-273, Jan. 2015.
- [66] H. Modares and F.L. Lewis, "Optimal tracking control of nonlinear partially-unknown constrained-input systems using integral reinforcement learning," Automatica, vol. 50, pp. 1780-1792, 2014.
- [67] H. Modares and F.L. Lewis, "Linear Quadratic Tracking Control of Partially-Unknown Continuous-time Systems using Reinforcement Learning," IEEE Trans. Automatic Control, vol. 59, no. 11, pp. 3051-3068, Nov. 2014.
- [68] K. Vamvoudakis, D. Vrabie, and F.L. Lewis, "Online adaptive algorithm for optimal control with integral reinforcement learning," Int. J. Robust and Nonlinear Control, vol. 24, pp. 2686-2710, 2014.
- [69] H. Xu, S. Jagannathan, and F.L. Lewis, "Stochastic optimal output feedback design for unknown linear discrete-time system zero-sum games under communication constraints," Asian J. of Control, vol. 16, no. 5, pp. 1263-1276, Sept. 2014.
- [70] B. Kiumarsi, F.L. Lewis, H. Modares, and M.B. Naghibi-Sistani, "Reinforcement Q-Learning for Optimal Tracking Control of Linear Discrete-time Systems with Unknown Dynamics," Automatica, vol. 50, pp. 1167-1175, 2014.
- [71] H. Modares, F.L. Lewis, and M.B. Naghibi Sistani, "Integral reinforcement learning and experience replay for adaptive optimal control of partially-unknown constrained-input continuous-time systems," Automatica, vol. 50, pp. 193-202, 2014.
- [72] H. Modares, F.L. Lewis, and M.B. Naghibi Sistani, "Adaptive optimal control of unknown constrainedinput systems using policy iteration and neural networks," IEEE Trans. Neural Networks and Learning Systems, vol. 24, no. 10, pp. 1513-1525, Oct. 2013.
- [73] H. Modares, M.B. Naghibi Sistani, and F.L. Lewis, "A policy iteration approach to online optimal control of continuous- time constrained-input systems," ISA Transactions, vol. 52, no. 5, pp. 611-621, 2013.

This paper was listed by BioMedLib as the 8<sup>th</sup> most read article in ISA Trans. of October 2013.

- [74] H. Modares, F.L. Lewis, and M.B. Naghibi Sistani, "Online Solution of Nonquadratic Two-player Zero-sum Games arising in the H-infinity Control of Constrained Input Systems," International Journal of Adaptive Control and Signal Processing, vol. 28, pp. 232-254, 2014.
- [75] S. Bhasin, R. Kamalapurkar, M. Johnson, K. Vamvoudakis, F.L. Lewis, and W.E. Dixon, "A novel actorcritic-identifier architecture for approximate optimal control of uncertain nonlinear systems," Automatica, Vol. 49, No. 1, pp. 89-92, Jan. 2013

[76] F.L. Lewis, D. Vrabie, and K.G. Vamvoudakis, "Reinforcement learning and feedback control," IEEE Control Systems Magazine, pp. 76-105, December, 2012.

This paper was listed by IEEEExplore as the second most accessed CS Mag. article in March 2013 and the third most accessed in March 2017. It is listed as CSM top 50 cited in June 2020.

- [77] K.G. Vamvoudakis and F.L. Lewis, "Online solution of nonlinear two-player zero-sum games using synchronous policy iteration," Int. J. Robust and Nonlinear Control, vol. 22, pp. 1460-1483, 2012.
- [78] S.G. Khan, G. Herrmann, F.L. Lewis, T. Pipe, and C. Melhuish, "Reinforcement Learning and Optimal Adaptive Control: An Overview and Implementation Examples," IFAC Journal of Annual Reviews in Control, vol. 36, no. 1, pp. 42-59, April 2012.
- [79] K.G. Vamvoudakis, D. Vrabie, and F.L. Lewis, "Online learning algorithm for zero-sum games with integral reinforcement learning," *J. Artificial Intelligence and Soft Computing Research*, vol. 1, no. 4, pp. 315-332, 2011.
- [80] D. Vrabie and F.L. Lewis, "Adaptive dynamic programming for online solution of a zero-sum differential game," *J Control Theory App.*, vol. 9, no. 3, pp. 353–360, 2011.
- [81] F.L. Lewis and K.G. Vamvoudakis, "Reinforcement learning for partially observable dynamic processes: adaptive dynamic programming using measured output data," IEEE Trans. Systems, Man, And Cybernetics-Part B: vol. 41, no. 1, pp. 14-25, Feb. 2011.

This paper was cited by www.BioMedLib.com as the top article in the topic domain in Oct. 2012.

[82] K.G. Vamvoudakis and F.L. Lewis, "Multi-Player Non-Zero Sum Games: Online Adaptive Learning Solution of Coupled Hamilton-Jacobi Equations," Automatica, vol. 47, pp. 1556-1569, 2011.

This paper was listed by Science Direct as the 17<sup>th</sup> most read Automatica article of July-Sept 2011.

[83] K.G. Vamvoudakis and F.L. Lewis, "Online actor-critic algorithm to solve the continuous-time infinite horizon optimal control problem," Automatica, vol. 46, no. 5, pp. 878-888, May 2010.

Selected for inclusion in the 'ACC Virtual Special Issue of Annual Reviews in Control' as the first-listed among the six most influential papers of Automatica published between 2010-2013.

This paper was cited online by Elesevier.com/Automatica in March 2015 as the 10<sup>th</sup> most cited Automatic paper published since 2010.

- [84] J.H. Kim and F.L. Lewis, "Model-free H-infinity control design for unknown linear discrete-time systems via Q-learning with LMI," Automatica, vol. 46, no. 8, pp. 1320-1326, Aug. 2010.
- [85] F.L. Lewis and D. Vrabie, "Reinforcement learning and adaptive dynamic programming for feedback control," IEEE Circuits & Systems Magazine, Invited Feature Article, pp. 32-50, Third Quarter 2009.
- [86] D. Vrabie and F.L. Lewis, "Neural network approach to continuous-time direct adaptive optimal control for partially-unknown nonlinear systems," Neural Networks, vol. 22, no. 3, pp. 237-246, Apr. 2009.

This paper was cited by www.BioMedLib.com as the top 15<sup>th</sup> article in the topic domain in May 2012.

- [87] D. Vrabie, O. Pastravanu, M. Abu-Khalaf, and F. L. Lewis, "Adaptive optimal control for continuous-time linear systems based on policy iteration," Automatica, vol. 45, pp. 477-484, 2009.
- [88] S.N. Balakrishnan, J. Ding, and F.L. Lewis, "Issues on stability of ADP feedback controllers for dynamical systems," Trans. Systems, Man, Cybernetics, Part B, vol. 38, no. 4, pp. 913-917, special issue on ADP/RL, invited survey paper, August, 2008.
- [89] A. Al-Tamimi, F.L. Lewis, and M. Abu-Khalaf, "Discrete-Time Nonlinear HJB Solution Using Approximate Dynamic Programming: Convergence Proof," Trans. Systems, Man, Cybernetics, Part B, vol. 38, no. 4, pp. 943-949, special issue on ADP/RL, August, 2008.

This paper was cited by www.BioMedLib.com as the top article in the topic domain in May-July 2012.

This paper was cited in April 2012 by www.BioMedLib.com as the top article in the topic domain since its publication.

Cited by Biomedupdater.com in July 2016 as the 4<sup>th</sup> top article in the topic research domain since its publication.

- [90] D. Vrabie, F.L. Lewis, and M. Abu-Khalaf, "Biologically inspired scheme for continuous-time approximate dynamic programming," Trans. Inst. Measurement and Control, vol. 30, pp. 207-223, 2008.
- [91] A. Al-Tamimi, F.L. Lewis, and M. Abu-Khalaf, "Model-free Q-learning designs for linear discrete-time zero-sum games with application to H-infinity control," Automatica, vol. 43, pp. 473-481, 2007.
- [92] A. Al-Tamimi, M. Abu-Khalaf, and F.L. Lewis, "Adaptive Critic Designs for Discrete-Time Zero-Sum Games with Application to H-Infinity Control," IEEE Trans. Systems, Man, and Cybernetics, Part B: Cybernetics, vol. 37, no. 1, pp. 240-247, Feb. 2007.

This paper was cited by www.BioMedLib.com as the top article in the topic domain in March 2011.

- [93] M. Abu-Khalaf, F.L. Lewis, and J. Huang, "Neurodynamic Programming and Zero-Sum Games for Constrained Control Systems," IEEE Trans. Neural Networks, vol. 19, no. 7, pp. 1243-1252, July 2008.
- [94] M. Abu-Khalaf, F.L. Lewis, and J. Huang, "Policy iterations on the Hamilton-Jacobi-Isaacs equation for Hinfinity state feedback control with input saturation," IEEE Trans. Automatic Control, vol. 51, no. 12, pp. 1989-1995, Dec. 2006.
- [95] M. Abu-Khalaf and F.L. Lewis, "Nearly optimal control laws for nonlinear systems with saturating actuators using a neural network HJB approach," Automatica, vol. 41, pp. 779-791, 2005.
- [96] M. Abu-Khalaf and F.L. Lewis, "Nearly optimal state feedback control of constrained nonlinear systems using a neural networks HJB approach," IFAC Annual Reviews in Control, vol. 28, pp. 239-251, 2004.
- [97] R. Fierro, F.L. Lewis, and A. Lowe, "Hybrid control for a class of underactuated mechanical systems," IEEE Trans. Systems, Man, and Cybernetics, Part A, vol. 29, no. 6, pp. 649-654, Nov. 1999.
- [98] R. Fierro and F.L. Lewis, "Hybrid control system design using a fuzzy logic interface," Circuits, Systems, Signal Proc., vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 401-419, 1998.
- [99] R. Fierro and F.L. Lewis, "A framework for hybrid control design," IEEE Trans. Systems, Man, and Cybernetics, vol. 27, no. 6, pp. 765-773, Nov. 1997.

#### Multi-agent Games on Graphs, Graph Structure

- [100] Maryam N. Naleini, Ahmet Taha Koru, Yusuf Kartal, Victor G. Lopez, and Frank L. Lewis, "Leader-Following Cluster Consensus as a Graphical Differential Game with a Nash Equilibrium Solution," IEEE Control Systems Letters, vol. 6, pp. 2713-2718, 2022. DOI 10.1109/LCSYS.2022.3175665.
- [101] Ahmet Koru, S. B. Sarsılmaz, T. Yucelen, J. A. Muse, F. L. Lewis and B. Açıkmeşe, "Regional Eigenvalue Assignment in Cooperative Linear Output Regulation," in *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, 2022, doi: 10.1109/TAC.2022.3207419. \*\*
- [102] Bosen Lian, Frank L. Lewis, Gary Hewer, Katia Estabridis and Tianyou Chai, "Online Learning of Minmax Solutions for Distributed Estimation and Tracking Control of Sensor Networks in Graphical Games", IEEE Transactions on Control of Network Systems, to appear, April 2022. DOI: 10.1109/TCNS.2022.3181550
- [103] Victor G. Lopez, Frank L. Lewis, Mushuang Liu, and Yan Wan, "Beyond Nash Solutions for Differential Graphical Games," IEEE Trans. On Automatic Control, accepted, July 2022.
- [104] Yusuf Kartal, Ahmet Taha Koru, Frank L. Lewis, Yan Wan, Atilla Dogan, "Adversarial Multi-agent Output containment graphical game with Local and Global Objectives for UAVs," IEEE Trans. Transactions on Control of Network Systems, accepted Aug. 2022.
- [105] Mushuang Liu, Yan Wan, Victor G. Lopez, Frank L. Lewis, Gary Hewer, Katia Estabridis, "On the Robustness of Networked Cooperative Tracking Systems," Automatica, accepted, Jan. 2022.
- [106] Mushuang Liu, Yan Wan, Frank Lewis, Subramanya Nageshrao, and Dimitar Filev, "A Three-Level Game-Theoretic Decision-Making Framework for Autonomous Vehicles," IEEE Transactions On Intelligent Transportation Systems, accepted May 2022.
- [107] Victor G. Lopez, Frank L. Lewis, Mushuang Liu, Yan Wan, Subramanya Nageshrao and Dimitar Filev, "Game-Theoretic Lane-Changing Decision Making and Payoff Learning for Autonomous Vehicles," IEEE Trans. On Vehicular Technology, accepted, Nov. 2021.

- [108] Yang-Yang Qian, Mushuang Liu, Yan Wan, Frank L. Lewis, and Ali Davoudi, "Distributed Adaptive Nash Equilibrium Solution for Differential Graphical Games," IEEE Transactions On Cybernetics, to appear, 2022. DOI 10.1109/TCYB.2021.3114749.
- [109] Bosen Lian, Wenqian Xue, Frank L. Lewis and Tianyou Chai, "Inverse Reinforcement Learning for Adversarial Apprentice Games," IEEE Trans. on Neural Networks and Learning Systems, To appear, Aug. 2021. DOI: 10.1109/TNNLS.2021.3114612
- [110] Xiao Zhang, Bosen Lian, Frank L. Lewis, Yan Wan, and Daizhan Cheng, "Directed Graph Clustering Algorithms, Topology, and Weak Links," IEEE Trans. Systems, Man, and Cybernetics: Systems, vol. 52, no. 6, pp. 3995-4009, June 2022. DOI: 10.1109/TSMC.2021.3087591.
- [111] Mushuang Liu, Yan Wan, Victor G. Lopez, F.L. Lewis, Gary Hewer, and Katia Estabridis, "Differential Graphical Game with Distributed Global Nash Solution," IEEE Transactions on Control of Network Systems, vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 1371-1382, Sept. 2021. DOI 10.1109/TCNS.2021.3065654.
- [112] Victor G. Lopez, F.L. Lewis, Yan Wan, Edgar N. Sanchez, and Lingling Fan, "Solutions for Multiagent Pursuit-Evasion Games on Communication Graphs: Finite-Time Capture and Asymptotic Behaviors," IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control, vol. 65, no. 5, pp. 1911-1923, May 2020. DOI 10.1109/TAC.2019.2926554.
- [113] Victor G. Lopez, Frank L. Lewis, Yan Wan, Mushuang Liu, Gary Hewer, Katia Estabridis, "Stability and Robustness Analysis of Minmax Solutions for Differential Graphical Games," Automatica, vol. 121, pp. 109177, November 2020. DOI: 10.1016/j.automatica.2020.109177.
- [114] Mushuang Liu, Yan Wan Frank L. Lewis, and Victor G. Lopez, "Adaptive Optimal Control for Stochastic Multiplayer Differential Games Using On-Policy and Off-Policy Reinforcement Learning," IEEE Transactions on Neural Networks And Learning Systems, vol. 31, no. 12, pp. 5522-5533, Dec.2020. DOI 10.1109/TNNLS.2020.2969215.
- [115] Victor G. Lopez, Yan Wan, and F.L. Lewis, "Bayesian Graphical Games for Synchronization in Networks of Dynamical Systems," IEEE Transactions on Control of Network Systems, Vol. 7, No. 2, Pp. 1028-1039, June 2020, DOI 10.1109/TCNS.2019.2927201.

# **Cooperative Multi-agent Distributed Control**

- [116] Yi Jiang, Weinan Gao, Ci Chen, Tianyou Chai, and Frank L. Lewis, "Adaptive Optimal Control Of Linear Discrete-Time Networked Control Systems With Two-Channels Stochastic Dropouts," SIAM Journal on Control and Optimization, accepted, Aug 2022.
- [117] Shicheng Huo, Ya Zhang, Frank L. Lewis, Changyin Sun," Observer-Based Resilient Consensus Control for Heterogeneous Multi-Agent Systems Against Cyber-Attacks," IEEE Transactions on Control of Network Systems, accepted, Aug. 2022.
- [118] Gang Chen, Qing Yang, Yongduan Song, Frank L. Lewis, "Fixed-Time Projection Algorithm for Distributed Constrained Optimization on Time-varying Digraphs," IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control, vol. 67, no. 1 pp. 390-397, Jan. 2022. DOI 10.1109/TAC.2021.3056233.
- [119] Lian, Wenqian Xue, Frank L. Lewis, and Tianyou Chai, "Robust Inverse Q-learning for Continuous-time Linear Systems in Adversarial Environments," IEEE Transactions On Cybernetics, accepted, July 2021. DOI: 10.1109/TCYB.2021.3100749.
- [120] Bosen Lian, Wenqian Xue, F.L. Lewis, and Tianyou Chai, "Online Inverse Reinforcement Learning for Nonlinear Systems with Adversarial Attacks," Int. Journal of Robust Nonlinear Control, vol. 31, no. 14, pp. 6646-6667, 2021.
- [121] Bosen Lian, Frank L. Lewis, Gary Hewer, Katia Estabridis and Tianyou Chai, "Robustness Analysis of Distributed Kalman Filter for Estimation in Sensor Networks," IEEE Trans. Cybernetics, accepted, May 2021. DOI:10.1109/TCYB.
- [122] Bosen Lian, Yan Wan, Ya Zhang, Mushuang Liu, Frank L Lewis, Tianyou Chai, "Distributed Kalman Consensus Filter for Estimation with Moving Targets," IEEE Transactions On Cybernetics, vol. 52, no. 6, pp. 5242-5254, June 2022. DOI: 10.1109/TCYB.2020.3029007.
- [123] Ci Chen, F.L. Lewis, Kan Xie, Shengli Xie, and Yilu Liu, "Off-policy learning for adaptive optimal output synchronization of heterogeneous multi-agent systems," Automatica, to appear, 2021, doi 0.1016/j.automatica.2020.109081

- [124] Qiyu Yang, Patrik Kolaric, Ci Chen, Kan Xie, Frank L. Lewis, Shengli Xie, "Adaptive Distributed Synchronization of Multiple Vehicles With Actuator Nonlinearities: Design and Experimentation," IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics, to appear, July 2022.
- [125] Ci Chen, Kan Xie, Frank L. Lewis, Shengli Xie, Rafael Fierro, "Adaptive Synchronization of Multi-Agent Systems with Resilience to Communication Link Faults," Automatica, to appear, 2019. adaptive output containment
- [126] Chenyuan He, Yan Wan, and F.L. Lewis, "On the Identifiability of the Influence Model for Stochastic Spatiotemporal Spread Processes," IEEE Trans. Systems, Man, and Cybernetics, vol. 51, no. 6, pp. 3876-3888, June 2021. DOI 10.1109/TSMC.2019.2946856.
- [127] Shan Zuo, F.L. Lewis, Ali Davoudi, "Resilient Output Containment of Heterogeneous Cooperative and Adversarial Multi-Group Systems," IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control, vol. 66, no. 7, pp. 3104-3111, July 2020. DOI 10.1109/TAC.2019.2947620.
- [128] Qiyu Yang, Yi Lyu, Xiaolei Li, Ci Chen, Frank L. Lewis, "Adaptive distributed synchronization of heterogeneous multi-Agent systems over directed graphs with time-Varying edge weights," J. Franklin Inst., Vol. 358, pp. 2434-2452, 2021. DOI 10.1016/j.jfranklin.2021.01.018.
- [129] Ci Chen, Frank L. Lewis, Shengli Xie, Hamidreza Modares, Zhi Liu, Shan Zuo, Ali Davoudi, "Resilient Adaptive and H Infinity Controls of Multi-Agent Systems under Sensor and Actuator Faults," Automatica, to appear 2018.
- [130] Qiang Xiao, Frank L. Lewis, and Zhigang Zeng, "Containment Control for Multi-Agent Systems Under Two Intermittent Control Schemes," IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control, to appear 2019.
- [131] Maojiao Ye, Guanghui Wen, Shegyuan Xu, and F.L. Lewis, "Global Social Cost Minimization With Possibly Nonconvex Objective Functions: An Extremum Seeking-Based Approach," IEEE Transactions On Systems, Man, And Cybernetics: Systems, vol. 51, no. 12, pp. 7413-7422, Dec. 2021, DOI 10.1109/TSMC.2020.2968959.
- [132] Maojiao Ye, Guoqiang Hu, Frank L. Lewis, "Nash Equilibrium Seeking for *N*-coalition Noncooperative Games," Automatica, to appear 2019.
- [133] H. Modares, Bahare Kiumarsi, F.L. Lewis, F. Ferrese, and Ali Davoudi, "Resilient and Robust Synchronization of Multi-agent Systems Under Attacks on Sensors and Actuators," IEEE Transactions on Cybernetics, vol. 50, no. 3, pp. 1240-1250, Mar. 2020, DOI 10.1109/TCYB.2019.2903411.
- [134] Maojiao Ye, Guoqiang Hu, Member, IEEE, Frank L. Lewis, Fellow, IEEE, and Lihua Xie, "A Unified Strategy for Solution Seeking in Graphical N-coalition Noncooperative Games," IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control, vol. 64, no. 11, pp. 4645-4652, Nov. 2019, DOI 10.1109/TAC.2019.2901820.
- [135] Shan Zuo, F.L. Lewis, Yongduan Song, and Ali Davoudi, "Bipartite output synchronization of heterogeneous multi-agent systems on signed digraphs," Int. J. Robust and Nonlinear Control, vol. 28, no. 13, pp. 4017-4031, 2018.
- [136] Guozeng Cui, Shengyuan Xu, Xinkai Chen, F.L. Lewis, and Baoyong Zhang, "Distributed containment control for nonlinear multiagent systems in pure-feedback form," Int J Robust Nonlinear Control., to appear 2019.
- [137] Farnaz Adib Yaghmaie, Kristian Hengster Movric, Frank L. Lewis, Rong Su, "Differential Graphical Games for H-infinity Control of Linear Heterogeneous Multi-agent Systems," International Journal Of Robust And Nonlinear Control, to appear 2019.
- [138] Farnaz Adib Yaghmaie, Kristian Hengster-Movric, F.L. Lewis, Rong Su, and Michael Sebek, "H-infinity Output Regulation of Linear Heterogeneous Multi-agent Systems over Switching Graphs," Int. J. Robust and Nonlinear Control, to appear 2019.
- [139] Kairui Chen, Junwei Wang, Xianxian Zeng, Yun Zhang, and F.L. Lewis, "Cluster output regulation of heterogeneous multi-agent systems," Int. Journal of Control, vol. 93, no. 12, pp. 2973-2981, 2020, DOI 10.1080/00207179.2019.1570343.
- [140] Shan Zuo, Y.D. Song, F.L. Lewis, and A. Davoudi, "Bipartite output containment of general linear heterogeneous multi-agent systems on signed digraphs," IET Control Theory and Applications, vol. 12, no. 9, pp. 1180-1188, 2018.
- [141] Shan Zuo, Y.D. Song, F.L. Lewis, and A. Davoudi, "Adaptive output containment control of heterogeneous multi-agent systems with unknown leaders," Automatica, vol. 92, pp. 235-239, 2018.

- [142] Shan Zuo, Y.D. Song, F.L. Lewis, and A. Davoudi, "Output Containment Control of Linear Heterogeneous Multi-Agent Systems Using Internal Model Principle," IEEE Trans. Cybernetics, to appear.
- [143] Hashim Hashim, Sami El-Ferik, and F.L. Lewis, "Neuro-adaptive cooperative tracking control with prescribed performance of unknown higher-order nonlinear multi-agent systems," Int. Journal of Control, to appear.
- [144] H. Modares, S.P. Nageshrao, G. Lopes, R. Babuska, and F.L. Lewis, "Optimal Model-free Output Synchronization of Heterogeneous Systems Using Off-policy Reinforcement Learning," Automatica, to appear.
- [145] Dawei Gong,, Frank L. Lewis, Liping Wang, Dong Dai and Shuang Zhang, "Pinning synchronization for complex networks with interval coupling delay by variable subintervals method and Finsler's lemma," Complexity, to appear.
- [146] Qiang Jiao, Hongwei Zhang, Shengyuan Xu, F.L. Lewis, and Lihua Xie, "Bipartite Tracking of Homogeneous and Heterogeneous Linear Multi-agent Systems," International Journal of Control 2018, DOI: 10.1080/00207179.2018.1467044
- [147] Shan Zuo, Y.D. Song, F.L. Lewis, and A. Davoudi,, "Time-Varying Output Formation-Containment of General Linear Homogeneous and Heterogeneous Multi-Agent Systems," IEEE Transactions on Control of Network Systems, vol. 6, no. 2, pp. 537-548, June 2019.
- [148] Kan Xie, Ci Chen, Frank L. Lewis, and Shengli Xie, "Adaptive Compensation for Nonlinear Time-varying Multi-Agent Systems with Actuator Failures and Unknown Control Directions," IEEE Transactions on Cybernetics, vol. 49, no. 5, pp. 1780-1790, May 2019.
- [149] Ci Chen, Kan Xie, Frank L. Lewis, Shengli Xie, and Ali Davoudi, "Fully Distributed Resilience for Adaptive Exponential Synchronization of Heterogenous Multi-Agent Systems Against Actuator Faults," IEEE Trans. Automatic Control, vol. 64, no. 8, pp. 3347-3354, Aug. 2019.
- [150] Xuxi Zhang and F.L. Lewis, "Cooperative output regulation of heterogeneous multi-agent systems based on passivity," International Journal of Systems Science, vol. 49, no. 16, pp. 3418-3430, 2018.
- [151] Qiang Xiao, F.L. Lewis, and Zhigang Zeng, "Event-Based Time-Interval Pinning Control for Complex Networks on Time Scales and Applications," IEEE Transactions On Industrial Electronics, Vol. 65, No. 11, November 2018.
- [152] Patrik Kolaric, Ci Chen, Ankur Dalal, and F.L. Lewis," Consensus controller for multi-UAV navigation," Control Theory and Technology, vol. 16, no. 2, pp. 110-121, May 2018.
- [153] Kairui Chen, Junwei Wang, Yun Zhang, and F.L. Lewis, "Cluster consensus of heterogeneous linear multiagent systems," IET Control Theory and Applications, vol. 12, no. 11, pp. 1533-1542, 2018.
- [154] Shan Zuo, Y.D. Song, F.L. Lewis, and A. Davoudi, "Adaptive output formation tracking of heterogeneous multi-agent systems using time-varying L2-gain design," IEEE Control Systems Letters, vol. 2, no. 2, pp. 236-241, April 2018.
- [155] Weinan Gao, Zhong-Ping Jiang, F.L. Lewis, and Yebin Wang, "Leader-to-formation stability of multi-agent systems: an adaptive optimal control approach," IEEE Trans. Automatic Control, vol. 63, no. 10, pp. 3581-3587. Oct. 2018.
- [156] Hamidreza Modares, Frank L. Lewis, Wei Kang, Ali Davoudi, "Optimal Synchronization of Heterogeneous Nonlinear Systems with Unknown Dynamics", IEEE Trans. Automatic Control, vol. 63, no. 1, pp. 117-131, Jan. 2018.
- [157] Shan Zuo, Y.D. Song, F.L. Lewis, and A. Davoudi, "Optimal Robust Output Containment of Unknown Heterogeneous Multiagent System Using Off-policy Reinforcement Learning," IEEE Trans. Cybernetics, vol. 48, no. 11, pp. 3197-3207, Nov. 2018.
- [158] Sami El-Ferik, H. A. Hashim, and F.L. Lewis, "Neuro-Adaptive Distributed Control With Prescribed Performance for the Synchronization of Unknown Nonlinear Networked Systems," IEEE Transactions On Systems, Man, And Cybernetics: Systems, vol. 48, no. 12, pp. 2135-2144, Dec. 2018.
- [159] Bahare Kiumarsi, Frank L. Lewis, "Output Synchronization of Heterogeneous Discrete-time Systems: A Model-free Optimal Approach," Automatica, vol. 84, pp. 86-94, 2017.
- [160] Farnaz Adib Yaghmaie, Rong Su, F.L. Lewis, and Lihua Xie, "Multi-party Consensus of Linear Heterogeneous Multi-agent Systems, IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control, to appear.

- [161] Shan Zuo, Yongduan Song, Hamidreza Modares, Frank L. Lewis, and Ali Davoudi, "A unified approach to output synchronization of heterogeneous linear multi-agent systems via L2-gain design", Journal of Control Theory and Technology, vol. 15, no. 4, pp. 340-353, Nov. 2017.
- [162] Gang Chen, Y.D. Song, and F.L. Lewis, "Distributed Fault-Tolerant Control of Networked Uncertain Euler-Lagrange Systems Under Actuator Faults," IEEE Trans. Cybernetics, vol. 47, no. 7, pp. 1706-1718, July 2017.
- [163] Farnaz Adib Yaghmaie, Rong Su, F.L. Lewis, and Sorin Olaru, "Bipartite and Cooperative Output Synchronizations of Linear Heterogeneous Agents: A Unified Framework," Automatica, vol. 80, pp. 172-176, 2017.
- [164] Junwei Wang, Kairui Chen, F.L. Lewis, "Coordination of multi-agent systems on interacting physical and communication topologies" Systems & Control Letters, vol. 100, pp. 56-65, 2017.
- [165] Honghai Ji, F.L. Lewis, Zhongsheng Hou, Dariusz Mikulski, "Distributed Information-weighted Kalman Consensus Filter for Sensor Networks," Automatica, vol. 77, pp. 18-30, 2017.
- [166] Jinna Li, H. Modares, Tianyou Chai, F.L. Lewis, and Lihua Xie, "Off-policy reinforcement learning for synchronization in multi-agent graphical games" IEEE Transactions on Neural Networks and Learning Systems, vol. 28, no. 10, pp. 2434-2445, Oct. 2017.
- [167] He Cai, F.L. Lewis, Guoqiang Hu, Jie Huang, "The Adaptive Distributed Observer Approach to the Cooperative Output Regulation of Linear Multi-agent Systems," Automatica, to appear.
- [168] Qian Ma, Shengyuan Xu, F.L. Lewis, Baoyong Zhang, and Yun Zou, "Cooperative Output Regulation of Singular Heterogeneous Multiagent Systems," IEEE Trans. Cybernetics, vol. 46, no. 6, pp. 1471-1475, June, 2016.
- [169] Qiang Jiao, Hamidreza Modares, Frank L. Lewis, Shengyuan Xu, and Lihua Xie, "Distributed L2-gain Output-Feedback Control of Homogeneous and Heterogeneous Systems," Automatica, vol. 71, pp. 361-368, 2016.
- [170] Qiang Jiao, Hamidreza Modares, Shengyuan Xu, Frank L. Lewis, and K. G. Vamvoudakis, "Multi-Agent Zero-Sum Differential Graphical Games for Disturbance Rejection in Distributed Control," Automatica, Vol. 69, pp. 24-34, July, 2016.
- [171] F.L. Lewis, Bing Cui, Tiedong Ma, Y.D. Song, C.H. Zhao. "Heterogeneous multi-Agent systems: reducedorder synchronization and geometry," IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control, vol 61, no. 5, pp. 1391-1396, 2016.
- [172] Farnaz A. Yaghmaie, F.L. Lewis, and Rong Su, "Output Regulation of Linear Heterogeneous Multi-Agent Systems via Output and State Feedback," Automatica, vol. 67, pp. 157-164, 2016.
- [173] Farnaz A. Yaghmaie, F.L. Lewis, and Rong Su, "Output Regulation of Heterogeneous Linear Multi-Agent Systems with Differential Graphical Game," Int. J. Robust and Nonlinear Control, vol. 26, pp. 2256-2278, 2016.
- [174] Tiedong Ma, F.L. Lewis, and Y.D. Song, "Exponential Synchronization of Nonlinear Multi-Agent Systems with Time Delays and Impulsive Disturbances," International Journal of Robust and Nonlinear Control, vol 26, no. 8, pp. 1615-1631, 2016.
- [175] Sami El-Ferik, Aminuddin Qureshi and F.L. Lewis, "Robust neuro-adaptive cooperative control of multiagent port-controlled Hamiltonian systems," Int. J. Adapt. Control Signal Process, vol. 30, pp.488-510, 2016.
- [176] Bing Cui, Tiedong Ma, F.L. Lewis, Y.D. Song, C.H. Zhao, C. Feng. "Distributed adaptive consensus control of heterogeneous multi-agent chaotic systems with unknown time delays," IET Control Theory & Applications, vol 9, no. 16, pp. 2414-2422, 2015.
- [177] Qinglai Wei; Derong Liu; F.L. Lewis, "Optimal Distributed Synchronization Control for Continuous-Time Heterogeneous Multi-Agent Differential Graphical Games," Information Sciences, vol. 317, pp. 96-113, 2015.

- [178] K. Hengster-Movric, F.L. Lewis, M. Sebek, and T. Vyhlidal, "Cooperative synchronization control for agents with control delays: a synchronizing region approach," J. Franklin Inst., vol. 352. pp. 2002–2028, 2015.
- [179] S. El Ferik, B. Siddiqui, and F.L. Lewis, "Distributed Nonlinear MPC of Multi-Agent Systems with Data Compression and Random Delays," IEEE Trans. Automatic Control, vol. 61, no. 3, pp. 817-822, June 2015.
- [180] M. Aurangzeb, F.L., Lewis, and M. Huber, "Efficient, Swarm-Based Path Finding in Unknown Graphs Using Reinforcement Learning," J. Control and Intelligent Systems, Vol. 42, No. 3, pp. 238-246, 2014.
- [181] D. Di Paola, A. Gasparri, D. Naso, and F.L. Lewis, "Decentralized dynamic task planning for heterogeneous robotic networks," Autonomous Robots, 2014.
- [182] K. Hengster-Movric, F.L. Lewis, and M. Sebek, "Distributed Static Output-feedback Control for State Synchronization in Networks of Identical LTI Systems, Automatica, vol. 53, pp. 282-290, 2015.
- [183] Hongwei Zhang, Zhongkui Li, Zhihua Qu, and F.L. Lewis, "On constructing Lyapunov functions for multiagent systems," Automatica, v. 58, pp. 39-42, 2015.
- [184] Qian Ma, F.L. Lewis, and Shengyuan Xu, "Cooperative containment of discrete-time linear multi-agent systems," Int. J. Robust and Nonlinear Control, vol. 25, pp. 1007-1018, 2015.
- [185] Yujuan Wang, Y.D. Song, and F.L. Lewis, "Robust adaptive fault-tolerant control of multi-agent systems with uncertain nonidentical dynamics and undetectable actuation failures," IEEE Trans. Industrial Electronics, vol. 62, no. 6, pp. 3978-3988, June 2015.
- [186] M. Abouheaf, F.L. Lewis, M.S. Mahmoud, and D.G. Mikulski, "Discrete-time dynamic graphical games: model-free reinforcement learning solution," Control Theory and Technology, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 55-69, Feb. 2015.

Best Paper Award, J. Control Theory and Technology, 2017

- [187] T. Haus, I. Palunko, D. Tolic, S. Bogdan, and F.L. Lewis, and D. Mikulski, "Trust-based self-organizing network control." IET Control Theory & Applications, vol. 8, no. 18, pp. 2126-2135, 2014.
- [188] Z. Li, Z. Duan, and F.L. Lewis," Distributed robust consensus control of multi-agent systems using heterogeneous matching uncertainties," Automatica, vol. 50, pp. 883-889, 2014.
- [189] S. El-Ferik, A. Qureshi, and F.L. Lewis, "Neuro-Adaptive Cooperative Tracking Control of Unknown Higher-Order Affine Nonlinear Systems," Automatica, vol 50, no. 3, pp. 798-808, 2014.
- [190] M. Aurangzeb and F.L. Lewis, "Internal Structure of Coalitions in Competitive and Altruistic Graphical Coalitional Games," Automatica, vol. 50 no. 2, pp. 335-348, 2014.
- [191] M. Abouheaf, K. Vamvoudakis, F.L. Lewis, S. Haesaert, and R. Babuska, "Multi-Agent Discrete-Time Graphical Games and Reinforcement Learning Solutions," Automatica, Vol. 50, no. 12, pp. 3038-3053, 2014.
- [192] Qian Ma, Shengyuan Xu, and F.L. Lewis, "Second-order consensus for directed multi-agent systems with sampled data," Int. J. Robust and Nonlinear Control, vol. 24, pp. 2560-2573, 2014.
- [193] Y. Feng, S. Xu, F.L. Lewis, and B. Zhang, "Consensus of heterogeneous multi-agent systems with directed communication topologies," Inj. J. Robust and Nonlinear Control, to appear 2014.
- [194] Z. Qu, C. Li, and F. Lewis, "Cooperative control with distributed gain adaptation and connectivity estimation for directed networks," Int. J. Robust and Nonlinear Control, 2014, to appear.
- [195] K. Hengster-Movric and F.L. Lewis, "Cooperative Optimal Control for Multi-agent Systems on Directed Graph Topologies", IEEE Trans. Automatic Control, vol. 59, no. 3, pp. 769-774, Mar. 2014.
- [196] D.G. Mikulski, F.L. Lewis, E.Y. Gu, and G.R. Hudas, "Trust-based coalition formation in multi-agent systems," J. Defense Modeling and Simulation, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 19-31, Jan. 2014.
- [197] K. Hengster-Movric and F.L. Lewis, "Cooperative Observers and Regulators for Discrete-time Multi-Agent Systems," Int. J. Robust and Nonlinear Control, vol. 23, Issue 14, pp 1545–1562, 25 Sept. 2013.
- [198] K. Hengster-Movric, Keyou You, F.L. Lewis, and Lihua Xie, "Synchronization of Discrete-Time Multiagent Systems on Graphs Using Riccati Design," Automatica, vol. 49, no. 2, pp. 414-423, Feb. 2013.

[199] K.G. Vamvoudakis, F.L. Lewis, and G.R. Hudas, "Multi-Agent Differential Graphical Games: online adaptive learning solution for synchronization with optimality," Automatica, vol. 48, no. 8, pp. 1598-1611, Aug. 2012.

Listed by Science Direct as the 5<sup>th</sup> most read Automatica article of July-Sept 2012.

- [200] Hongwei Zhang, F.L. Lewis, and Z. Qu, "Lyapunov, Adaptive, and Optimal Design Techniques for Cooperative Systems on Directed Communication Graphs," IEEE Trans. Industrial Electronics, vol. 59, no. 7, pp. 3026-3041, July 2012.
- [201] Gang Chen and F.L. Lewis, "Distributed Tracking Control for Networked Mechanical Systems," Asian Journal of Control, vol. 14, no. 6, pp. 1459-1469, 2012.
- [202] Guoxiang Gu, L. Marinovici, and F.L. Lewis, "Consensusability of discrete-time dynamic multi-agent systems," IEEE Trans. Automatic Control, vol. 57, no. 8, pp. 2085-2089, Aug. 2012.
- [203] H. Xu, S. Jagannathan, and F.L. Lewis, "Stochastic Optimal Control of Unknown Linear Networked Control System in the Presence of Random Delays and Packet Losses," Automatica, vol. 48, pp. 1017-1030, 2012.

Second most downloaded Automatica article Jun-Aug 2012.

- [204] G. Hudas, K.G. Vamvoudakis, D. Mikulski, and F.L. Lewis, "Online Adaptive Learning for Team Strategies in Multi-Agent Systems," J. Defense Modeling and Simulation, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 59-69, Jan. 2012.
- [205] Hongwei Zhang and F.L. Lewis, "Adaptive cooperative tracking control of high-order nonlinear systems with unknown dynamics, Automatica, vol. 48, pp. 1432-1439, 2012.

Third most downloaded Automatica article Jun-Aug 2012.

- [206] Abhijit Das and F.L. Lewis, "Cooperative adaptive control for synchronization of second-order systems with unknown nonlinearities," Int. Journal of Robust and Nonlinear Control, vol. 21, no. 13, pp. 1509–1524, Sep. 2011.
- [207] Hongwei Zhang, F.L. Lewis, and Abhijit Das, "Optimal design for synchronization of cooperative systems: state feedback, observer and output feedback," IEEE Trans. Automatic Control, vol. 56, no. 8, pp. 1948-1952, August 2011.

This paper was in the top 50 Most Accessed papers in TAC, Nov. 2018.

[208] Shaui Liu, L. Xie, and F.L. Lewis, "Synchronization of multi-agent systems with delayed control input information from neighbors," Automatica, vol. 47, pp. 2152-2164, October 2011.

*This paper was listed by Science Direct as the 2<sup>nd</sup> most read Automatica article of July-Sept 2011.* 

- [209] Gang Chen, F.L. Lewis, and L. Xie, "Finite-time distributed consensus via binary control protocols," Automatica, vol. 47, pp. 1962-1968, 2011.
- [210] Gang Chen and F.L. Lewis, "Distributed adaptive tracking control for synchronization of unknown networked Lagrangian systems," IEEE Trans. Systems, Man and Cybernetics- Part B, vol. 41, no. 3, pp. 805-816, June 2011.
- [211] Gang Chen and F.L. Lewis, "Coordination of networked systems on digraphs with multiple leaders via pinning control," Int. J. Systems Science, vol. 43, no. 2, pp. 368-384, 2012.
- [212] Gang Chen and F.L. Lewis, "Cooperative controller design for synchronization of networked Lagrangian systems," J. Robust and Nonlinear Control, to appear, 2011.
- [213] Gang Chen and F.L. Lewis, "Leader-following control for multiple inertial agents," J. Robust and Nonlinear Control, vol. 21, pp. 925-942, 2011.
- [214] Gang Chen and F.L. Lewis, "Robust consensus of multiple inertial agents with coupling delays and variable topologies," Int. Journal of Robust and Nonlinear Control, vol. 21, pp. 666-685, 2011.
- [215] Abhijit Das and F.L. Lewis, "Distributed adaptive control for synchronization of unknown nonlinear networked systems," Automatica, vol. 46, pp. 2014-1021, 2010.

This paper was cited online by Elesevier.com/Automatica in March 2015 as the  $17^{th}$  most cited Automatic paper published since 2010.

#### Control of Microgrid and Electric Power Systems

- [216] Dewen Li, Liying Yu, Ning Li, and Frank Lewis, "Virtual-Action-Based Coordinated Reinforcement Learning for Distributed Economic Dispatch," IEEE Transactions on Power Systems, vol.36, no. 6, pp. 5143-5152, Nov. 2021, DOI 10.1109/TPWRS.2021.3070161.
- [217] Paolo R. Massenio, David Naso, Frank L. Lewis, and Ali Davoudi, "Data-driven Sparsity-promoting Optimal Control of Power Buffers in DC Microgrids," IEEE Transactions on Energy Conversion, vol. 36, no. 3, pp. 1919-1930, Sept. 2021, DOI 10.1109/TEC.2020.3043709.

Best Paper Award, Second place, IEEE Transactions on Energy Conversion, 2021.

- [218] Masoud Davari, Weinan Gao, Zhong-Ping Jiang, and Frank L. Lewis, "An Optimal Primary Frequency Control Based on Adaptive Dynamic Programming for Islanded Modernized Microgrids," IEEE Transactions On Automation Science And Engineering, Vol. 18, No. 3, pp. 1109-1121, July 2021, DOI 10.1109/TASE.2020.2996160.
- [219] Shan Zuo, O. A. Beg, F. L. Lewis and A. Davoudi, "Resilient Networked AC Microgrids Under Unbounded Cyber Attacks," IEEE Transactions on Smart Grid, Vol. 11, No. 5, Pp. 3785-3794, September 2020. DOI 10.1109/TSG.2020.2984266.
- [220] Shan Zuo, T. Altun, F. L. Lewis and A. Davoudi, "Distributed Resilient Secondary Control of DC Microgrids against Unbounded Attacks," IEEE Transactions on Smart Grid, Vol. 11, No. 5, Pp. 3850-3859, September 2020. doi: 10.1109/TSG.2020.2992118.
- [221] Paolo Roberto Massenio, David Naso, Frank L. Lewis, and Ali Davoudi, "Assistive Power Buffer Control via Adaptive Dynamic Programming," IEEE Trans. On Energy Conversion, Vol. 35, No. 3, Pp. 1534-1546, Sept. 2020. DOI 10.1109/TEC.2020.2983154.

Best Paper Award, IEEE Transactions on Energy Conversion, 2019-2020

- [222] S. Abhinav, H. Modares, F.L. Lewis, and Ali Davoudi, "Resilient cooperative control of DC microgrids," IEEE Trans. On Smart Grid, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 1083-1085, Jan 2019.
- [223] S. Abhinav, I. Schizas, F.L. Lewis, and A. Davoudi, "Distributed Noise-resilient Networked Synchrony of Active Distribution Systems," IEEE Trans. On Smart grid, vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 836-846, March 2018.
- [224] S. Abhinav, H. Modares, F.L. Lewis, F. Ferrese. And Ali Davoudi, "Synchrony in Networked Microgrids under Attacks," IEEE Transactions on Smart Grid, vol. 9, no. 6, pp. 6731-6741, Nov. 2018.
- [225] V. Nasirian, P. Yadav, F.L. Lewis, and A. Davoudi, "Distributed Assistive Control of Power Buffers in DC Microgrids," IEEE Transactions on Energy Conversion, vol. 32, no. 4, pp. 1396-1406, Dec. 2017.

Best Paper Award, IEEE Transactions on Energy Conversion, 2017-2018

- [226] Qinglai Wei, F.L. Lewis, Guang Shi, and Ruizhuo Song, "Error-tolerant iterative adaptive dynamic programming for optimal renewable home energy scheduling and battery management," IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics, vo. 64, no. 12, pp. 9527-9537, Dec. 2017.
- [227] Qinglai Wei, Derong Liu, F.L. Lewis, and Jie Zhang, "Mixed Iterative Adaptive Dynamic Programming for Optimal Battery Energy Control in Smart Residential Microgrids," IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics, vo. 64, no. 5, pp. 4110-4119, May 2017.
- [228] Shan Zuo, A. Davoudi, F.L. Lewis, and Y.D. Song, "Distributed Finite-time Voltage and Frequency Restoration in Islanded AC Microgrids," IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics, vol. 63, no. 10, pp. 5988-5997, Oct. 2016.
- [229] Ling-ling Fan, V. Nasirian, H. Modares, F.L. Lewis, Y.D. Song, and A. Davoudi, "Game-theoretic Control of Active Loads in DC Microgrids," IEEE Trans. Energy Conversion, vol. 31, no. 3, pp. 882-895, 2016.
- [230] Gang Chen, F.L. Lewis, N. Feng, and Y.D. Song, "Distributed optimal active power control of multiple generation systems," IEEE Trans. Industrial Electronics, vol. 62, no. 11, pp. 7079-7090, Nov. 2015.
- [231] He Cai, Guoqiang Hu, F.L. Lewis, and A. Davoudi, "A distributed feedforward approach to cooperative control of AC microgrids," IEEE Trans. Power Systems, vol. 31, no. 5, pp. 4057-4067, Sept. 2016.
- [232] V. Nasirian, Q. Shafiee, J.M. Guerrero, F.L. Lewis, and A. Davoudi, "Droop-free Distributed Control for AC Microgrids," IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics, vol. 31, no. 2, pp. 1600-1617, Feb. 2016.

- [233] G. Binetti, A. Davoudi, D. Naso, B. Turchiano, and F.L. Lewis, "Scalable Real-Time Electric Vehicles Charging with Discrete Charging Rates", IEEE Transactions on Smart Grid, vol. 6, no. 5, pp. 2211-2221, Sept. 2015.
- [234] V. Nasirian, S. Moayedi, A. Davoudi, and F. Lewis, "Distributed cooperative control of DC microgrids," *IEEE Trans. Power Electronics*, vol. 30, no. 4, pp. 2288-2303, April 2015.
- [235] S. Moayedi, V. Nasirian, F. L. Lewis, and A. Davoudi, "Team-oriented load sharing in parallel DC-DC converters," IEEE Trans. Ind. Appl., vol. 51, no. 1, pp. 479-490, Jan./Feb. 2015.
- [236] V. Nasirian, A. Davoudi, F.L. Lewis, and J. Guerrero, "Distributed Adaptive Droop Control for DC Distribution Systems," IEEE Transactions on Energy Conversion, vol. 29, no. 4, pp. 944-956, Dec. 2014.

Best Paper Award, IEEE Transactions on Energy Conversion, 2014-2015

Prize Paper Award, IEEE Power and Energy Society, 2016

- [237] A. Bidram, A. Davoudi, F.L. Lewis, and S.S. Ge, Distributed Adaptive Voltage Control of Inverter-Based Microgrids," *IEEE Transactions on Energy Conversion*, vol. 29, no. 4, pp. 862-872, Dec. 2014.
- [238] A. Bidram, F.L. Lewis, and A. Davoudi, "Distributed Control Systems for Small-scale Power Networks Using Multi-agent Cooperative Control Theory," IEEE Control Systems Magazine, Vol. 34, No. 6, pp. 56-77, December 2014 (*Featured cover article*).

#### This paper was listed as a top 50 CSM cited paper in June 2020.

- [239] A. Bidram, F.L. Lewis, and A. Davoudi, "Synchronization of Nonlinear and Heterogeneous Cooperative Systems Using Input-output Feedback Linearization," Automatica, vol. 50, pp. 2578-2585, Oct. 2014.
- [240] A. Bidram, A. Davoudi, F.L. Lewis, "A Multi-objective Distributed Control Framework for Islanded AC Microgrids," IEEE Trans. Industrial Informatics, vol. 10, pp. 1785-1798, Aug. 2014.
- [241] H. Behjati, A. Davoudi, and F.L. Lewis, "Modular DC-DC Converters on Graphs: Cooperative Control." IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics, vol. 29, no. 12, pp. 6725-6741, Dec. 2014.
- [242] G. Binetti, A. Davoudi, D. Naso, B. Turchiano, and F.L. Lewis, "Distributed Consensus-based Economic Dispatch with Transmission Losses," IEEE Transactions on Power Systems, vol. 29, no. 4, pp. 1711-1720, Jul. 2014.
- [243] G. Binetti, A. Davoudi, D. Naso, B. Turchiano, and F.L. Lewis, "A Distributed Auction-based Algorithm for the Nonconvex Economic Dispatch Problem," IEEE Trans. on Industrial Informatics, vol. 10, no. 2, pp. 1124-1132, May 2014.
- [244] M. Abouheaf, W.-J. Lee, and F.L. Lewis, "Dynamic Formulation and Approximation Methods to Solve Economic Dispatch Problems," IET Generation, Transmission & Distribution, Volume 8, Issue 8, pp 866-873, 2013.
- [245] A. Maknouninejad, Z. Qu, F. Lewis, and A. Davoudi, "Optimal, nonlinear, and distributed designs of droop controls for dc microgrids," *IEEE Trans. Smart Grids*, vol. 5, no. 5, pp. 2508-2516, Sept. 2014.
- [246] M. Abouheaf, S. Haesaert, W.-J. Lee, and F.L. Lewis, "Q-learning with eligibility traces to solve the nonconvex economic dispatch problems," Int. J. Electrical Science and Engineering, vol. 6, no. 7, pp. 1389-1396, 2014.
- [247] A. Bidram, A. Davoudi, F.L. Lewis, and Z. Qu, "Secondary control of microgrids based on distributed cooperative control of multi-agent systems," *IET Generation, Transmission and Distribution*, vol. 7, pp. 822-831, Aug. 2013.

This was the 3<sup>rd</sup> most downloaded article in this journal in August 2013

[248] A. Bidram, A. Davoudi, F.L. Lewis, and J. Guerrero, "Distributed cooperative secondary control of microgrids using feedback linearization," *IEEE Trans. Power Systems*, vol. 28, pp. 3462-3470, Aug. 2013.

#### Aircraft, Aerial Systems, UAV, Underwater Systems, and Helicopter Control

- [249] Hao Liu, Bahare Kiumarsi, Yusuf Kartal, Ahmet Taha Koru, Hamidreza Modares, Frank L. Lewis, "Reinforcement Learning Applications in Unmanned Vehicle Control: A Comprehensive Overview," Unmanned Systems, to appear, June 2022.
- [250] Yusuf Kartal, Kamesh Subbarao, Atilla Dogan, and Frank Lewis, "Optimal game theoretic solution of the pursuit-evasion intercept problem using on-policy reinforcement learning," J. Robust and Nonlinear Control, vol. 31, no. 16, pp. 7886–7903, July 2021. DOI: 10.1002/rnc.5719.
- [251] Wanbing Zhao, Hao Liu, F.L. Lewis, and Xinlong Wang, "Data-Driven Optimal Formation Control for Quadrotor Team With Unknown Dynamics," IEEE Transactions on Cybernetics, vol. 52, no. 8, pp. 7889-7898, 2022.
- [252] Wanbing Zhao, Hao Liu, and F.L. Lewis, "Robust Formation Control for Cooperative Underactuated Quadrotors via Reinforcement Learning," IEEE Transactions on Neural Networks and Learning Systems, vol. 32, no. 10, pp. 4577-4587, Oct. 2021. DOI 10.1109/TNNLS.2020.3023711
- [253] Wanbing Zhao, Hao Liu, and Frank L. Lewis, "Data-Driven Fault-Tolerant Control for Attitude Synchronization of Nonlinear Quadrotors," IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control, vol. 66, no. 11, pp. 5584-5591, Nov. 2021. DOI 10.1109/TAC.2021.3053194.
- [254] Hao Liu, Yu Tian, and Frank L. Lewis, "Robust Trajectory Tracking in Satellite Time-Varying Formation Flying," IEEE Transactions On Cybernetics, Vol. 51, No. 12, pp. 5752-5760, December 2021, DOI 10.1109/TCYB.2019.2960363.
- [255] Wanbing Zhao, Hao Liu, F.L. Lewis, K.P. Valavanis, and Xinlong Wang, "Robust Visual Servoing Control for Ground Target Tracking of Quadrotors," IEEE Transactions on Control Systems Technology, vol. 28, no. 5, pp. 1980-1987, Sept. 2020, DOI 10.1109/TCST.2019.2922159.
- [256] Hao Liu, Yu Tian, Frank L. Lewis, Yan Wan, Kimon Valavanis, "Robust Formation Flying Control for a Team of Satellites subject to Nonlinearities and Uncertainties," Aerospace Science and Technology, to appear 2020.
- [257] Hao Liu, Y. Lyu, F.L. Lewis and Yan Wan, "Robust Time-Varying Formation Control for Multiple Underwater Vehicles Subject to Nonlinearities And Uncertainties," International Journal of Robust and Nonlinear Control, To Appear 2019.
- [258] Hao Liu, Yanhu Wang, and Frank L. Lewis, "Robust Distributed Formation Controller Design for a Group of Unmanned Underwater Vehicles," IEEE Transactions on Systems, Man, and Cybernetics: Systems, vol. 51, no. 2, pp. 1215-1223, Feb. 2021. DOI 10.1109/TSMC.2019.2895499.
- [259] Hao Liu, Yu Tian, F.L Lewis, Yan Wan, K.P. Valavanis, "Robust Formation Tracking Control for Multiple Quadrotors under Aggressive Maneuvers, Automatica, to appear 2019.
- [260] Yusuf Kartal, Kamesh Subbarao, Nicholas R. Gans, Atilla Dogan, Frank Lewis, "Distributed backstepping based control of multiple UAV formation flight subject to time delays," IET Control Theory & Applications, vol. 14, no. 12, pp 1628-1638. 2019. doi: 10.1049/iet-cta.2019.1151.
- [261] Hao Liu, Teng Ma, Frank L. Lewis, Yan Wan, "Robust Formation Control for Multiple Quadrotors With Nonlinearities and Disturbances," IEEE Transactions on Cybernetics, vol. 50, no. 4. Pp. 1362-1371, Apr. 2020, DOI 10.1109/TCYB.2018.2875559
- [262] Hao Liu, Yanhu Wang, F.L. Lewis, and Kimon P. Valavanis, "Robust Formation Tracking Control for Multiple Quadrotors subject to Switching Topologies," IEEE Transactions on Control Of Network Systems, vol. 7, no. 3, pp. 1319-1329, Sept. 2020. DOI DOI 10.1109/TCNS.2020.2976271.
- [263] Hao Liu, Teng Ma, Frank L. Lewis, Yan Wan, "Robust Formation Trajectory Tracking Control for Multiple Quadrotors With communication delays," IEEE Trans. Control Systems Technol., vo. 28, no. 6, pp. 2633-2640, 2020. DOI 10.1109/TCST.2019.2942277.
- [264] Xiangzhu Zhang, Lijia Zhang, Frank L. Lewis, and Hailong Pei, "Non-Uniform Discretization-Based Ordinal Regression for Monocular Depth Estimation of an Indoor Drone," Electronics, vol. 9, 1767, 2020. DOI 10.3390/electronics9111767
- [265] Jian Li, Jialu Du, Guibing Zhu, Frank L. Lewis, "Simple adaptive trajectory tracking control of underactuated autonomous underwater vehicles under LOS range and angle constraints," IET Control Theory & Applications, Volume 14, Issue 2, p. 283-290, January 2020, DOI: 10.1049/iet-cta.2018.6356.

- [266] Hao Liu, Teng Ma, F.L. Lewis, and Kimon P. Valavanis, "Robust Time-varying Formation Control for a set of Quad-copters with Switching Interaction Communication Topology," IEEE Transactions On Vehicular Technology, VOL. 69, NO. 7, pp. 6880-6890, July 2020. DOI 10.1109/TVT.2020.2994949.
- [267] Mushuang Liu, Yan Wan, Songwei Li, F.L. Lewis, and Shengli Fu, "Learning and Uncertainty-Exploited Directional Antenna Control for Robust Long-Distance and Broad-Band Aerial Communication," IEEE Transactions On Vehicular Technology, VOL. 69, NO. 1, pp. 593-606, JANUARY 2020, DOI 10.1109/TVT.2019.2951721.
- [268] Yusuf Kartal, Patrik Kolaric, Victor Lopez, Atilla Dogan, and F.L. Lewis, "Backstepping approach for design of PID controller with guaranteed performance for micro-air UAV," Control Theory and Technology, vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 19-33, Feb. 2020.
- [269] Hao Liu, Fachun Peng, Frank L. Lewis, Yan Wan, "Robust Tracking Control for Tail-Sitters in Flight Mode Transitions," IEEE Transactions on Aerospace and Electronic Systems, pp. 2023-2035, vol. 55, no. 4, Aug. 2019. DOI. No. 10.1109/TAES.2018.2880888
- [270] Deyuan Liu, Hao Liu, Frank L. Lewis, and Yan Wan, "Robust Fault-Tolerant Formation Control for Tail-Sitters in Aggressive Flight Mode Transitions," IEEE Transactions on Industrial Informatics, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 299-308, Jan.2020. DOI 10.1109/TII.2019.2914478.
- [271] Deyuan Liu, Hao Liu, Frank L. Lewis, and Kimon Valavanis, "Robust Time-Varying Formation Control for Tail-Sitters in Flight Mode Transitions," IEEE Transactions on Systems, Man, and Cybernetics, vol. 51, no. 7, pp. 4102-4111, July 2021. DOI 10.1109/TSMC.2019.2931482.
- [272] Deyuan Liu, Hao Liu, and Frank L. Lewis, "Robust Trajectory Tracking Control for Unmanned Tail-Sitters in Aggressive Flight Mode Transitions," International Journal Of Robust And Nonlinear Control, to appear 2019.
- [273] Zun Liu, Honghai Ji, Hailong Pei & Frank L. Lewis, "A new information-weighted recursive algorithm for time-varying systems: application to UAV system identification, "International Journal of Systems Science, to appear 2019.
- [274] Chaitanya Rani, H. Modares, R. Sriram, Dariusz Mikulski, and F.L. Lewis, "Security of UAV Systems against Cyber-physical Attacks," J. Defense, Modeling, and Simulation, vol. 13, no. 3, pp. 331-342, 2015.
- [275] Abhijit Das, F.L. Lewis, and K. Subbarao, "Backstepping approach for controlling a quadrotor using Lagrangian form dynamics," J. Intelligent & Robotic Systems, vol. 56, no. 1-2, pp. 127-152, Sept. 2009.
- [276] J. Gadewadikar, F.L. Lewis, and K. Subbarao, K. Peng, B.M. Chen, "H-Infinity Static Output-Feedback Control for Rotorcraft", J. Intelligent and Robotic Systems, vol. 54, no. 4, pp. 629-646, 2009.
- [277] Abhijit Das, K. Subbarao, and F.L. Lewis, "Dynamic Inversion with Zero-Dynamics Stabilization for Quadrotor Control," IET Control Theory & Applications, vol. 3, no. 3, pp. 303-314, March 2009.
- [278] E. Stingu and F.L. Lewis, "A hardware platform for research in helicopter UAV control," J. Intelligent and Robotic Systems, vol. 54, pp. 387-406, Mar. 2009.
- [279] J. Gadewadikar; F.L. Lewis; K. Subbarao; B. M. Chen, "Structured H-Infinity Command and Control-Loop Design for Unmanned Helicopters," J. Guidance, Control, and Dynamics, vol.31, no.4, pp. 1093-1102, 2008.
- [280] J. Gadewadikar and F.L. Lewis, "Aircraft flight controller tracking design using H-infinity static output feedback," Trans. Inst. Measurement & Control, vol. 28, no. 5, pp. 429-440, 2006.
- [281] F.L. Lewis, F. AL-Sunni, and B.L. Stevens, "Digital tracker with output feedback: application to aircraft controls," Int. J. Systems Science, vol. 25, no. 12, pp. 2065-2077, 1994.
- [282] F. AL-Sunni and F.L. Lewis, "Gain scheduling simplification by simultaneous control design," J. of Guidance, Control, and Dynamics, vol. 16, no. 3, pp. 602-604, May-June 1993.
- [283] F.M. AL-Sunni, B.L. Stevens, and F.L. Lewis, "Negative state weighting in the linear quadratic regulator for aircraft control," J. of Guidance, Control, and Dynamics, vol. 15, no. 5, pp. 1279-1281, Sept.-Oct. 1992.

[284] B.L. Stevens, F.L. Lewis, and F. AL-Sunni, "Aircraft flight controls design using output feedback," J. of Guidance, Control, and Dynamics, vol. 15, no. 1, pp. 238-246, Jan.-Feb. 1992. Also appeared in GTRI Technical J., vol. 1. pp. 143-164, 1991.

# **Discrete Event Supervisory Control & Decision Systems**

- [285] C.K. Pang, G.R. Hudas, D.G. Mikulski, C.V. Le, and F.L. Lewis, "Command and control for large-scale hybrid warfare systems," Unmanned Systems, vol. 3, no. 1, Jan 2015.
- [286] C.K. Pang, G. Hudas, M. Middleton, C.V. Le, O.P. Gan, and F.L. Lewis, "Discrete Event Command and Control for Networked Teams with Multiple Military Missions" J. Defense Modeling and Simulation, to appear, 2011.
- [287] P. Ballal and F.L. Lewis, "Condition-based maintenance using dynamic decisions by Petri nets and Dempster Shafer theory: a matrix-based approach," Trans. Inst. Measurement and Control, vol. 31, no. 3/4, pp. 323-340, June/Aug. 2009.
- [288] V. Giordano, J.B. Zhang, D. Naso, and F.L. Lewis, "Integrated supervisory and operational control of a warehouse with a matrix-based approach," IEEE Trans. Automation Science & Engineering, vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 53-70, Jan. 2008.
- [289] J. Mireles, F.L. Lewis, and A. Gurel, "Deadlock avoidance for manufacturing multipart reentrant flow lines using a matrix-based discrete event controller," Int. J. Prod. Res., vol. 40, no. 13, pp. 3139-3166, 2002.
- [290] S. Bogdan, F.L. Lewis, Z. Kovacic, A. Gurel, and M. Stajdohar, "An implementation of the matrix-based supervisory controller of flexible manufacturing systems," IEEE Trans. Control Systems Technol., vol. 10, no. 5, pp. 709-716, Sept. 2002.
- [291] B. Harris, D. Cook, F.L. Lewis, "A matrix formulation for integrating assembly trees and manufacturing resource planning (MRP) with capacity constraints," J. Intelligent Manufacturing, vol. 13, no. 4, pp. 239-252. August 2002.
- [292] J. Mireles and F.L. Lewis, "Intelligent Material Handling: Development and implementation of a matrixbased discrete-event controller," IEEE Trans. Industrial Electronics, vol. 48, no. 6, pp. 1087-1097, Dec. 2001.
- [293] B. Harris, D. Cook, and F.L. Lewis, "Automatically generating plans for manufacturing," J. Intelligent Systems, vol. 10, no. 3, pp. 279-319, 2000.
- [294] F.L. Lewis, B.G. Horne, and C.T. Abdallah, "Computational complexity of determining resource loops in reentrant flow lines," IEEE Trans. Systems, Man, and Cybernetics, vol. 30, no. 2, pp. 222-229, 2000.
- [295] A. Gurel, S. Bogdan, and F.L. Lewis, "Matrix approach to deadlock-free dispatching in multi-class finite buffer flowlines," IEEE Trans. Automatic Control, vol. 45, no. 11, pp. 2086-2090, Nov. 2000.
- [296] F.L. Lewis, A. Gurel, S. Bogdan, A. Doganalp, O. Pastravanu, "Analysis of deadlock and circular waits using a matrix model for flexible manufacturing systems," Automatica, vol. 34, no. 9, pp. 1083-1100, 1998.
- [297] B. Harris, F.L. Lewis, and D.J. Cook, "Machine planning for manufacturing: dynamic resource allocation and on-line supervisory control," J. Intelligent Manufacturing, vol. 9, pp. 413-430, 1998.
- [298] D. Tacconi and F.L. Lewis, "A new matrix model for discrete event systems: application to simulation," IEEE Control Systems Magazine, pp. 62-71, Oct. 1997.
- [299] H. Huang, F.L. Lewis, O.C. Pastravanu, and A. Gurel, "Flowshop scheduling design in an FMS matrix framework," Control Engineering Practice, vol. 3, no. 4, pp. 561-568, 1995.

#### **Control of Industrial and Computer Processes**

[300] Jinliang Ding, H. Modares, Tianyou Chai, and F.L. Lewis, "Data-based Multi-objective Plant-wide Performance Optimization of Industrial Processes under Dynamic Environments," IEEE Trans. Industrial Informatics, vol.12, no. 2, pp. 454-465, April 2016.

- [301] Xinglong Lu, B. Kiumarsi, Tianyou Chai, and F.L. Lewis, "Data-driven Optimal Control of Operational Indices for a Class of Industrial Processes," IET Control Theory & Applications, vol. 10, no. 12, pp. 1348-1356, 2016.
- [302] Jinwen Hu, F.L. Lewis, O.P. Gan, G.H. Phua, and L.L. Aw, "Discrete Event Shop-Floor Monitoring System in RFID-Enabled Manufacturing," IEEE Trans. Industrial Electronics, vol. 61, no. 12, pp. 7083-7091, Dec. 2014.
- [303] R.H. Chi, D.W. Wang, F.L. Lewis, Z.S. Hou, and T. Jin, "Adaptive Terminal ILC for Iteration-varying Target Points," *Asian Journal of Control*, to appear, 2014.
- [304] Y.Y. Joe, O.P. Gan, and F.L. Lewis, "Multi-commodity flow dynamic resource assignment and matrixbased job dispatching for multi-relay transfer in complex material handling systems (MHS)," J. Intelligent manufacturing, vol. 25, pp. 681-697, 2014.
- [305] C.K. Pang, C.V. Le, O.P. Gan, X.M. Chee, M. Luo, C.H. Leng, F.L. Lewis, "Classification of Energy Consumption Patterns for Energy Audit and Machine Scheduling in Industrial Manufacturing Systems," Trans. Inst. Measurement & Control, vol. 35, no. 5, pp. 583-592, June 2013.
- [306] S. Liu, C. Du, J. Mou, L. Martua, J. Zhang, and F.L. Lewis, "Diagnosis of structural cracks using wavelet transform and neural networks," J. Nondestructive Testing and Evaluation, vol. 54, pp. 9-18, 2013.
- [307] C. Du, J. Mou, L. Martua, S. Liu, B. Chen, J. Zhang, and F.L. Lewis, "Structure Crack Identification Based on Surface-mounted Active Sensing Network With Time-domain Feature Extraction and Neural Network," Sensors & Transducers Journal, vol. 14-2, pp. 283-296, Feb. 2012.
- [308] C.K. Pang, S.T. Ng, F.L. Lewis, and T.H. Lee, "Managing complex mechatronics R&D: a systems design approach," IEEE Trans. Systems, Man, Cybernetics, Part A, vol. 42, no. 1, pp. 57-67, Jan. 2012.
- [309] J.H. Zhou, C.K. Pang, F.L. Lewis, and Z.W. Zhong, "Dominant Feature Identification for Industrial Fault Detection and Isolation Applications," Expert Systems With Applications, vol. 38, no. 8, pp. 10676-10684, Aug. 2011.
- [310] J.H. Zhou, C.K. Pang, Z.W. Zhong, and F.L. Lewis, "Tool Wear Monitoring Using Acoustic Emissions by Dominant-Feature Identification," IEEE Trans. Instrumentation and Measurement, vol. 60, no. 2, pp. 547-559, February 2011.
- [311] C.K. Pang, F.L. Lewis, B.M. Chen, and T.H. Lee, ""Modal parametric identification of flexible mechanical structures in mechatronic systems," Trans. Inst. Measurement and Control, vol. 32, no. 2, pp. 137-154, April 2010.
- [312] C.Y. Lai, F.L. Lewis, V. Venkataramanan, X.M. Ren, S.S. Ge, Y.F. Liew, "Disturbance and friction compensation in hard disk drives using neural networks," IEEE Trans Industrial Electronics, vol. 57, no. 2, pp. 784-792, Feb. 2010.
- [313] M. Luo, D.H. Zhang, L.L. Aw, F.L. Lewis<sup>,</sup> "Identification of precursory alarm sequence patterns for predicting equipment failures using ant colony-based algorithm," Int. J. of Condition Monitoring and Diagnostic Engineering Management, vol. 31, no. 2, pp. 34-45, April 2010.
- [314] J.H. Zhou, C.K. Pang, F.L. Lewis, Z.W. Zhong, "Intelligent diagnosis and prognosis of tool wear using dominant feature identification," IEEE Trans. Industrial Informatics, vol. 5, no. 4, pp. 454-463, Nov. 2009.
- [315] C.K. Thum, C. Du, F.L. Lewis, B.M. Chen, E.H. Ong, "H-infinity disturbance observer design for high precision track following in hard disk drives," IET Control Theory & Applications, vol. 3, no. 12, pp. 1591-1598, 2009.
- [316] C. Du, L. Xie, F.L. Lewis, and Y. Wang, "Multi-frequency disturbance rejection via blending control technique for hard disk drives," Automatica, vol. 45, no. 10, pp. 2244-2249, 2009.
- [317] C.K. Pang, S.C. Tam, G. Guo, B.M. Chen, F.L. Lewis, T.H. Lee, C. Du, "Improved disturbance rejection with online adaptive pole-zero compensation on a Phi-shaped PZT active suspension," Microsystems Technology, vol. 15, pp. 1499-1508, 2009.
- [318] X.M. Ren, F.L. Lewis, and J. Zhang, "Neural network compensation control for mechanical systems with disturbances," Automatica, vol. 45, pp. 1221-1226, 2009.

- [319] X.M. Ren, F.L. Lewis, J. Zhang, and S.S. Ge, "Feedforward control based on neural networks for hard disk drives," IEEE Trans. Magnetics, vol. 45, no. 7, pp. 3025-3030, 2009.
- [320] X.M. Ren, C.Y. Lai, V. Venkataramanan, F.L. Lewis, S.S. Ge, and T. Liew, "Feedforward Control Based on Neural Networks for Disturbance Rejection in Hard Disk Drives," IET Control Theory & Applications, vol. 3, no. 4, pp. 411-418, 2009.
- [321] G. Herrmann, F.L. Lewis, S.S. Ge, and J. Zhang, "Discrete adaptive neural network disturbance feedforward compensation for nonlinear disturbances in servo-control applications," Int. J. Control, vol. 82, no. 4, pp. 721-740, 2009.
- [322] C. Du, S. S. Ge, and F. L. Lewis, "*H*∞ compensation of external vibration impact on servo performance of hard disk drives in mobile applications," *Int. J. Adapt. Control Signal Process.* vol. 22, pp. 374–387, 2008
- [323] C.K. Pang, F.L. Lewis, S.S. Ge, G. Guo, B.M. Chen, and T.H. Lee, "Singular Perturbation Control for Vibration Rejection in HDDs using the PZT Active Suspension as Fast Subsystem Observer" IEEE Trans. Industrial Electronics, vol. 54, no. 3, pp. 1375-1386, June 2007.
- [324] K. Liu and F.L. Lewis, "Nonlinear feedback control of a nuclear reactor system", Comp. and Appl. Math II: Diff. Equations, W.F. Ames and P.J. van der Houwen ed., 1996.

#### **Robotics and Human-Robot Interaction**

Note: For additional papers on robot control see 'Mobile Robots', 'Neural Networks', 'Fuzzy Logic', 'Stewart Platform', and 'Flexible and Vibratory Systems'.

- [325] Sven Cremer, S.K. Das, I.B. Wijayasinghe, D.O. Popa, and F.L. Lewis, "Model-Free Online Neuroadaptive Controller With Intent Estimation for Physical Human–Robot Interaction," IEEE Transactions On Robotics, VOL. 36, NO. 1, pp. 240-253, Feb. 2020, DOI 10.1109/TRO.2019.2946721.
- [326] B. AlQaudi, H. Modares, I. Ranatunga, S.M. Tousif, F.L. Lewis, and D.O. Popa, "Model reference adaptive impedance control for physical human robot interaction," Control Theory and Technology, vol. 14, no. 1, pp. 1-15, Feb. 2016.
- [327] I. Ranatunga, F.L. Lewis, D.O. Popa, and S.M. Tousif, "Adaptive Admittance Control for Human-Robot Interaction Using Model Reference Design and Adaptive Inverse Filtering" IEEE Transactions on Control Systems Technology, vol. 25, no. 1, pp. 278-285, Jan. 2017.
- [328] H. Modares, I. Ranatunga, F.L. Lewis, and D.O. Popa, "Optimized Assistive Human-robot Interaction using Reinforcement Learning," IEEE Transactions on Cybernetics, vol. 46, no. 3, pp. 655-667, 2016.
- [329] Q. Shi, Z.X. Li, and F.L. Lewis, "The centralized formulation for complete dynamic modeling of robots," J. Robotics Systems, vol. 17, no. 2, pp. 119-126, 2000.
- [330] D.M. Dawson, Z. Qu, F.L. Lewis, "Hybrid adaptive-robust control for a robot manipulator," Int. J. Adaptive Control and Signal Proc., vol. 6, pp. 537-545, 1992.
- [331] D.M. Dawson, F.L. Lewis, and J.F. Dorsey, "A nominal adaptive control for a robot manipulator," Journal of Robotic Systems, vol. 7, no. 6, pp. 865-879, 1992.
- [332] D.M. Dawson, F.L. Lewis, and J.F. Dorsey, "Robust force control of a robot manipulator, Int. J. Robotics Res., vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 312-319, Aug. 1992.
- [333] D. M. Dawson, M. Grabbe, and F. L. Lewis, "Optimal control of a modified computed-torque controller for a robot manipulator," Int. J. Robotics and Automation, vol. 6, no. 3, pp. 161-165, 1991.
- [334] D.M. Dawson and F.L. Lewis, "Comments on 'On adaptive inverse dynamics control of rigid robots'," IEEE Trans. Automat. Control, vol. 36, no. 10, pp. 1215-1216 (note), Oct. 1991.
- [335] D.M. Dawson, Z. Qu, J.F. Dorsey, and F.L. Lewis, "On the learning control of a robot manipulator," J. Intelligent and Robotic Systems, vol. 4, pp. 43-53, 1991.
- [336] G.N. Maliotis, D.M. Dawson, and F.L. Lewis, "Some Remarks on the convergence analysis of adaptive controllers for robot manipulators," Int. J. Adaptive Control and Signal Proc., vol. 4, pp. 523-542, 1990.
- [337] D. Dawson, Z. Qu, F.L. Lewis, and J.F. Dorsey, "Robust control for the tracking of robot motion," Int. J. Control, vol. 52, no. 3, pp. 581-595, 1990.

#### Sensor Networks & Real-Time/Internet-Based Control

- [338] A. Ramani, C. McMurrough, M. Middleton, P. Ballal, A. Athamneh, W. Lee, C. Kwan and F. Lewis, "A Two-Stage Neural Network Classifier for Condition-based Maintenance in Wireless Sensor Networks," Int. J. of Condition Monitoring and Diagnostic Engineering Management, vol. 13, no. 2, pp. 17-26, April 2010.
- [339] P. Ballal and F.L. Lewis, "Deadlock free dynamic resource assignment in multi-robot systems with multiple missions: Application in Wireless Sensor Networks", J. Control Theory and Applications, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 12-19, 2010.
- [340] J. Lin, W. Xiao, F.L. Lewis, and L. Xie, "Energy Efficient Distributed Adaptive Multi-Sensor Scheduling for Target Tracking in Wireless Sensor Networks," IEEE Trans. Instrumentation and Measurement, vol. 58, no. 6, pp. 1886-1896, June 2009.
- [341] M.F. Mysorewala, D.O. Popa, and F.L. Lewis, "Multi-scale adaptive sampling with mobile agents for mapping of forest fires," J. Intelligent & Robotic Systems, vol. 54, pp. 535-565, 2009.
- [342] J. Gadewadikar, O. Kuljaca, F.L. Lewis, "On Design, Measurement Tools and Robust Control of Wireless Telecommunication Networks," AUTOMATIKA: Journal for Control, Measurement, Electronics, Computing and Communications, vol. 50 no.1-2, pp. 93-99, April 2009.
- [343] P. Dang, F.L. Lewis, K. Subbarao, and H. Stephanou, "Optimal Placement of Microactuators for Distributed Control Using Neural Networks," Int. J. Factory Automation, Robotics, and Soft Computing," vol. 1, pp. 27-34, Jan. 2008.
- [344] P. Ballal, A. Trivedi, and F.L. Lewis, "Deadlock avoidance policy in mobile wireless sensor networks with free choice resource routing," Int. J. Advanced Robotic Systems, vol. 5, no. 3, pp. 279-290, 2008.
- [345] P. Dang, F.L. Lewis, and P. Ballal, "Real time relative dynamic localization of air-ground wireless sensor networks," J. Intelligent and Robotic Systems, vol. 51, no. 2, pp. 235-257, 2008.
- [346] D.O. Popa, M.F. Mysorewala, and F.L. Lewis, "Deployment algorithms and indoor experimental vehicles for studying mobile wireless sensor networks," Int. J. Sensor Networks, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 28-43, Aug. 2009.
- [347] A.N. Das, D.O. Popa, P. Ballal, and F.L. Lewis, "Data-logging and supervisory control in wireless sensor networks," Int. J. Sensor Networks, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 13-27, 2009.
- [348] K. Sreenath, F.L. Lewis, and D. Popa, "Simultaneous Adaptive Localization of a Wireless Sensor Network," ACM SIGMOBILE Mobile Computing and Communications Review, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 14-28, April 2007.
- [349] K. Sreenath, V. Giordano, and F.L. Lewis, "Avoiding shared resource conflicts in mobile sensor networks with multiple missions," IET Control Theory Applications, vol. 1, no. 3, pp. 665-674, May 2007.
- [350] A. Tiwari, P. Ballal, and F.L. Lewis, "Energy-Efficient Wireless Sensor Network Design & Implementation for Condition Based Maintenance," ACM Trans. on Sensor Networks, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 1-23, March 2007.
- [351] V. Giordano, P.Ballal, F.L. Lewis, B. Turchiano, J.B. Zhang, "Supervisory control of mobile sensor networks: matrix formulation, simulation and implementation," IEEE Trans. Systems, Man, Cybernetics-Part B, vol. 36, no. 4, pp. 806-819, Aug. 2006.
- [352] N. Swamy, O. Kuljaca, and F.L. Lewis, "Internet-based educational control systems lab using NetMeeting," IEEE Trans. Education, vol. 45, no. 2, pp. 145-151, May 2002.

#### **MEMS Microelectromechanical Systems**

- [353] B. Borovic, A. Q. Liu, D. Popa, H. Cai, and F. L. Lewis, "Light-Intensity-Feedback Waveform Generator Based on MEMS Variable Optical Attenuator," IEEE Trans. Industrial Electronics, vol. 55, no. 1, pp. 417-426, Jan. 2008.
- [354] B. Borovic, F.L. Lewis, A.Q. Liu, E.S. Kolesar, and D. Popa, "Lateral instability problem in electrostatic comb drive actuators: modeling and feedback control," Journal of Micromechanics & Microengineering, vol 16, pp. 1233-1241, 2006.
- [355] B. Borovic, F.L. Lewis, D. Agonafer, E.S. Kolesar, M.M. Hossain, and D.O. Popa, "Method for determining a dynamical state-space model for control of thermal MEMS devices," J. Microelectromechanical Systems, vol. 14, no. 5, pp. 961-970, Oct. 2005.

[356] Q. Cao, Z. Fu, N. Xia, and F. Lewis, "A binocular machine vision system for ball grid array package inspection," Assembly Automation, vol. 25, no. 3, pp. 217-222, 2005.

This paper won the Emerald Highly Commended Award. Dr. Lewis assisted with the editing of the paper.

[357] B. Borovic, A.Q. Liu, D. Popa, C. Hong, and F.L. Lewis, "Open-loop vs. closed-loop control of MEMS devices: choices and issues," Journal of Micromechanics & Microengineering, vol. 15, no. 10, pp. 1917-1924, Oct. 2005.

## System Theory

- [358] C.M. Kwan and F.L. Lewis, "A note on Kalman Filtering," IEEE Trans. Education, vol. 42, no. 3, pp. 225-228, Aug. 1999.
- [359] F.M. AL-Sunni and F.L. Lewis, "Simultaneous output-feedback stabilization for continuous systems," Kybernetika, vol. 34, no. 2, pp. 199-202, 1998.
- [360] F. AL-Sunni and F.L. Lewis, "Optimal output tracker using a time-weighted performance index," Optimal Control Applications and Methods, vol. 19, pp. 55-62, 1998.
- [361] V.L. Syrmos and F.L. Lewis, "Coupled and constrained Sylvester equations in system design," Circuits, Systems, and Signal Proc., vol. 13, no. 6, pp. 663-694, 1994.
- [362] V.L. Syrmos and F.L. Lewis, "A bilinear formulation for the output feedback problem in linear systems," IEEE Trans. Automat. Control, vol. 39, no. 2, pp. 410-414, Feb. 1994.
- [363] V.L. Syrmos and F.L. Lewis, "Output feedback eigenstructure assignment using two Sylvester equations," IEEE Trans. Automat. Control, vol. 38, no. 3, pp. 495-499, Mar. 1993.
- [364] F.L. Lewis and V.L. Syrmos, "A geometric theory for derivative feedback," IEEE Trans. Automat. Control, vol. 36, no. 9, pp. 1111-1116, Sept. 1991.
- [365] E.I. Verriest and F.L. Lewis, "On the linear quadratic minimum-time problem," IEEE Trans. Automat. Control, vol. 36, no. 7, pp. 859-863, July 1991.
- [366] F.L. Lewis, "Generalized output nulling subspaces: Riccati equation computation and applications," IEEE Trans. Automat. Control, vol. AC-27, no. 6, pp. 1182-1188, December 1982.
- [367] F.L. Lewis, "A two-pass method of mid-band AC analysis for multistage transistor amplifiers," IEEE Trans. Education, vol. E-25, no. 2, pp. 71-74, May 1982.
- [368] F.L. Lewis, "A general Riccati equation solution to the deadbeat control problem," IEEE Trans. Automat. Control, vol. AC-27, no. 1, pp. 186-188, February 1982.
- [369] F.L. Lewis, "Riccati equation computation of supremal (F,G) -invariant and reachability subspaces," IEEE Trans. Automat. Control, vol. AC-26, no. 3, pp. 725-728, June 1981.
- [370] F.L. Lewis, "Riccati equation solution to the minimum time output control problem," IEEE Trans. Automat. Control, vol. AC-26, no. 3, pp. 763-766, June 1981.
- [371] F.L. Lewis, "A generalized inverse solution to the discrete time singular Riccati equation," IEEE Trans. Automat. Control, vol. AC-26, no. 2, pp. 395-398, April 1981.

## Adaptive and Robust Control

- [372] Yi Jiang; Kai Zhang; Jin Wu; Chengxi Zhang; Wenqian Xue; Tianyou Chai; Frank L. Lewis, "H∞-Based Minimal Energy Adaptive Control With Preset Convergence Rate," in *IEEE Transactions on Cybernetics*, vol. 52, no. 10, pp. 10078-10088, Oct. 2022, doi: 10.1109/TCYB.2021.3061894.\*\*
- [373] Shai Arogeti and F.L. Lewis, "Static Output Feedback H∞ Control Design Procedures for Continuous-Time Systems with Different Levels of Model Knowledge," IEEE Trans. Cybernetics, accepted, May 2021. DOI 10.1109/TCYB.2021.3103148.

- [374] Carlos Ma, James Lam, and F.L. Lewis, ""Trajectory Regulating Model Reference Adaptive Controller for Robotic Systems," IEEE Transactions on Control Systems Technology, vol. 27, no. 6, pp. 2749-2756, Nov. 2019. DOI 10.1109/TCST.2018.2858203.
- [375] Honghai Ji, Zhongsheng Hou, Lingling Fan, and F.L. Lewis, "Adaptive iterative learning reliable control for a class of nonlinearly parameterized systems with unknown state delays and input saturation," IET Control Theory and Applications, to appear 2016.
- [376] J. Gadewadikar; A. Bhilegaonkar, F.L. Lewis, "Bounded L2 Gain Static Output Feedback: Controller Design and Implementation on an Electromechanical System," IEEE Trans. Industrial Electronics, vol. 54, no. 5, pp. 2593-2599, Oct 2007.
- [377] J. Gadewadikar, Frank L. Lewis, L. Xie, V. Kucera and M. Abu-Khalaf, "Parameterization of all stabilizing H<sub>∞</sub> static state-feedback gains: Application to output-feedback design," *Automatica*, vol. 43, no. 9, pp. 1597-1604, September 2007.
- [378] J. Gadewadikar, M. Abu-Khalaf, and F.L. Lewis, "Necessary and sufficient conditions for H-infinity static output-feedback control," J. Guidance, Control, and Dynamics, vol. 29, no. 4, pp. 915-920, July-Aug. 2006.
- [379] S. Commuri and F.L. Lewis, "A new methodology for the design of adaptive controllers using "state-strict passivity": application to neural network controllers," Kybernetika, vol. 33, no. 1, pp. 2-16, 1997.
- [380] C.-M. Kwan, F.L. Lewis, and K. Yeung, "Adaptive control of induction motors without flux measurements," Automatica, vol. 32, no. 6, pp. 903-908, 1996.
- [381] S. Jagannathan and F.L. Lewis, "Robust implicit self-tuning regulator: convergence and stability," Automatica, vol. 32, no. 12, pp. 1629-1644, 1996.
- [382] S. Jagannathan, F.L. Lewis, and O. Pastravanu, "Discrete-time model reference adaptive control of nonlinear dynamical systems using neural networks," Int. J. Control, vol. 64, no. 2, pp. 217-239, 1996.
- [383] K. Liu and F.L. Lewis, "Continuous robust controller guaranteeing eventually-stable-in-the-large ESL stability for second-order dynamic systems with bounded uncertainties," Int. J. Systems Sci., vol. 24, no. 11, pp. 2019-2031, 1993.
- [384] K. Liu and F.L. Lewis, "Robust control techniques for general dynamic systems," Journal of Intelligent and Robotic Systems: Theory and Applications, vol. 6, no.1, pp. 33-49, 1992.
- [385] H. Kang, G. Vachtsevanos, and F.L. Lewis, "Lyapunov redesign for structural convergence improvement in adaptive control," IEEE Trans. Automat. Control, vol. 35, no. 2, pp. 250-253, Feb. 1990.

#### Neural Networks for Control

Note: For additional papers on neural network control see 'Intelligent Control and Adaptive Critics' and 'Mobile Robots'

- [386] Kan Xie, Ci Chen, Frank L. Lewis, and Shengli Xie, "Adaptive Asymptotic Neural Network Control of Nonlinear Systems with Unknown Actuator Quantization," IEEE Trans. Neural Networks and Learning Systems, vol. 29, no. 12, pp. 6303-6312, Dec. 2018.
- [387] T. Cheng, Zhihua Qu and Frank L. Lewis, "Neural Network Solution for Suboptimal Control of Nonholonomic Chained Form System", *Transaction of the Institute of Measurement and Control*, Special Issue, 2008.
- [388] T. Cheng and F.L. Lewis, "Neural network solution for finite-horizon H-infinity state feedback control of nonlinear systems," Int. J. Systems Science, vol. 38, no. 12, pp. 1029-1041, Dec., 2007.
- [389] T. Cheng, F.L. Lewis, and M. Abu-Khalaf, "Fixed-final-time constrained optimal control of nonlinear systems using neural network HJB approach," IEEE Trans. Neural Networks, vol. 18, no. 6, pp. 1725-1737, Nov. 2007.
- [390] T. Cheng and F.L. Lewis, "Neural network solution of finite-horizon H-infinity optimal controllers for nonlinear systems," Int. J. Factory Automation, Robotics, and Soft Computing, vol. 3, pp. 46-52, July 2007.
- [391] T. Cheng and F.L. Lewis, "Neural network solution for finite-horizon H-infinity constrained optimal control of nonlinear systems," J. Control Theory and Applications, vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 1-11, 2007.

- [392] T. Cheng, F.L. Lewis, M. Abu-Khalaf, "A neural network solution for fixed-final-time optimal control of nonlinear systems," Automatica, vol. 43, pp. 482-490, 2007.
- [393] J. Campos and F.L. Lewis, "Backlash compensation with filtered prediction in discrete time nonlinear systems by dynamic inversion using neural networks," Asian J. Control, vol. 6, no. 3, Sept. 2004.
- [394] O. Kuljaca and F.L. Lewis, "Adaptive Critic design using nonlinear network structures," Int. J. Adaptive Control and Signal Proc., vol. 17, no. 6, pp. 431-445, June 2003.
- [395] J.-Q. Huang and F.L. Lewis, "Neural-network predictive control for nonlinear dynamic systems with time delay," IEEE Trans. Neural Networks, vol. 14, no. 2, pp. 377-389, Mar. 2003.
- [396] O. Kuljaca, N. Swamy, F.L. Lewis, and C.M. Kwan, "Design and implementation of industrial neural network controller using backstepping," IEEE Trans. Industrial Electronics, vol. 50, no. 1, pp. 193-201, Feb. 2003.
- [397] R.R. Selmic and F.L. Lewis, "Neural network approximation of piecewise continuous functions: application to friction compensation," IEEE Trans. Neural Networks, pp. 745-751, vol. 13, no. 3, May 2002.
- [398] R.R. Selmic and F.L. Lewis, "Neural net backlash compensation with Hebbian tuning using dynamic inversion," Automatica, vol. 37, no. 8, pp. 1269-1277, Aug. 2001.
- [399] C. Kwan, D.M. Dawson, and F.L. Lewis, "Robust adaptive control of robots using neural network: global stability," Asian J. Control, vol. 3, no. 2, pp. 111-121, June 2001.
- [400] A. Yesildirek and F.L. Lewis, "Adaptive feedback linearization using efficient neural networks," Journal of Intelligent & Robotic Systems, vol. 31, pp. 253-281, 2001.
- [401] C. Kwan and F.L. Lewis, "Robust backstepping control of nonlinear systems using neural networks, IEEE Trans. Systems, Man, Cybernetics, vol. 30, no. 6, pp. 753-766, Nov. 2000.
- [402] C. Kwan and F.L. Lewis, "Robust backstepping control of induction motors using neural networks, IEEE Trans. Neural Networks, vol. 11, no. 5, pp. 1178-1187, Sept. 2000.
- [403] J.-Q. Huang, F.L. Lewis, and K. Liu, "A neural net predictive control for telerobots with time delay," J. Intelligent and Robotic Systems, vol. 29, pp. 1-25, Jan. 2000.
- [404] Y. Kim and F.L. Lewis, "Intelligent optimal control of robotic manipulators using neural networks," Automatica, vol. 36, no. 9, pp. 1355-1364, Sept. 2000.
- [405] R. Selmic and F.L. Lewis, "Backlash compensation in nonlinear systems using dynamic inversion by neural networks," Asian J. Control, vol. 2, no. 2, pp. 76-87, June 2000.
- [406] Y. Kim and F.L. Lewis, "Optimal design of CMAC neural network controller for Robot Manipulators," IEEE Trans. Systems, Man, and Cybernetics, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 22-31, Feb 2000.
- [407] R. Selmic and F.L. Lewis, "Deadzone compensation in motion control systems using neural networks," IEEE Trans. Automatic Control, vol. 45, no. 4, pp. 602-613, Apr. 2000.
- [408] Y. Kim and F.L. Lewis, "Reinforcement adaptive learning neural network based friction compensator for high speed and precision," IEEE Trans. Control Systems technology, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 118-126, Jan. 2000.
- [409] F.L. Lewis, "Nonlinear network structures for feedback control," Asian J. Control, vol. 1, no. 4, pp. 205-228, Dec. 1999.
- [410] S. Commuri and F. L. Lewis, CMAC neural networks for control of nonlinear dynamical systems: Structure, stability and passivity, vol. 33, no. 4, pp. 635-641, April 1997.
- [411] C. Kwan, A, Yesildirek, and F.L. Lewis, "Robust force/motion control of constrained robots using neural networks," J. Robotic Systems, vol. 16, no. 12, pp. 697-714, Dec. 1999.
- [412] C. Kwan and F.L. Lewis, "Robust neural network control of rigid-link flexible-joint robots," Asian Journal of Control, vol. 1, no. 3, pp. 188-197, Sept. 1999.
- [413] Y. Kim and F.L. Lewis, "Neural network output feedback control of robot manipulators," IEEE Trans. Robotics and Automation, vol. 4, pp. 301-309, Apr. 1999.

- [414] S. Jagannathan, S. Commuri, and F.L. Lewis, "Robust backstepping control of robotic systems using neural networks," J. Intelligent and Robotic Systems, vol. 23, pp. 105-128, 1998.
- [415] S. Jagannathan, S. Commuri, and F.L. Lewis, "Feedback linearization using CMAC neural networks," Automatica, vol. 34, no. 5, pp. 547-557, 1998.
- [416] C. Kwan, F.L. Lewis, and D.M. Dawson, "Robust neural network control of rigid-link electrically driven robots," IEEE Trans. Neural Networks, vol. 9, no. 4, pp. 581-588, July 1998.
- [417] L.B. Gutierrez and F.L. Lewis, "Implementation of a neural net tracking controller for a single flexible link: comparison with PD and PID controllers," IEEE Trans. Industrial Electronics, vol. 45, no. 2, pp. 307-318, April 1998.
- [418] S. Commuri, S. Jagannathan, and F.L. Lewis, "CMAC neural network control of robot manipulators," J. Robotic Systems, vol. 14, no. 6, pp. 465-482, 1997.
- [419] Y. Kim, F.L. Lewis, and C.T. Abdallah, "A dynamic recurrent neural network based adaptive observer for a class of nonlinear systems," Automatica, vol. 33, no. 8, pp. 1539-1543, 1997.
- [420] S. Jagannathan and F.L. Lewis, "Discrete-time control of a class of nonlinear dynamical systems," Int. J. Intelligent Control and Systems, vol. 1. no. 3, pp. 297-326, 1996.
- [421] S. Jagannathan and F.L. Lewis, "Identification of nonlinear dynamical systems using multilayered neural networks," Automatica, vol. 32, no. 12, pp. 1707-1712, 1996.
- [422] A. Yesildirek, M.W. Vandegrift, and F.L. Lewis, "A neural net controller for flexible-link robots," J. Intelligent and Robotic Systems, vol. 17, pp. 327-349, 1996.
- [423] F.L. Lewis, "Neural network control of robot manipulators", IEEE Expert special track on "Intelligent Control" Ed. K. Passino and U. Ozguner, pp. 64-75, Jun 1996.
- [424] S. Jagannathan, F.L. Lewis, and O.C. Pastravanu, "Discrete-time model reference control of nonlinear dynamical systems using neural networks," Int. J. Control, vol. 64, no. 2, pp. 217-239, 1996.
- [425] F.L. Lewis, A. Yesildirek, and K. Liu, "Multilayer neural net robot controller with guaranteed tracking performance, IEEE Trans. Neural Networks, vol. 7, no. 2, pp. 388-399, Mar. 1996.
- [426] S. Jagannathan and F.L. Lewis, "Discrete-time neural net controller for a class of nonlinear dynamical systems," IEEE Trans. Automat. Control, vol. 41, no. 11, pp. 1693-1699, Nov. 1996.
- [427] S. Jagannathan and F.L. Lewis, "Neural network controller design and the effect of neural network size on speed of learning," Int. J. Intelligent Control and Systems, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 119-132, 1996.
- [428] S. Jagannathan and F.L. Lewis, "Multilayer discrete-time neural net controller with guaranteed performance," IEEE Trans. Neural Networks, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 107-130, Jan. 1996.
- [429] A. Yesildirek and F.L. Lewis, "Feedback linearization using neural networks," Automatica, pp. 1659-1664, vol. 31., no. 11, Nov. 1995.
- [430] F.L. Lewis, A. Yesildirek, and K. Liu, "Neural net robot controller: structure and stability proofs," J. Intelligent and Robotic Sys., vol. 12, pp. 277-299, 1995.
- [431] F.L. Lewis, K. Liu, and A. Yesildirek, "Neural net robot controller with guaranteed tracking performance," IEEE Trans. Neural Networks, vol. 6, no. 3, pp. 703-715, 1995.

# Fuzzy Logic Control

- [432] O. Kuljaca, F.L. Lewis, J. Gadewadikar, and K. Horvat, "Dynamic Focusing of Awareness in Fuzzy Control Systems," International Journal of Artificial Intelligence & Applications, vol. 2, no. 2, pp. 1-19, 2011.
- [433] O. Kuljaca, F.L. Lewis, J. Gadewadikar, and K. Horvat, "Elastic Adaptive Fuzzy Logic Controller," J. Communication and Computer, vol. 7, no. 12, pp. 74-82, Dec. 2010.
- [434] S. Jagannathan and F.L. Lewis, "Robust backstepping control of a class of nonlinear systems using fuzzy logic," Int. J. Information Sciences, vol. 12, no. 3, pp. 223-240, 2000.

- [435] C. Kwan, H. Xu, and F.L. Lewis, "Robust spacecraft attitude control using adaptive fuzzy logic," Int. J. Systems Science, vol. 31, no. 10, pp. 1217-1225, 2000.
- [436] S. Jagannathan, M.W. Vandegrift, and F.L. Lewis, "Adaptive fuzzy logic control of discrete-time dynamical systems," Automatica, vol. 36, no. 2, pp. 229-241, Feb. 2000.
- [437] J. Campos and F.L. Lewis, "Deadzone compensation in discrete time using adaptive fuzzy logic control," IEEE Trans. Fuzzy Systems, vol. 7, no. 6, pp. 697-307, Dec. 1999.
- [438] F.L. Lewis, K.-T. Woo, L.-X. Wang, and Z.X. Li, "Deadzone compensation in motion control systems using adaptive fuzzy logic control," IEEE Trans. Control Systems Technol., vol. 7, no. 6, pp. 731-742, 1999.
- [439] S. Jagannathan and F.L. Lewis, "Feedback linearization of nonlinear systems using fuzzy logic," J. Intelligent and Fuzzy Systems, vol 7, no. 2, pp. 107-124, 1999.
- [440] F.L. Lewis, K. Liu, R. Selmic, and L.-X. Wang, "Adaptive fuzzy logic compensation of actuator deadzones," J. Robotic Systems, vol. 14, no. 6, pp. 501-511, 1997.
- [441] K. Liu, S. Subbarayan, R.R. Shoults, M.T. Manry, C. Kwan, F.L. Lewis, and J. Naccarino, "Comparison of very short-term load forecasting techniques," IEEE Trans. Power systems, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 877-882, 1996.
- [442] F.L. Lewis and K. Liu, "Towards a paradigm for fuzzy logic control," Automatica, vol. 32, no. 2, pp. 167-181, Feb. 1996.
- [443] K. Liu and F. L. Lewis, "Adaptive tuning of fuzzy logic identifier for unknown nonlinear systems," Int. J. Adaptive Control and Signal Processing, vol. 8, pp. 573-586, 1994.
- [444] K. Liu and F.L. Lewis, "Hybrid feedback linearization/fuzzy logic control of a flexible link manipulator," J. Intelligent and Fuzzy Systems, vol. 2, no. 4, pp. 325-336, 1994.

#### **Biosystems**

[445] R.A. Schachar and F.L. Lewis, "Error tolerance in accommodation of the human cornea," Ophthalmology, 2002 (short note).

#### Mobile Robots

- [446] J.M. Luna, R. Fierro, C.T. Abdallah, and F.L. Lewis, "On the compression of locational and environmental data in multi-vehicle missions: a control systems approach," Int. J. of Control, vol. 86, no. 7, pp. 1281-1291, 2013.
- [447] R. Fierro and F.L. Lewis, "Control of a nonholonomic mobile robot using neural networks," IEEE Trans. Neural Networks, vol. 9, no. 4, pp. 589-600, July 1998.
- [448] R. Fierro and F.L. Lewis, "Robust practical point stabilization of a nonholonomic mobile robot using neural networks," J. Intelligent and Robotic Systems, vol. 20, pp. 295-317, 1997.
- [449] R. Fierro and F.L. Lewis, "Control of a nonholonomic mobile robot: backstepping kinematics into dynamics," J. Robotic Systems, vol. 14, no. 3, pp. 149-163, 1997.
- [450] S. Jagannathan, S. Zhu, and F.L. Lewis, "Path planning and control of mobile vehicles with nonholonomic constraints," Robotica, vol. 12, pp. 529-539, 1994.
- [451] S. Jagannathan, F.L. Lewis, and K. Liu, "Motion control and obstacle avoidance of a mobile robot with an onboard manipulator," J. Intelligent Manufacturing Systems, vol. 5, pp. 287-302, 1994.
- [452] K. Liu and F.L. Lewis, "An improved result on the stability analysis of nonlinear systems with applications to mobile robots," IEEE Trans. Automat. Control, vol. 37, no. 9, pp. 1425-1431, Sep. 1992.
- [453] K. Liu and F.L. Lewis, "Stability analysis of a decentralized controller for a mobile robot," Advanced Robotics, vol. 6, no. 4, pp. 383-397, 1992.
- [454] K. Liu and F.L. Lewis, "A robust control for uncertain multivariable dynamical systems with applications in mobile robots," J. Robotic Systems, vol. 9, no. 7, pp. 893-914, 1992.

#### Stewart Platform Manipulator

- [455] K. Liu, F.L. Lewis, and M. Fitzgerald, "Solution of nonlinear kinematics of a parallel-link constrained Stewart platform manipulator," Circuits, Systems, and Signal Proc., Special Issue on "Implicit and Robust Systems," vol. 13, no. 2-3, pp. 167-183, 1994.
- [456] K. Liu, F.L. Lewis, G. Lebret, and D. Taylor, "The singularities and dynamics of a Stewart Platform Manipulator," J. Intelligent and Robotic Systems, vol. 8, pp. 287-308, 1993.
- [457] K. Liu, M. Fitzgerald, and F.L. Lewis, "Kinematic analysis of a Stewart Platform manipulator," IEEE Trans. Industrial Electronics, vol. 40, no. 2, pp. 282-293, 1993.
- [458] G. Lebret, K. Liu, and F.L. Lewis, "Dynamic analysis and control of a Stewart platform manipulator," J. Robotic Systems, Special Issue on "Parallel Closed-Kinematic Chain Manipulators and Devices," vol. 10, no. 5, pp. 629- 655, 1993.

#### Flexible and Vibratory Systems Control

- [459] J. Lin and F.L. Lewis, "A symbolic formulation of dynamic equations for a manipulator with rigid and flexible links," Int. J. Robotics Res., vol. 13, no. 5, pp. 454-466, Oct. 1994.
- [460] M. Vandegrift, F.L. Lewis, and S. Zhu, "Flexible-link robot arm control by a feedback linearization/singular perturbation approach," J. Robotic Systems, vol. 11, no. 7, pp. 591-603, 1994.
- [461] J. Lin and F.L. Lewis, "Enhanced measurement and estimation methodology for flexible link arm control," J. Robotic Sys., vol. 11, no. 5, pp. 367-385, July 1994.

## **Construction Automation**

[462] F.L. Lewis, "Robotics, automation, and machine intelligence in construction," J. Amer. Inst. Constructors, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 16-20, 1993.

## 2-Dimensional Systems

- [463] A. Karamancioglu and F.L. Lewis, "Geometric theory for the singular Roesser model," IEEE Trans. Automat. Control, vol. 37, no. 6, pp. 801-806, June 1992.
- [464] F.L. Lewis and B.G. Mertzios, "On the analysis of two-dimensional discrete singular systems," Circuits, Systems, and Signal Proc., vol. 11, no. 3, pp. 399-419, 1992.
- [465] F.L. Lewis, "A review of 2-D implicit systems," Automatica, vol. 28, no. 2, pp. 345-354, 1992.
- [466] F.L. Lewis, "An introduction to 2-D implicit systems," Mathematical and Intelligent Models in System Simulation, R. Hanus, P. Kool, and S. Tzafestas ed., pp. 147-152, 1991.
- [467] G. Beauchamp and F.L. Lewis, "Shuffle algorithm for two-dimensional singular systems with a Fornasini-Marchesini model," Kybernetika, vol. 27, no.3, pp. 243-252, 1991.
- [468] F.L. Lewis, W. Marszalek, and B.G. Mertzios, "Walsh function analysis of 2-D generalized continuous systems," IEEE Trans. Automat. Control, vol. 35, no. 10, pp. 1140-1144, Oct. 1990.
- [469] B.G. Mertzios and F.L. Lewis, "An algorithm for the computation of the transfer function matrix of generalized 2-D systems," Circuits, Systems, and Signal Proc., vol. 7., no. 4, pp. 459-466, 1988.

# Singular/Descriptor Systems

- [470] D. Fountain and F.L. Lewis, "Walsh Function solution of bilinear implicit systems with split boundary conditions," Comp. and Appl. Math II: Diff. Equations, W.F. Ames and P.J. van der Houwen ed., 1996.
- [471] V.L. Syrmos and F.L. Lewis, "Decomposability and quotient subspaces for the pencil sL-M," SIAM J. Matrix Analysis and Applic., vol. 15, no. 3, pp. 865-880, July 1994.
- [472] V.L. Syrmos and F.L. Lewis, "Transmission zero assignment using semistate descriptions," IEEE Trans. Automat. Control, vol. 38, no. 7, pp. 1115-1120, July 1993.

- [473] F.L. Lewis and K.M. Przyluski, "Hautus-type conditions for controllability of implicit linear discrete-time systems revisited," IEEE Trans. Automat. Control, vol. 38, no. 3, pp. 502-505, Mar. 1993.
- [474] V.L. Syrmos and F.L. Lewis, "Robust eigenvalue assignment for generalized systems," Automatica, vol. 28, no. 6, pp. 1223-1228, Nov. 1992.
- [475] A. Banaszuk, M. Kociecki, and F.L. Lewis, "Kalman decomposition for implicit linear systems," IEEE Trans. Automat. Control, vol. 37, no. 10, pp. 1509-1514, Oct. 1992.
- [476] V.L. Syrmos and F.L. Lewis, "State feedback design using reduced-order nonsquare descriptions," IEEE Trans. Automat. Control, vol. 37, no. 9, pp. 1431-1436, Sep. 1992.
- [477] K. Ozcaldiran, D.W. Fountain, and F.L. Lewis, "Some generalized notions of observability," IEEE Trans. Automat. Control, vol. 37, no. 6, pp. 856-860, June 1992.
- [478] F.L. Lewis, "A tutorial on the geometric properties of linear time-invariant singular systems," Automatica, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 119-137, 1992.
- [479] B.G. Mertzios and F.L. Lewis, "Efficient inversion of a generalized pencil of matrices," Mathematical and Intelligent Models in System Simulation, R. Hanus, P. Kool, and S. Tzafestas ed., 1991.
- [480] A. Banaszuk, M. Kociecki, G. Beauchamp, and F.L. Lewis, "Observability with unknown input and dual properties for singular systems," Mathematical and Intelligent Models in System Simulation, R. Hanus, P. Kool, and S. Tzafestas ed., pp. 125-129, 1991.
- [481] F.L. Lewis and D.W. Fountain, "Walsh function analysis of linear and bilinear discrete time systems," Int. J. Control, vol. 53, no. 4, pp. 847-853, 1991.
- [482] F.L. Lewis, B.G. Mertzios, and W. Marszalek, "Analysis of singular bilinear systems using Walsh functions," IEE Proc.- Part D, vol. 138, no. 2, pp. 89-92, Mar. 1991.
- [483] V.L. Syrmos and F.L. Lewis, "A geometric approach to proportional-plus-derivative feedback using quotient and partitioned subspaces," Automatica, vol. 27, no. 2, pp. 349-369, 1991.
- [484] G. Beauchamp, A. Banaszuk, M. Kociecki, and F.L. Lewis, "Inner and outer geometry for singular systems with computation of subspaces," Int. J. Control, vol. 53, no. 3, pp. 661-687, 1991.
- [485] F.L. Lewis, G. Beauchamp, K. Ozcaldiran, and R.P. Malhame, "Large-scale dynamical interconnections of stochastic singular systems," Circuits, Systems, and Signal Proc., vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 115-133, 1990.
- [486] K. Ozcaldiran and F.L. Lewis, "On the regularizability of singular systems," IEEE Trans. Automat. Control, vol. 35, no. 10, pp. 1156-1160, Oct. 1990.
- [487] F.L. Lewis and B.G. Mertzios, "On the analysis of discrete linear time-invariant singular systems," IEEE Trans. Automat. Control, vol. 35, no. 4, pp. 506-511, April 1990.
- [488] F.L. Lewis, "Geometric design techniques for observers in singular systems," Automatica, vol. 26, no. 2, pp. 411-415, Mar. 1990.
- [489] F.L. Lewis, V.G. Mertzios, G. Vachtsevanos, and M.A. Christodoulou, "Analysis of bilinear systems using Walsh functions," IEEE Trans. Automat. Control, vol. AC-35, no. 1, pp. 119-123, Jan. 1990.
- [490] F.L. Lewis, "Computational geometry for design in singular systems," IMACS Annals Comp. and Appl. Math., vol. 3, Modeling and Simulation of Systems, P. Breedveld et al., ed., pp. 381-383, Dec. 1989.
- [491] B.G. Mertzios and F.L. Lewis, "Fundamental matrix of discrete singular systems," Circuits, Systems, and Signal Proc., vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 341-355, 1989.
- [492] F.L. Lewis, M.A. Christodoulou, B.G. Mertzios, and K. Ozcaldiran, "Chained aggregation of singular systems," IEEE Trans. Automat. Control, vol. 34, no. 9, pp. 1007-1013, Sept. 1989.
- [493] K. Ozcaldiran and F.L. Lewis, "Generalized reachability subspaces for singular systems," SIAM J. Control and Opt., vol. 27, no. 3, pp. 495-510, May 1989.
- [494] F.L. Lewis and K. Ozcaldiran, "Geometric structure and feedback in singular systems," IEEE Trans. Automat. Control, vol. AC-34, no. 4, pp. 450-455, April 1989.

- [495] B.G. Mertzios, M.A. Christodoulou, B.L. Syrmos, and F.L. Lewis, "Direct controllability and observability time-domain conditions of singular systems," IEEE Trans. Automat. Control, vol. AC-33, no. 8, pp. 788-791, August 1988.
- [496] B.G. Mertzios, F.L. Lewis, and G. Vachtsevanos, "On the analysis of singular systems using orthogonal functions," IEE Proc. Part D, vol. 135, no. 4, pp. 323-325, July 1988.
- [497] F.L. Lewis, M.A. Christodoulou, and B.G. Mertzios, "System inversion using orthogonal functions," Circuits, Systems, and Signal Proc., vol. 6, no. 3, pp. 347-362, 1987.
- [498] K. Ozcaldiran and F. Lewis, "A geometric approach to eigenstructure assignment for singular systems," IEEE Trans. Automat. Control, vol. AC-32, no. 7, pp. 629-632, July 1987.
- [499] F.L. Lewis, B.G. Mertzios, "Analysis of singular systems using orthogonal functions," IEEE Trans. Automat. Control, vol. AC-32, no. 6, pp. 527-530, June 1987.
- [500] F.L. Lewis, "Further remarks on the Cayley-Hamilton theorem and Leverrier's method for the matrix pencil (sE-A)," IEEE Trans. Automat. Control, vol. AC-31, no. 9, pp. 869-870, September 1986.
- [501] F.L. Lewis, "A survey of linear singular systems," Circuits, Systems, and Signal Proc., vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 3-36, 1986.
- [502] F.L. Lewis, "Fundamental, reachability, and observability matrices for discrete descriptor systems," IEEE Trans. Automat. Control, vol. AC-30, no. 5, pp. 502-505, May 1985.
- [503] F.L. Lewis, "Descriptor systems: decomposition into forward and backward subsystems," IEEE Trans. Automat. Control, vol. AC-29, no. 2, pp. 167-170, February 1984.
- [504] F.L. Lewis, "Descriptor systems: expanded descriptor equation and Markov parameters," IEEE Trans. Automat. Control, vol. AC-28, no. 5, pp. 623-627, May 1983.

# **Conference Papers Published in Proceedings**

Note: Papers for conferences involving the IEEE Control Systems Society are fully refereed and appear in Proceedings. All of the listed papers below are peer-reviewed and published.

# Reinforcement Learning, Intelligent Control, Game Theory, Optimization

- [1] Victor G. Lopez, Kyriakos G. Vamvoudakis, Yan Wan, F.L. Lewis, "Off-Policy Reinforcement-Learning Algorithm to Solve Minimax Games on Graphs," IEEE Conference on Decision and Control (CDC), Nice France, pp. 6473- 6478, Dec. 2019.
- [2] Junfei Wang, Yan Wan, F.L. Lewis, "Strategic Air Traffic Flow Management under Uncertainties using Scalable Sampling-based Dynamic Programming and Q-Learning Approaches," 2017 Asian Control Conference, Melbourne, Dec. 2017.
- [3] Junfei Xie, Yan Wan, Kevin Mills, James Filliben, and Frank L. Lewis, "A Scalable Sampling Method to High-dimensional Uncertainties for Optimal and Reinforcement Learning-based Controls," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, Melbourne, Dec. 2017.
- [4] Bahare Kiumarsi and F.L. Lewis, "Off-policy Reinforcement Learning for Distributed Output Synchronization of Linear Multi-agent Systems," IEEE Symposium Series on Computational Intelligence (SSCI), Hawaii, pp. 1877-1884, Nov. 2017.
- [5] B. Kiumarsi, K. Vamvoudakis, H. Modares, F.L. Lewis, "Advances in Reinforcement Learning Structures for Continuous-time Dynamical Systems," Narendra Yale Workshop, June 2017.
- [6] B. Kiumarsi, H. Modares, F.L. Lewis, and Z.-P. Jiang, "H-infinity Optimal Control of Unknown Linear Discrete-time Systems: An Off-policy Reinforcement Learning Approach," CIS-RAM 2015.
- B. AlQaudi, D.S. Levine and F.L. Lewis, "Neural network model of decisions on the Asian disease model," Proc. Int. Joint Conf. Neural Networks, pp. 1333-1340, 2015.
- [8] A.E. Ruano, S.S. Ge, T.M. Guerra, F.L. Lewis, J.C. Principe, and M. Colnaric, "Computational intelligence in control," Proc. IFAC World Congress, Capetown, Aug. 2015.

- [9] R.Song, F.L. Lewis, Q. Wei, and W. Xiao, "Optimal Tracking Control for a Class of Continuous Time Complex-valued Systems Based on Adaptive Dynamic Programming Algorithm," Proc. Chinese Control Conf., 2014.
- [10] R. Modares and F.L. Lewis, "Online solution to the linear quadratic tracking problem of continuous-time systems using reinforcement learning," pp. 3851-3856, Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision & Control, Florence, Dec. 2013.
- [11] B. Kiumarsi-Khomartash, F.L. Lewis, M.-B. Naghibi-Sistani and A. Karimpour, "Optimal tracking control for linear discrete-time systems using reinforcement learning," pp. 3845-3850, Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision & Control, Florence, Dec. 2013.
- [12] K. Vamvoudakis, F.L. Lewis, M. Johnson, and W.E. Dixon, "Online Learning Algorithm for Stackelberg Games in Problems with Hierarchy," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, Maui, Dec. 2012.
- [13] K. Vamvoudakis, D. Vrabie, F.L. Lewis, "Adaptive Optimal Control Algorithm for Zero-Sum Nash Games with Integral Reinforcement Learning," Proc. AIAA Guidance, Navigation, and Control Conference, August 2012.
- [14] S.G. Khan, G. Herrmann, F.L. Lewis, T. Pipe, and C. Melhuish, "A novel Q-learning based Cartesian model reference compliance controller implementation for a humanoid robotic arm," Proc. IEEE Int. Conf. Robotics, Automation and Mechatronics, CIS-RAM 2011, paper 24, Qingdao, China, Sept., 2011.
- [15] K. Vamvoudakis and F.L. Lewis, "Online Learning Solution of Coupled Hamilton-Jacobi and Coupled Riccati Equations," Proc. IEEE Multi-conference on Systems and Control, Denver, CO, Sept. 2011.
- [16] E. Stingu and F.L. Lewis, "An Approximate Dynamic Programming Based Controller Implementation for an Underactuated 6DoF Quadrotor," Proc. IEEE Symp. ADPRL, 11-15 Paris, April 2011.
- [17] K. Vamvoudakis, D. Vrabie, and F.L. Lewis, "Online Adaptive Learning of Optimal Control Solutions Using Integral Reinforcement Learning," Proc. IEEE Symp. ADPRL, Paris, 11-15 April 2011.
- [18] S.G. Khan, G. Herrmann, F.L. Lewis, T. Pipe, and C. Melhuish, "A novel Q-learning based adaptive optimal controller implementation for a humanoid robotic arm," IFAC World Congress, Milan, Aug. 2011.
- [19] D. Vrabie and F.L. Lewis, "Integral Reinforcement Learning for Online Computation of Feedback Nash Strategies of Nonzero-Sum Differential Games," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision & Control, pp. 3066-3071, Atlanta, Dec. 2010.
- [20] K. Vamvoudakis and F.L. Lewis, "Online solution of nonlinear two-player zero-sum games using synchronous policy iteration, Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision & Control, pp. 3040-3047, Atlanta, Dec. 2010.
- [21] D. Vrabie and F.L. Lewis, "Adaptive Dynamic Programming Algorithm for Finding Online the Equilibrium Solution of the Two-Player Zero-Sum Differential Game," Proc. Int. Joint Conf. Neural Networks, pp. 1-8, Barcelona, July 2010.

#### This paper won the IJCNN 2010 Best Paper Award.

- [22] F.L. Lewis and K. Vamvoudakis, "Optimal Adaptive Control for Unknown Systems Using Output Feedback by Reinforcement Learning," Proc. Int. Conf. Control Applications ICCA, Xiamen, China, June 2010.
- [23] D. Vrabie, K. Vamvoudakis, and F. Lewis, "Adaptive optimal controllers based on generalized policy iteration in a continuous-time framework," Proc. Mediterranean Conf. Control and Automation, pp. 1402-1409, Thessaloniki, June 2009.
- [24] K.G. Vamvoudakis and F. L. Lewis, "Online Actor Critic Algorithm to Solve the Continuous-Time Infinite Horizon Optimal Control Problem," Proc. Int. Joint Conf. on Neural Networks, pp. 3180-3187, Atlanta, June 2009.

In 2014 this was the most cited paper in IJCNN since 2009 according to http://arnetminer.org/conference/ijcnn.

- [25] D. Vrabie and F.L. Lewis, "Generalized Policy Iteration for Continuous-Time Systems," Proc. Int. Joint Conf. on Neural Networks, pp. 3224-3231, Atlanta, June 2009.
- [26] K. Vamvoudakis, D. Vrabie, and F. Lewis, "Online policy iteration based algorithms to solve the continuous-time infinite horizon optimal control problem, "Proc. IEEE Symp. ADPRL, pp. 36-41, Nashville, Mar. 2009.

- [27] Hongwei Zhang, Jie Huang, and F.L. Lewis, "Algorithm and stability of ATC Receding Horizon Control," Proc. IEEE Symp. ADPRL, pp. 28-35, Nashville, Mar. 2009.
- [28] D. Vrabie and F.L. Lewis, "Adaptive optimal control algorithm for continuous-time nonlinear systems based on policy iteration," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 73-79, Cancun, Dec. 2008.
- [29] D. Vrabie, F.L. Lewis, D. Levine, "Neural Network-Based Adaptive Optimal Controller- A Continuous-Time Formulation -," Proc. Int. Conf. Intelligent Control, Shanghai, Sept. 2008.
- [30] A. Al-Tamimi, F.L. Lewis, and Y. Wang, "Model-free H-infinity load-frequency controller design," Proc. IEEE Int. Symp. Intelligent Control, pp. 118-125, Singapore, Oct. 2007.
- [31] D. Vrabie, F.L. Lewis, and M. Abu-Khalaf, "Biologically inspired scheme for continuous-time approximate dynamic programming, Proc. Int. Conf. Life System Modeling and Simulation (LSMS), Shanghai, Sept. 2007.
- [32] A. Al-Tamimi, D. Vrabie, M. Abu-Khalaf, and F.L. Lewis, "Model-free Approximate Dynamic Programming Schemes for Linear Systems," Proc. Int. Joint Conf. on Neural Networks, paper 1113, Orlando, Aug. 2007.
- [33] A. Al-Tamimi, F.L. Lewis, and M. Abu-Khalaf, "Model-Free Q-Learning Designs for Linear Discrete-Time Zero-Sum Games with Application to H-Infinity Control," Proc. European Control Conf., pp. 1668-1675, Kos, July 2007.
- [34] D. Vrabie, O. Pastravanu<sup>,</sup> and F.L. Lewis<sup>, "</sup>Policy Iteration for Continuous-Time Systems with Unknown Internal Dynamics," Proc. Mediterranean Conf. Control and Automation, paper T01-010, Athens, July 2007.
- [35] A. Al-Tamimi and F.L. Lewis, "Discrete-time nonlinear HJB solution using approximate dynamic programming: Convergence Proof," Proc. IEEE Int. Symp. Approximate Dynamic Programming and Reinforcement Learning, pp. 38-43, Honolulu, April 2007.
- [36] D. Vrabie, M. Abu-Khalaf, F.L. Lewis, and Y. Wang, "Continuous-Time ADP for Linear Systems with Partially Unknown Dynamics," Proc. IEEE Int. Symp. Approximate Dynamic Programming and Reinforcement Learning, pp. 247-253, Honolulu, April 2007.
- [37] M. Abu Khalaf, F.L. Lewis, A. Al Tamimi, and D. Vrabie, "Model-free adaptive dynamic programming for unknown systems," Proc. Int. Conf. Computer Sci. and Education, pp. 105-114, Xiamen, China, July 2006.
- [38] F.L. Lewis and D. Cook, "High-performance robotic intelligent material handling in unstructured environments," Proc. NSF Design and Manufacturing Grantees Conf., pp. 177-178, Monterrey, Mexico, Jan. 1998. (2-page summary, published but unrefereed).
- [39] R. Fierro, F.L. Lewis, and K. liu, "A framework for hybrid control design and its relation with a class of fuzzy logic control systems," Proc. IEEE Mediterranean Conf. Control and Automation, paper MA1-4, Paphos, July 1997.
- [40] R. Fierro, F. L. Lewis, and A. Lowe, "A hybrid control approach for a class of underactuated mechanical systems," Proc. IEEE Int. Symp. Intelligent Control, pp. 367-372, Istanbul, July 1997.
- [41] R. Fierro, F.L. Lewis, and C.T. Abdallah, "Common, multiple, and parametric Lyapunov functions for a class of hybrid dynamical systems," Proc. IEEE Mediterranean Symp. Control and Automation, pp. 77-82, Crete, June 1996.
- [42] F.L. Lewis, K. Liu, and M. Fitzgerald, "Current work in autonomous robots and intelligent control," Proc. Joint US/Portugal Workshop on Undersea Robotics and Intelligent Control, pp. 100-104, Lisbon, Mar. 1995.
- [43] K. Ratliff, R. Fierro, R. Richardson, and F.L. Lewis, "Towards a framework for intelligent control," Proc. ISPE/IFAC Int. Conf. on CAD/CAM, Robotics, and Factories of the Future, Ottawa, pp. 921-927, Aug. 1994.
- [44] R. Hsu, D. Taylor, X. Cong, K. Liu, F.L. Lewis, "Intelligent Robotic Staple Removal System," Proc. Int. Conf. on CAD/CAM, Robotics, and Factories of the Future, Newark, Aug. 1993.
- [45] K. Harbison-Briggs and F.L. Lewis, "Uncertainty management techniques for the selection of control algorithms," Proc. Symp. Control of Robotics and Manuf. Systems, pp. 102-109, Ft. Worth, TX, Oct. 1990.

# Multi-agent Games on Graphs, Graph Structure

- [46] Bosen Lian, Vrushabh S. Donge, Frank L. Lewis, Tianyou Chai, and Ali Davoudi, "Inverse Reinforcement Learning Control for Linear Multiplayer Games," IEEE CDC, 2022, Cancun, to appear, Dec. 2022.
- [47] Bosen Lian, Wenqian Xue, Frank L. Lewis, Tianyou Chai, and Ali Davoudi, "Inverse Reinforcement Learning for Multi-player Apprentice Games in Continuous-time Nonlinear Systems," IEEE Conf. on Decision and Control, CDC Dec 2021.
- [48] Yusuf Kartal, Ahmet Taha Koru, Frank L. Lewis, Atilla Dogan, "Adversarial Multi-agent Leader-Follower Graphical Game with Local and Global Objectives," Proc. American Control Conf., Atlanta, June 2022.

#### Cooperative Multi-Agent Distributed Control

- [49] Bosen Lian, Yan Wan, Ya Zhang, Mushuang Liu, F.L. Lewis, Alexandra Abad, Tina Setter, Dunham Short, and Tianyou Chai, "Distributed Consensus-based Kalman Filtering for Estimation with Multiple Moving Targets," IEEE Conference on Decision and Control (CDC), p. 3911-3915, Nice, France, Dec. 2019.
- [50] Hao Liu, Fachun Peng, Hamidreza Modares, Bahare Kiumarsi, Frank L. Lewis, "Heterogeneous Formation Control of Multiple Rotorcrafts with Unknown Dynamics using Reinforcement Learning," IEEE Conference on Decision and Control (CDC), Nice, France Dec. 2019.
- [51] M.I. Abouheaf, F.L. Lewis, and M.S. Mahmoud, "Action Dependent Dual Heuristic Programming Solution for the Dynamic Graphical Games," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision & Control, Miami, Dec. 2018.
- [52] Victor Lopez, Yan Wan, and F.L. Lewis, "Bayesian graphical games for synchronization in dynamical systems," Proc. American Control Conf., pp. 4937-4942, Milwaukee, June 2018.
- [53] Mushuang Liu, Yan Wan, and Frank L. Lewis, "Adaptive Optimal Decision in Multi-Agent Random Switching Systems," IEEE Control Systems Letters, Vol. 4, No. 2, pp. 265-270, April 2019.
- [54] Hao Liu, Xiwang Dong, F.L. Lewis, Yan Wan, and Kimon Valavanis, "Robust formation control for multiple quadrotors subject to nonlinear dynamics and disturbances," Proc. Int. Conf. on Control & Automation, ICCA, pp. 58-62, Anchorage, Alaska, June 2018.

#### This paper won the ICCA 2018 Best Paper Award.

- [55] Tao Li, Yan Wan, Mushuang Liu, Frank L. Lewis, "Estimation of Random Mobility Models with the Application to Unmanned Aerial Vehicles," Proc. Int. Conf. on Control & Automation, ICCA, Anchorage, Alaska, June 2018.
- [56] Hao Liu, Yu Tian, Frank L. Lewis, Yan Wan, Kimon Valavanis, "Robust Formation Control for a Team of Satellites," International Conference on Unmanned Aircraft Systems, Dallas, June 13-15, 2018.
- [57] Farnaz Yaghmaie, Rong Su, and F.L. Lewis, "Output H-infinity Synchronization of Heterogeneous Linear Multi-agent Systems via a Distributed Output-Feedback," Proc. IEEE CDC, Las Vegas, Dec. 2016.
- [58] H. Modares, F.L. Lewis, and A. Davoudi, "Optimal Output Synchronization of Nonlinear Multi-agent Systems using Approximate Dynamic Programming," Int. Joint Conf. Neural Networks IJCNN, 2016.
- [59] Farnaz Yaghmaie, Rong Su, and F.L. Lewis, "Bipartite Output Synchronization of Linear Heterogeneous Multi-agent Systems via Output Feedback," Proc. American Control Conf., pp. 1024-1029, Boston, July 2016.
- [60] He Cai, Frank L. Lewis, Guoqiang Hu, Jie Huang, "Cooperative Output Regulation of Linear Multi-Agent Systems by Distributed Adaptive Observer," Proc. IEEE CDC, Osaka, Dec. 2015.
- [61] Farnaz Adib Yaghmaie, Frank L. Lewis, Rong Su, "Leader-Follower Output Consensus of Linear Heterogeneous Multi Agent Systems via Output Feedback," Proc. IEEE CDC, pp. 4127-4132, Osaka, Dec. 2015.
- [62] Qiang Jiao, Shuai Liu, F.L. Lewis, Shengyuan Xu, Lihua Xie, "A Riccati Equation Approach to Cooperative Output Regulation of Heterogeneous Multi-agent Systems," Proc. Chinese Control Conf., pp. 7130-7135, July 2015.

- [63] Qiang Jiao, H. Modares, S. Xu, F.L. Lewis, and K.G. Vamvoudakis, "Disturbance rejection of multi-agent systems: a reinforcement learning differential game approach," Proc. ACC, pp. 737-742, Chicago, July 2015.
- [64] F.A. Yaghmaie, F.L. Lewis, and Rong Su, "Output regulation of heterogeneous multi-agent systems: a graphical game approach," Proc. ACC, Chicago, pp. 2272-2277, July 2015.
- [65] M. Abouheaf, F.L. Lewis, and M.M. Sadek, "Model-Free Adaptive Learning Solutions for Discrete-Time Dynamic Graphical Games," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision & Control, pp. 1496-1501, Los Angeles, Dec. 2014.
- [66] M. Abouheaf, F.L. Lewis, and M.M. Sadek, "Differential Graphical Games: Policy Iteration Solutions and Coupled Riccati Formulation," Proc. European Control Conf., pp. 1594-1599, Strasbourg, June 2014.
- [67] T. Haus, I. Palunko, D. Tolic, S. Bogdan, and F.L. Lewis, "Decentralized Trust-Based Self-Organizing Cooperative Control," Proc. European Control Conf., Strasbourg, June 2014.
- [68] M.I. Abouheaf and F.L. Lewis, "Multi-agent differential graphical games: Nash online adaptive learning solutions," *Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision & Control*, Florence, pp. 5803-5809, Dec. 2013.
- [69] M.N. Mahyuddin, G. Herrmann, and F.L. Lewis, "Distributed adaptive leader-following control for multiagent multi-degree manipulators with finite-time guarantees," *Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision & Control*, pp. 1496-1501, Florence, Dec. 2013.
- [70] Z. Li, Z. Duan, and F.L. Lewis," Distributed Robust Consensus of Heterogeneous Uncertain Multi-agent Systems," Proc. Chinese Control Conf, Xi'an China, July 2013.
- [71] M. Abouheaf and F.L. Lewis, "Approximate Dynamic Programming Solutions of Multi-Agent Graphical Games Using Actor-Critic Network Structures," Proc. Int. Joint Conf. Neural Networks, pp. 1-6, Dallas, Aug. 2013.
- [72] M. Aurangzeb, F.L., Lewis, and M. Huber, "Efficient, Swarm-Based Path Finding in Unknown Graphs Using Reinforcement Learning," Proc. Int. Conf. Control & Automation, pp. 870-877, Hangzhou, China, June 2013.
- [73] M. Aurangzeb, D. Mikulski, G, Hudas, F.L. Lewis, and Edward Gu, "Stable Structures of Coalitions in Competitive and Altruistic Military Teams," Proc. SPIE Defense Symposium, Boston, April 2013.
- [74] S. El Ferik, B. Siddiqui, and F.L. Lewis, "Distributed Nonlinear MPC Formation Control with Limited Bandwidth," Proc. ACC, Washington DC, June 2013.
- [75] M. Abouheaf, F.L. Lewis, S. Haesaert, R. Babuska, K. Vamvoudakis, "Multi-Agent Discrete-Time Graphical Games: Interactive Nash Equilibrium and Value Iteration Solution," Proc. ACC, pp 4189-4195, Washington DC, June 2013.
- [76] J.M. Luna, R. Fierro, C.T. Abdallah, F.L. Lewis, "A Binary Consensus Approach to Decentralized Coordination of Nonholonomic Sensor Networks," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision & Control, Maui, Dec. 2012.
- [77] A. Gasparri, D. Di Paola, D. Naso, and F.L. Lewis, "Decentralized Discrete-Event Modeling and Control of Task Execution for Robotic Networks," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision & Control, Maui, Dec. 2012.
- [78] K. Hengster-Movric, Keyou You, F.L. Lewis, and Lihua Xie, "Synchronization of Discrete-Time Multiagent Systems on Graphs Using H2-Riccati Design," Proc. Int. Conf. Control Applics., pp. 439-444, Dubrovnik, Oct. 2012.
- [79] D.G. Mikulski, F.L., Lewis, E.Y. Gu, and G.R. Hudas, "Trust Method for Multi-Agent Consensus," Proc. SPIE Defense Symposium, Boston, April 2012.
- [80] K.G. Vamvoudakis and F.L. Lewis, "Policy iteration algorithm for distributed networks and graphical games," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision & Control, pp. 128-135, Orlando, Fla, Dec. 2011.
- [81] K.G. Vamvoudakis and F.L. Lewis, "Multi-agent differential graphical games," Proc. Chinese Control Conf., pp. 4932-4939, Yantai, China, July, 2011.
- [82] Z. Qu, C. Li, and F.L. Lewis, "Cooperative Control Based on Distributed Estimation of Network Connectivity," Proc. American Control Conf., San Francisco, June 2011.

- [83] D.G. Mikulski, F.L. Lewis, E.Y. Gu, and G.R. Hudas, "Trust dynamics in multi-agent coalition formation," Proc. SPIE Defense Symposium, Orlando, April 2011.
- [84] G. Gu, L. Marinovici, and F.L. Lewis, "Consensusability of discrete-time multi-agent systems under state feedback control," Proc. Chinese Control Conf., Yantai, March 2011.
- [85] A. Gasparri, D. Di Paola, G. Ulivi, D. Naso, F.L. Lewis, "Decentralized task sequencing and multiple mission control for heterogeneous robotic networks," Proc. Int. Conf. Robotics and Automation, Shanghai, May 2011.
- [86] G. Chen and F.L. Lewis, "Synchronizing networked Lagrangian systems via binary control protocols," Proc. IFAC World Congress, Milan, Italy, Aug. 2011.
- [87] Z.Qu, C. Li, F.L. Lewis, "Cooperative control based on distributed estimation of network connectivity," Proc. American Control Conference, pp. 3441-3446, San Francisco, 2011.
- [88] A. Gasparri, D. Di Paola, G. Ulivi, D. Naso, F. Lewis, "Decentralized task sequencing and multiple missions control for heterogeneous robotic networks," Proc. IEEE Int. Conf. Robotics and Automation, 2011.
- [89] L. Shuai, L. Xie, and F.L. Lewis, "Synchronization of multi-agent systems with delayed input information from neighbors," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision & Control, Atlanta, pp. 4529-4534, Dec. 2010.
- [90] H. Zhang and F.L. Lewis, "Synchronization of networked higher-order nonlinear systems with unknown dynamics," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision & Control, pp. 7129-7134, Atlanta, Dec. 2010.
- [91] G. Chen and F.L. Lewis, "Distributed adaptive controller design for unknown networked Lagrangian systems, Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision & Control, pp, 6698-6703, Atlanta, Dec. 2010.
- [92] F.L. Lewis and Abhijit Das, "Distributed observer, duality, and optimal regulator design for multi-agent systems, Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision & Control, pp. 7265-7271, Atlanta, Dec. 2010.
- [93] K.G. Vamvoudakis, D.G. Mikulski, G.R. Hudas, F.L. Lewis, and E.Y. Gu, "Distributed games for multiagent systems: games on communication graphs," Army Science Conf, paper EO-03, Orlando, 29 Nov- 2 Dec, 2010.

Won the Best Paper Award for Autonomous/Unmanned Vehicles, Army Science Conf. 2010.

- [94] Abhijit Das and F.L. Lewis, "Synchronization of Unknown Nonlinear Networked Systems via Cooperative Adaptive Control," Proc. Int. Conf. Control Applications ICCA, Xiamen, China, June 2010.
- [95] C. Li, Z. Qu, Abhijit Das, F.L. Lewis, "Cooperative Control with Improvable Network Connectivity," Proc. American Control Conf., Baltimore, June 2010.
- [96] F.L. Lewis, G. Hudas, K. Vamvoudakis, "Online Gaming for Learning Optimal Team Strategies in Real Time," Proc. SPIE Defense Symposium, paper 7692-33, Orlando, April 2010.
- [97] P. Ballal and F.L. Lewis, "Trust-based collaborative control for teams in communication networks, Proc. Army Science Conf., Orlando, paper EO-01, 3-5 Dec. 2008.

#### Control of Microgrid and Electric Power Systems

[98] V. Nasirian, H. Modares, F. Lewis, and A. Davoudi, "Active loads of a microgrid as players in a differential game," Proc. IEEE 7th International Symposium on Resilient Control Systems, Paper ID: ID-000388, Aug. 2015

#### This paper won the ISRCS 2015 Best Paper Award.

- [99] S. Abhinav, G. Binetti, F. Lewis, and A. Davoudi, "Toward intelligent fault classification in autonomous microgrids," IEEE Industry Applications Society Annual Meeting, Accepted in May 2015
- [100] V. Nasirian, F.L. Lewis, and A. Davoudi, "Distributed Optimal Dispatch for DC Distribution Networks," ICDCM, to appear 2015.
- [101] Mohammed Abouheaf, Sofie Haesart, Wei-Jen Lee, and F.L. Lewis, "Reinforcement Learning Techniques to Solve Non-Convex Economic Dispatch Problems," International Multi-Conference on Systems, Signals and Devices, 2014.

- [102] A. Bidram, A. Davoudi, and F. Lewis, "Finite-time frequency synchronization in microgrids," 2014 IEEE Energy Conversion Congress, Pittsburgh, PA, Sept. 2014.
- [103] G. Binetti, D. Naso, B. Turchiano, A. Davoudi, and F. L. Lewis, "Consensus-based Approach for the Economic Dispatch Problem," Proc. IFAC World Congress, pp. 3140-3145, Cape Town, S. Africa, Aug. 2014.
- [104] A. Shankar, G. Binetti, A. Davoudi, and F. L. Lewis, "Toward consensus-based balancing of smart batteries", *Proc. of 29th Annual IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference & Exposition* (APEC 2014), pp. 2867-2873, FortWorth, USA, Mar. 2014.
- [105] A. Bidram, F. L. Lewis, A. Davoudi, and S. S. Ge, "Adaptive and distributed control of nonlinear and heterogeneous multi-agent systems," *Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision & Control*, pp. 6238-6243, Florence, Dec. 2013.
- [106] A. Bidram, A. Davoudi, and F. Lewis, "Two-layer distributed cooperative control of multi-inverter microgrids," *Proc. IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conf. and Exposition*, Sept 2013, (Paper ID: 1493).
- [107] H. Behjati, A. Davoudi, and F. Lewis, "Cooperative current sharing in parallel dc-dc converters: distributed control," *IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conf. and Exposition*, Sept 2013, (Paper ID: 1269).
- [108] S. Abhinav, G. Binetti, A. Davoudi, and F. Lewis, "Graphical consensus-based balancing of smart batteries," *Digest accepted in IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conf. and Exposition*, Sept 2013, (Paper ID: 1184).
- [109] V. Nasirian, A. Davoudi, and F. Lewis, "Distributed adaptive droop control for DC microgrids," *Digest accepted in IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conf. and Exposition*, Sept 2013, (Paper ID: 1144).
- [110] H. Mohsenian-Rad and A. Davoudi, "Optimal demand response in DC distribution networks," *IEEE International Conference on Smart Grid Communication*, Accepted in July 2013, (Manuscript ID: 1569777837).
- [111] G. Binetti, M. Abouheaf, F. Lewis, D. Naso, A. Davoudi, and B. Turchiano, "Distributed solution for the economic dispatch problem," in *Proc. 21<sup>st</sup> Mediterranean Conf. Control and Automation*, pp. 243-250, June 2013.
- [112] A. Bidram, F. Lewis, A. Davoudi, and J. Guerrero, "Distributed cooperative control of nonlinear and nonidentical multi-agent systems," in *Proc.* 21<sup>st</sup> Mediterranean Conf. Control and Automation, pp. 770-775, June 2013.
- [113] A. Bidram, F.L. Lewis, A. Davoudi, Z. Qu, "Frequency Control of Electric Power Microgrids Using Cooperative Control of Multi-agent systems," Proc. IEEE Conf. CYBER Technology in Automation, Control, and Intelligent Systems," Nanjing China, May 2013.
- [114] A. Bidram, A. Davoudi, and F.L. Lewis, "Distributed control of AC shipboard power systems", IEEE Electric Ship Technologies Symposium, pp. 282-286, April 2013.

#### Aircraft, Aerial System, and Helicopter Control

- [115] E. Stingu and F.L. Lewis, "Design and implementation of a structured flight controller for a 6 DOF quadrotor using quaternions," Proc. Mediterranean Conf. Control and Automation, pp. 1233-1238, Thessaloniki, June 2009.
- [116] Abhijit Das, K. Subbarao, and F. Lewis, "Dynamic inversion of quadrotor with zero-dynamic stabilization", Proc. IEEE Multiconference on Systems and Control, pp. 1189-1194, San Antonio, Texas, September 2008.
- [117] Abhijit Das, F.L. Lewis, and K. Subbarao, "Neural network based robust backstepping control approach for quadrotors," Proc. AIAA Guidance, Navigation, and Control Conference, paper AIAA 2008-6780, Hawaii, Aug. 2008.
- [118] P.E. Stingu and F.L. Lewis, "A Hardware Platform for Research in Helicopter UAV Control," Proc. International Symposium on Unmanned Aerial Vehicles, Paper 18, Session II, UAV 08, Orlando, June 2008.

- [119] J. Gadewadikar, F.L. Lewis, K. Subbarao, and B.M. Chen, "Design of H-infinity command and control loops for unmanned aerial vehicles using static output feedback," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 5395-5400, New Orleans, Dec. 2007.
- [120] J. Gadewadikar, F.L. Lewis, K. Subbarao, and B.M. Chen, "Attitude control system design for unmanned aerial vehicles using H-infinity and loop-shaping methods," Proc. IEEE International Conference on Control and Automation, pp. 1174-1179, Guangzhou, China, May 2007.
- [121] F.L. Lewis, B.L. Stevens, and F. AL-Sunni, "Digital aircraft flight controls design using output feedback," Proc. National Telesystems Conf., pp. 13-18, Atlanta, Mar., 1991.

# **Discrete Event Control & Decision Systems**

Note: Additional papers on discrete event control are listed under 'Cooperative Distributed Control'

- [122] C.K. Pang, C.V. Le, O.P. Gan, G. Hudas, M.B. Middleton, and F.L. Lewis, "Discrete event command and control of multiple military missions in network centric warfare," 8<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Intelligent Unmanned Systems (ICIUS 2012), pp. 74-79, Singapore, Oct. 2012.
- [123] F.L. Lewis, G. Hudas, C.K. Pang, M.B. Middleton, and C. McMurrough, "Discrete event command & control for networked teams with multiple missions," Proc. Conf. Unmanned Systems Technology XI, paper 7332-28, SPIE Defense Symposium, Orlando, April 2009.
- [124] P. Ballal and F.L. Lewis, "Matrix formulation for Dempster-Shafer evidence computations: application in free-choice Petri nets for intelligent diagnostics," Proc. Int. Conf. Applic. and Theory of Petri Nets, paper WPNM-TMC-014, Xian China, June 2008.
- [125] P. Ballal, F. Lewis, J. Mireles Jr., K. Sreenath, "Deadlock Avoidance for Free Choice Multi- Reentrant Flow lines: Critical Siphons & Critical Subsystems," Proc. IEEE Mediterranean Conf. Control and Automation, paper T08-002, Athens, July 2007.
- [126] V. Giordano, J.B. Zhang, D. Naso, M.M. Wong, F.L. Lewis, and A. Carbotti, "Matrix-based discrete event control of automated material handling systems," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 6074-6079, San Diego, Dec. 2006.
- [127] P. Ballal, V. Giordano, and F.L. Lewis, "Deadlock free dynamic resource assignment in multi-robot systems with multiple missions: a matrix-based approach," Proc. IEEE Mediterranean Conf. Control and Automation, paper FM1-2, Ancona, June 2006.
- [128] V. Giordano, F. Lewis, B. Turchiano, P. Ballal, and V. Yeshala, "Matrix computational framework for discrete event control of wireless sensor networks with some mobile agents," Proc. IEEE Mediterranean Conf. Control and Automation, pp. 176-181, Limassol, Cyprus, June 2005.
- [129] J. Mireles, G. Bravo, F.L. Lewis, R. Campos, A. Ramirez, "On the development of MatrixC, a discrete event controller supervisor: implementation of a fuzzy logic dispatching approach," Proc. IFAC Symp. Systems Structure and Control, Oaxaca, Mexico, Dec. 2004.
- [130] R. Campos, P. Dang, J. Mireles, F.L. Lewis, "Implementing a multiple specification regulation controller: a case study," Proc IEEE Int. Conf. Systems, Man, Cybernetics, The Hague, Oct. 2004.
- [131] J. Mireles, P. Dang, and F.L. Lewis, "Virtual places for the development and implementation of modified matrix-based discrete event controller," Proc. Mediterranean Conf. Control and Automation, paper 1106, Kusadasi, Turkey, June 2004.
- [132] R. Campos, J. Mireles, A. Ramirez, E. Lopez, and F.L. Lewis, "A controller-observer scheme for a robotic cell." Proc IEEE Int. Conf. Systems, Man, Cybernetics, paper 906, Washington DC, Oct. 2003.
- [133] J. Mireles and F.L. Lewis, "Blocking phenomena analysis for discrete event systems with failures or preventive maintenance schedules," Proc. Mediterranean Conf. Control and Automation, paper T4-008, Rhodes, June 2003.
- [134] J. Mireles and F.L. Lewis, "Deadlock analysis and routing on free-choice multipart reentrant flow line using a matrix-based discrete event controller," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp.793-798, Las Vegas, Dec 2002.

- [135] J. Mireles, F.L. Lewis, and A. Gurel, "Deadlock analysis and routing on free-choice multipart reentrant flow lines using a matrix-based discrete event controller," Proc. ASME Int. Symp. Advances in Robot Dynamics and Control, New Orleans, Nov. 2002.
- [136] J. Mireles and F.L. Lewis, "Matrix constructions for implementation of a deadlock avoidance in discrete event supervisors," Proc. Int. Symposium on Robotics And Automation, Toluca, Mexico, Sept. 2002.
- [137] J. Mireles and F.L. Lewis, "On the development and implementation of a matrix-based discrete event controller," Proc. Med. Conf. Control and Automation, paper MED01-012, Croatia, June 2001.
- [138] B. Harris, D. Cook, and F.L. Lewis, "Combining representations from manufacturing, machine planning, and manufacturing resource planning (MRP)," Proc. AAAI Works[p on Representational Issues for Real-World Planning Systems, Austin, TX, July 2000.
- [139] S. Bogdan and F.L. Lewis, "New matrix formulation for supervisory controller design in practical flexible manufacturing systems," Proc. IEEE Int. Symposium Intelligent Control, pp. 144-149, Cambridge, MA, Sep. 1999.
- [140] S, Bogdan, F.L. Lewis, A. Gurel, and Z. Kovacic, "Timed matrix-based model of flexible manufacturing systems," Proc. Int. Symposium on Industrial Electronics, pp. 1373-1378, Bled, Slovenia, July 1999.
- [141] S. Bogdan, F.L. Lewis, Z. Kovacic, and S. Zvocak, "Deadlock avoidance in flexible manufacturing systems," Proc. 10<sup>th</sup> EDPE, pp. 179-182, Dubrovnik, Oct. 1998.
- [142] B. Harris, D. Cook, and F.L. Lewis, "Using machine planning to design manufacturing processes," Proc. AAAI Fall Symp. Integrated Planning for Autonomous Agent Architectures, 1998.
- [143] A. Gurel, F.L. Lewis, S. Bogdan, and O. Pastravanu, "Circular blocking in flexible manufacturing systems: a matrix-based analysis," Proc. IEEE Conf. Control Applications, pp. 786-791, Trieste, Sept. 1998.
- [144] A. Gurel, S. Bogdan, F.L. Lewis, and B. Huff, "Deadlock-free dispatching in finite-buffer reentrant flowlines with a matrix implementation approach," Proc. Mediterranean Conf. Control and Automation, Alghero, Sardinia, June 1998.
- [145] F.L. Lewis, S. Bogdan, A. Gurel, and O. Pastravanu, "Analysis of deadlocks and circular waits using a matrix model for discrete event systems," Proc. IEEE Conf. decision and Control, pp. 4080-4085, San Diego, Dec. 1997.
- [146] S. Bogdan and F.L. Lewis, "Matrix approach to deadlock avoidance of dispatching in multi-class finite buffer reentrant flow lines," Proc. IEEE Int. Symp. Intelligent Control, pp. 397-403, Istanbul, July 1997.
- [147] H.-H. Huang, F.L. Lewis, and D. Tacconi, "Deadlock analysis using a new matrix-based controller for reentrant flow line design," Proc. IECON, Taipei, Aug. 1996.
- [148] D.A. Tacconi,, F.L. Lewis, and H.-H. Huang, "Modeling and simulation of discrete event systems using a matrix formulation," Proc. IEEE Mediterranean Symp. Control and Automation, pp. 590-594, Crete, June 1996.
- [149] F.L. Lewis, "A matrix formulation for discrete event controller design," Workshop notes for "Petri Nets in Industrial Automation," IFAC World Congress, San Francisco, June-July, 1996.
- [150] A. Gurel, O.C. Pastravanu, and F.L. Lewis, "A deadlock avoidance policy for a class of FMS," Proc. IFAC Workshop on Intelligent Manufacturing Systems, vol. 2, pp. 361-366, Bucharest, Romania, Oct. 1995.
- [151] O.C. Pastravanu, A. Gurel, and F.L. Lewis, "MATLAB simulation of idempotent structures for discrete event manufacturing systems," Proc. EUROSIM Congress, p. 53, (Abstract only), Vienna, Sept. 1995.
- [152] F.L. Lewis and H.-H. Huang, "Manufacturing dispatching controller design and deadlock avoidance using a matrix equation formulation," Proc. Workshop on Modeling, Simulation, and Control Technologies for Manufacturing, SPIE vol. 2596, pp. 63-77, organizer Ron Lumia, Philadelphia, Oct. 1995.
- [153] F.L. Lewis, H.-H. Huang, R. Fierro, and D. Tacconi, "Real-time task planning, resource allocation, and deadlock avoidance," Proc. Workshop on Architectures for Semiotic Modeling, pp. 347-355, IEEE Int. Symposium on Intelligent Control, Monterey, Aug. 1995.

- [154] H-H. Huang, E. Del-Castillo, and F.L. Lewis, "Design of an FMS Controller for Job Shop Scheduling and Production Control," Proc. IEEE Mediterranean Symp. on New Directions in Control and Automation, pp. 195-202, Cyprus, July 1995.
- [155] F.L. Lewis, O.R. Mitchell, and K. Harbison, "Matrix-based controller for dispatching and routing in FMS with shared resources," Proc. NSF Design, Manuf., and Industrial Innov. Grantees Meeting, La Jolla, Jan. 1995. (2-page summary, published but unrefereed).
- [156] H.-H. Huang, N. Barzin, and F.L. Lewis, "A matrix framework for controller design for re-entrant flow line scheduling of FMS," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 1558-1563, Dec. 1994.
- [157] F.L. Lewis, H.-H. Huang, O. Pastravanu, and A. Gurel, "A matrix formulation for design and analysis of discrete event manufacturing systems with shared resources," Proc. IEEE Conf. Systems, Man, and Cybernetics, pp. 1700-1705, San Antonio, Oct. 1994.
- [158] O.C. Pastravanu, A. Gurel, and F.L. Lewis, ""Petri net based deadlock analysis in flowshops with Kanbantype controllers," Proc. ISPE/IFAC Int. Conf. on CAD/CAM, Robotics, and Factories of the Future, Ottawa, pp. 75-80, Aug. 1994.
- [159] H.-H. Huang, N. Barzin, and F.L. Lewis, "An FMS matrix framework for controller design for flow shop scheduling," Proc. ISPE/IFAC Int. Conf. on CAD/CAM, Robotics, and Factories of the Future, Ottawa, pp. 111-118, Aug. 1994.
- [160] O.C. Pastravanu, A. Gurel, H.-H. Huang, and F.L. Lewis, "Rule-based controller design algorithm for discrete event manufacturing systems," Proc. American Control Conf., pp. 299-305, June 1994.
- [161] A. Gurel, O.C. Pastravanu, and F.L. Lewis, "A robust approach in deadlock-free and live FMS design," Proc. IEEE Mediterranean Symp. New Directions in Control and Automation, pp. 40-47, Crete, June 1994.
- [162] F.L. Lewis, O.C. Pastravanu, A. Gurel, and H.-H. Huang, "Digital control of discrete event manufacturing systems," Proc. IFAC Workshop on Intelligent Manufacturing Systems, pp. 311-316, Vienna, June 1994.
- [163] H.-H. Huang, N. Barzin, and F.L. Lewis, "A Matrix Framework for manufacturing system scheduling and design," Proc. IFAC Workshop on Intelligent Manufacturing Systems, pp. 477-482, Vienna, June 1994.
- [164] F.L. Lewis, O.C. Pastravanu, and H.-H. Huang, "Controller design and conflict resolution for discrete event manufacturing systems," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 3288-3293, San Antonio, Dec. 1993.
- [165] F.L. Lewis, H. Huang, and S. Jagannathan, "A systems approach to discrete event controller design for manufacturing systems control," Proc. American Control Conf., San Francisco, pp. 1525-1531, June 1993.
- [166] F.L. Lewis, "A control system design philosophy for discrete event manufacturing systems," Proc. Int. Symp. Implicit and Nonlinear Systems, pp. 42-50, Arlington, TX, Dec. 1992.

## **Control of Industrial and Computer Processes**

- [167] C.V. Le, C.K. Pang, F.L. Lewis, O.P. Gan, H.L. Chan, "Intelligent Dynamic Resource Assignment for Energy-Efficiency in Industrial Stamping Machines," Proc. IEEE Industrial Electronics Society (IECON 2011), pp. 4131-4136, Melbourne, Nov. 2011.
- [168] C.K. Pang, C.V. Le, O.P. Gan, X.M. Chee, M. Luo, C.H. Leng, F.L. Lewis, "Intelligent energy audit and machine management for energy-efficient manufacturing," Proc. IEEE Int. Conf. Robotics, Automation and Mechatronics, CIS-RAM 2011, pp. 142-147, Qingdao, China, Sept., 2011.
- [169] C.K. Pang, T.S. Ng, F.L. Lewis, T.H. Lee, "A systems design approach to manage mechatronics R&D," Proc. IEEE Int. Conf. Robotics, Automation and Mechatronics, CIS-RAM 2011, pp. 136-141, Qingdao, China, Sept., 2011.
- [170] C.K. Pang, J.H. Zhou, Z.W. Zhong and F.L. Lewis, "Industrial Fault Detection and Isolation Using Dominant Feature Identification," Proc. Asian Control Conf., pp. 1018-1023, Kaohsiung, Taiwan, May 2011.

Won the Best Application Paper Award at Asian Control Conference, Taiwan, May 2011.

- [171] C.K. Pang, J.H. Zhou, Z.W. Zhong, and F.L. Lewis, "Tool Wear Forecast Using Dominant Feature Identification of acoustic emissions," Proc. IEEE Multi-Conference on Systems and Control, pp. 1063-1068, Tokyo, Sept. 2010.
- [172] C. K. Pang and F. L. Lewis, "System Identification of Modal Parameters in Dual-Stage Hard Disk Drives," Proc. 7<sup>th</sup> IEEE International Conference on Control & Automation (ICCA), WePT4.3, pp. 603-608, Christchurch, New Zealand, December, 2009.
- [173] C.K. Pang, J.H. Zhou, F.L. Lewis, Z.W. Zhong, "Tool Wear Forecast Using Singular Value Decomposition for Dominant Feature Identification," Proc IEEE/ASME Conf. Advanced Intelligent Mechatronics, Singapore, July 2009.
- [174] C.Y. Lai, F.L. Lewis, V. Venkataramanan, X.Ren, S.S. Ge, T. Liew, "Neural Networks for Disturbance and Friction Compensation in Hard Disk Drives," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 3640-3645, Cancun, Mexico, Dec. 2008.
- [175] X.M. Ren, F.L. Lewis, S.S. Ge, and J. Zhang, "Neural network feedforward control for mechanical systems with external disturbances," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 4687-4692, New Orleans, Dec. 2007.
- [176] G. Herrmann, F.L. Lewis, S.S. Ge, and J. Zhang, "Disturbance compensation for servo-control applications using a discrete adaptive neural network feedforward method," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 5965-5972, New Orleans, Dec. 2007.
- [177] C.K. Pang, S.S. Ge, G. Guo, B.M. Chen, F.L. Lewis, and T.H. Lee, "Improved Disturbance Rejection with Online Adaptive Pole-Zero Compensation on a Phi-Shaped PZT Active Suspension" Proc. ASME Conf. on Information Storage and Processing Systems, pp. 59-61, Santa Clara, CA, June 2007.
- [178] C.K. Pang, F.L. Lewis, S.S. Ge, G. Guo, B.M. Chen, and T.H. Lee, "Singular Perturbation Control for Vibration Rejection in HDDs with a PZT Active Suspension," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 6599-6604, San Diego, Dec. 2006.
- [179] H.-H. Huang, P.J. Gmytrasiewicz, and F.L. Lewis, "Combining matrix formulation and agent-oriented techniques for conflict resolution in manufacturing systems," Proc. ACME, Chicago, pp. 66-79, Aug. 1996.
- [180] P.J. Gmytrasiewicz, H.-H. Huang, and F.L. Lewis, "Combining operations research and agent-oriented techniques for agile manufacturing system design," Proc. IASTED Int. Conf. Robotics and Manufacturing, pp. 396-402, Cancun, Mexico, June 1995
- [181] K. Liu and F.L. Lewis, "Robust control of a continuous stirred-tank reactor," Proc. American Control Conf., pp. 2350-2354, June 1994.
- [182] F.L. Lewis, O.R. Mitchell, and K.A. Harbison, "Integrated modeling and control for intelligent material handling," Proc. NSF Design and Manufacturing Grantees Conf., MIT, Jan. 1994. (2-page summary, published but unrefereed).
- [183] F.L. Lewis, O.R. Mitchell, and K.A. Harbison-Briggs, "Integrated modeling and control for intelligent material handling," Proc. NSF Design and Manufacturing Systems Conf., pp. 1781-1787, Charlotte, NC, Jan. 1993. (2-page summary, published but unrefereed).
- [184] C. Temponi, J. Semple, and F.L. Lewis, "Positive systems for a class of production-inventory systems," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 2412-2416, Tucson, Dec. 1992.
- [185] C. Temponi, F.L. Lewis, and D.H. Liles, "The convergence of systems theory and manufacturing: an enterprise model," Proc. IFAC Workshop on Intelligent Manufacturing, pp. 12-17, Dearborn, MI, Oct. 1992.
- [186] C. Temponi, F.L. Lewis, J.D. Aplevich, and J.J. Mills, "A formulation for dynamical decision-making in an integrated manufacturing environment," Proc. IFAC Workshop Info. Control Problems in Manufac. Technology, pp. 15-20, Toronto, May 1992.

#### **Robotics and Human-Robot Interaction**

Note: For additional papers on robot control see 'Mobile Robots', 'Neural Networks', 'Fuzzy Logic', 'Stewart Platform', and 'Flexible and Vibratory Systems'.

- [187] H.H. Ji, D.G. Mikulski, A.N. Das, and F.L. Lewis, "A Trust-based Precision Automation Planning and Control for Robotic Manipulators," IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation for Humanitarian Applications, Kerala, India, Dec. 2016.
- [188] Nnennaya Udochu. M, Etse-Oghena Akpaibor, Akash P. Borate, Aakash G. Deshpande, and Frank L. Lewis, "Joint Behavioural Control of Autonomous Multi-Robot Systems for Leader–Follower Formation to Improve Human-Robot Interaction," Proc. Int. Conf. Pervasive Technologies Related to Assistive Environments, June 29, Corfu Greece, 2016.
- [189] Isura Ranatunga, S. Cremer, F.L. Lewis, and D.O. Popa, "Neuroadaptive Control for Safe Robots in Human Environments," IEEE Conf. Automation and Systems Engineering CASE, Aug. 2015.
- [190] I. Ranatunga; S. Cremer; D.O. Popa; F.L. Lewis, "Intent Aware Adaptive Admittance Control for Physical Human-Robot Interaction," *IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation (ICRA)*, May 2015.
- [191] G. Atmeh, I. Ranatunga, D.O. Popa, K. Subbarao, F.L. Lewis, P. Rowe, "Implementation of an Adaptive, Model Free, Learning Controller on the Atlas Robot," Proc. American Control Conf., Portland, June 2014.
- [192] P. Dang, F.L. Lewis, K. Subbarao, and H. Stephanou, "Shape control of flexible structure using potential field method," *Proc. IEEE Multiconference on Systems and Control*, pp. 540-546, San Antonio, Texas, September 2008.
- [193] P. Dang, H.E. Stephanou, F. Ham, and F. L. Lewis, "Facial Expression Recognition Using a Two Stage Neural Network," Proc. IEEE Mediterranean Conf. Control and Automation, paper T17-002, Athens, July 2007.
- [194] D.M. Dawson, R. Genet, and F.L. Lewis, "A hybrid adaptive/learning controller for a robot manipulator," Proc. Amer. Soc. Mech. Eng., Winter Meeting, vol. DSC-21, pp. 51-54, Dallas, Nov. 1990.
- [195] G.N. Maliotis and F.L. Lewis, "Adaptive control for robot manipulators: the Cartesian space formulation," Proc. Canadian Conf. on Elect. and Comp. Eng., Sept. 1990.
- [196] D.M. Dawson, F.L. Lewis, Z. Qu, and J.F. Dorsey, "Robust control for the tracking of robot motion," Proc. American Control Conf., pp. 722-726, San Diego, CA, May 1990.
- [197] D.M. Dawson and F.L. Lewis, "Robust force control for a robot manipulator," Proc. American Control Conf., pp. 2812-2814, San Diego, CA, May 1990.
- [198] D.M. Dawson and F.L. Lewis, "Adaptive and robust control of a robot manipulator without acceleration measurements," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, Tampa, FL, pp. 2629-2631, December 1989.
- [199] G.N. Maliotis and F.L. Lewis, "Improved robust adaptive controller for a class of partially known nonlinear systems," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, Tampa, FL, pp. 2155-2157, December 1989.
- [200] H. Kang, D. Dawson, F.L. Lewis, and G. Vachtsevanos, "A robust controller for rigid robots," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, Tampa, FL, pp. 2619-2620, December 1989.
- [201] D.M. Dawson, J.F. Dorsey, and F.L. Lewis, "Nominal adaptive control for a robot manipulator," Proc. Allerton Conf., Urbana, IL, Sept. 1989.
- [202] D.M. Dawson, C.T. Abdallah, and F.L. Lewis, "A simplified Lyapunov-based controller for a robot manipulator," Proc. American Control Conf., pp. 2337-2339, June 1989.
- [203] G.N. Maliotis, D.M. Dawson, and F.L. Lewis, "On the convergence of adaptive controllers for robot manipulators," Workshop on Nonlinear and Adaptive Robot Control, Merida, Mexico, May 1989.

#### Sensor Networks & Real-Time/Internet-Based Control

- [204] P. Ballal, A. Ramani, M. Middleton, C. McMurrough, A. Athamneh, W. Lee, C. Kwan, and F. Lewis, "Mechanical Fault Diagnosis using Wireless Sensor Networks and a Two-Stage Neural Network Classifier," Proc. IEEE Aerospace Conference, Big Sky, Montana, March 2009.
- [205] K. Alkharabsheh, W. Xiao. M. Manry, and F.L. Lewis, "Target Tracking and Interception in Wireless Sensor Networks with Compensation of Communication Delay," Proc. Int. Conf. Information, Paper P0676, Communications and Signal Processing (ICICS 2007), Singapore, Dec. 2007.

- [206] P. Ballal, V. Giordano, P. Dang, S. Gorthi, J. Mireles, F.L. Lewis, "A LabVIEW based test-bed with off-theshelf components for research in mobile sensor networks," Proc. Int. Symp. Intelligent Control, pp. 112-118, Munich, Oct. 2006.
- [207] J.Y. Lin, F.L. Lewis, W. Xiao, L. Xie, "Accuracy Based Adaptive Sampling and Multi-Sensor Scheduling for Collaborative Target Tracking," Proc. Int. Conf. Automation, Control, Robotics, Vision, pp. 7-12, Singapore, Dec. 2006.
- [208] D. O. Popa, M. F. Mysorewala, and F. L. Lewis, "Adaptive Sampling using Nonlinear EKF with Mobile Robotic Wireless Sensor Nodes", Proc. Ninth International Conference on Control, Automation, Robotics and Vision (ICARCV), pp. 1-6, Singapore, Dec 2006.
- [209] D. O. Popa, M. F. Mysorewala, and F. L. Lewis, "EKF-based Adaptive Sampling with Mobile Robotic Sensor Nodes", Proc. International Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems (IROS), pp. 2451-2456, Beijing, China, Oct 2006.
- [210] M.F. Mysorewala, D.O. Popa, V. Giordano, F.L. Lewis, "Deployment Algorithms and In-Door Experimental Vehicles for Studying Mobile Wireless Sensor Networks", Proc. 2nd ACIS International Workshop on Self-Assembling Wireless Networks (SAWN), pp. 290-295, Las Vegas, Nevada, USA, June 2006.
- [211] P. Dang, F.L. Lewis, and D.O. Popa, "Dynamic Localization of Air-Ground Wireless Sensor Networks," Proc. Mediterranean Conf. Control and Automation, paper WM1-1, Ancona, June 2006.
- [212] A.N. Das, F.L. Lewis, and D. Popa, "Data-logging and supervisory control in wireless sensor networks," Proc. ACIS Int. Workshop on Self-Assembling Wireless Networks (SAWN), pp. 330-338, Las Vegas, June 2006.
- [213] K. Sreenath, F.L. Lewis, and D. Popa, "Localization of a wireless sensor network with unattended ground sensors and some mobile robots," IEEE Int. Conf. Robotics, Automation, Mechatronics, Bangkok, Jun. 2006.

This paper won the IEEE RAM Conf. Best Paper Award 2006.

- [214] D.O. Popa, K. Sreenath, and F.L. Lewis, "Robotic deployment for environmental sampling applications," Proc. Int. Conf. Control and Applics., pp. 197-202, Budapest, June 2005.
- [215] O. Kuljaca, N. Swamy, J. Gadewadikar, F.L. Lewis, "Transfer Function Illustration With Simple Electronic Circuits", Proc. XXVII Int. Meeting MIPRO 2005, CE, Conference on Computers in Education, 2005.
- [216] V. Giordano, F.L. Lewis, B. Turchaino, P. Ballal, V. Yeshala, "Matrix computational framework for discrete event control of wireless sensor networks with some mobile agents," Proc. Mediterranean Conf. Control & Automation, Limassol, Cyprus, June 2005. *This paper won an award at MED 05*.
- [217] V. Giordano, F.L. Lewis, J. Mireles, B. Turchiano, "Coordination control policy for mobile sensor networks with shared heterogeneous resources," Proc. Int. Conf. Control & Automation, pp. 191-196, Budapest, June, 2005.
- [218] A. Tiwari, F.L. Lewis, and S.S. Ge, "Wireless Sensor Networks for Machine Condition Based Monitoring," Proc. Int. Conf. Control, Automation, Robotics, and Vision, pp. 461-467, *invited paper*, Kunming, China, Dec 2004.
- [219] N. Swamy and F.L. Lewis, "Routing algorithms in a novel hierarchical mesh network," Proc. IEEE 12<sup>th</sup> Symp. Mobile Computing, Bangalore, Nov. 2003.
- [220] N. Swamy and F. Lewis," Routing Algorithms in Hierarchical Mesh Networks with Failure Recovery", Proc. TENCON 2003, Bangalore, India, Oct. 2003.
- [221] J.A. Lowe and F.L. Lewis, "Real-time digital control in a teaching laboratory," Proc. Amer. Soc. Engineering Education Annual Meeting, NSF-DELOS Session, pp. 602-606, June 1994.
- [222] J.A. Lowe and F.L. Lewis, "Using TMS320 digital signal processors in a robotics lab," Proc. Texas Instruments Educators Conf., pp. 85-94, Aug. 1991.
- [223] C.O. Alford, R.T. Schaefer, and F.L. Lewis, "CDL simulation of INTEL 3000 computer system," Proc. IEEE Southeastcon, pp. 311-314, 1978.

#### **MEMS Microelectromechanical Systems**

- [224] M.H. Nikpanah, Y. Wang, and F.L. Lewis, and A.Q. Liu, "Real Time Controller Design to Solve the "Pullin" Instability of MEMS Actuators," Proc. ICARCV, Hanoi, Dec, 2008.
- [225] K.O. Owusu and F. L. Lewis, "Solving the Pull-in Instability Problem of electrostatic microactuators using nonlinear control techniques," Proc. IEEE Int. Conf. Nano/Micro Engineered Systems (IEEE-NEMS 07), Bangkok, Thailand, Jan. 2007.
- [226] Tong Zhang, Sheng Qiang, and F.L. Lewis, "An Optical Pressure Sensor Based on MEMS", Rare Metal Materials and Engineering, vol. 35, supplement, no. 3, pp.476-478, Dec. 2006.
- [227] Tong Zhang, Sheng Qiang, and F.L. Lewis, "Gas Sensor Based on Interdigitated Gate Electrode Field Effect Transistor", Rare Metal Materials and Engineering, vol. 35, supplement, no. 3, pp.140-142, Dec. 2006.
- [228] K.O. Owusu, F.L. Lewis, B. Borovic, and A.Q. Liu, "Nonlinear Control of a MEMS Optical Switch," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, San Diego, pp. 597-602, Dec. 2006.
- [229] B. Borovic, F.L. Lewis, K. Owusu, and D. Agonafer, "MEMS: control issues," Proc. Texas MEMS Workshop, El Paso, TX, Sept. 2005.
- [230] B. Borovic, C. Hong, X.M. Zhang, A.Q. Liu, and F.L. Lewis, "Open vs. closed-loop control of the MEMS electrostatic comb drive," Proc. Mediterranean Conf. Control and Automation, pp. 982-988, Limassol, Cyprus, June 2005.
- [231] S. Ramanathan, B. Borovic, A. Shacklock, and F.L. Lewis, "Behaviour-Based Vision-Guided Teleoperated MEMS Probestation," Proc. Mediterranean Conf. Control and Automation, pp. 1591-1596, Limassol, Cyprus, June 2005.
- [232] B. Borovic, A.Q. Liu, D. Popa, Z. Xuming, and F.L. Lewis, "Lateral motion control of electrostatic comb drive: new methods in modeling and sensing," Proc. 16th IASTED Int. Conf. on Modeling & Simulation, pp. 301-307, Cancun Mexico, May 2005.
- [233] B. Borovic, Hong Cai, Ai Qun Liu, Lihua Xie, F.L. Lewis, "Control of a MEMS Optical Switch," Proc. IEEE CDC, Bahamas, pp. 3039-3044, Dec. 2004.
- [234] B. Borovic, F.L. Lewis, M.M. Hossain, D. Agonafer, E.S. Kolesar, "Experimentally Verified Procedure for Determining Dynamical Model of the ETM MEMS Structures," Proc. 9th ITHERM, Emerging Technologies Track, pp. 541-548, Las Vegas, June, 2004.

## System Theory

- [235] F.M. AL-Sunni, M. Dikku, and F.L. Lewis, "Optimal LQR output feedback for discrete systems using nonstandard PI," Proc. Int. Conf. Automation, Robotics, and Computer Vision, pp. 277-281, Singapore, Nov. 1994.
- [236] F.M. AL-Sunni and F.L. Lewis, "Simultaneous output-feedback stabilization for continuous systems," Proc. 2<sup>nd</sup> IFAC Workshop System Structure and Control, pp. 360-363, Prague, Sept. 1992.
- [237] V.L. Syrmos and F.L. Lewis, "Geometric structure and output feedback," Proc. American Control Conf., Boston, June 1991.
- [238] F.L. Lewis, B.L. Stevens, F. AL-Sunni, and R.W. Wood, "Structured servo controller design using output feedback," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 2293-2299, Honolulu, Dec. 1990.
- [239] B.L. Stevens, P. Vesty, B.S. Heck, and F.L. Lewis, "Loop shaping with output feedback," Proc. American Control Conf., pp. 146-149, June 1987.
- [240] F.L. Lewis, J. Cheng, K. Davey, G. Vachtsevanos, and B. Purves, "On the hierarchical control of the space station common module thermal system," Proc. 25<sup>th</sup> IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 868-872, December 1986.
- [241] F.L. Lewis, B.L. Stevens, R.S. Kemp, and R.D. Marshall, "Eigenstructure assignment by dynamic output feedback," Proc. American Control Conf., pp. 963-969, Seattle, Washington, June 1986.

- [242] F.L. Lewis, "Generalized output nulling subspaces: application to system inversion," Proc. Joint American Control Conf., Charlottesville, VA, vol. II, paper FP-7D, June 1981.
- [243] F.L. Lewis, "The Riccati equation and output control," Proc. 12<sup>th</sup> Southeastern Symposium on System Theory, pp. 21-24, 1980.

#### Adaptive and Robust Control

- [244] J. Gadewadikar, F.L. Lewis, L. Xie, V. Kucera, and M. Abu-Khalaf, "Parameterization of All Stabilizing H∞ Static State-Feedback Gains: Application to Output-Feedback Design," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, San Diego, pp. 3566-3571, Dec. 2006.
- [245] J. Gadewadikar, F.L. Lewis, and M. Abu-Khalaf, "Necessary and sufficient conditions for H-infinity static output-feedback control," Proc. 16th IASTED Int. Conf. on Control & Applications, pp. 18-23, Cancun Mexico, May 2005.
- [246] P. Dang and F.L. Lewis, "Controller for Swing-Up and Balance of Single Inverted Pendulum Using SDRE-Based Solution," Proc. IECON, paper RF-549, Raleigh, NC, Nov, 2005.
- [247] S. Commuri and F.L. Lewis, "A framework for the discrete-time design of intelligent controllers using statestrict passivity," Proc. ISAI/IFIS, pp. 386-393, Cancun, Mexico, Nov. 1996.
- [248] S. Jagannathan and F.L. Lewis, "Robust implicit self tuning regulator/mrac convergence and stability," Proc. IEEE Int. Symposium on Intelligent Control, pp. 42-46, Monterey, Aug. 1995.
- [249] S. Commuri and F.L. Lewis, "A new methodology for the design of adaptive controllers using state-strict passivity," Proc. IEEE Mediterranean Symp. on New Directions in Control and Automation, pp. 265-271, Cyprus, July 1995.
- [250] C.-M. Kwan, F.L. Lewis, and K. Yeung, "Robust adaptive control of induction motors without flux measurements," Proc. American Control Conf., pp. 3515-3520, Seattle, June 1995.
- [251] S. Commuri and F.L. Lewis, "Stabilization of a class of nonlinear systems with ill-defined relative degree," Proc. American Control Conf., pp. 2712-2716, Seattle, June 1995.
- [252] K.M. Black, S.Q. Zhu, and F.L. Lewis, "Computing LQG/H-infinity bounded control with guaranteed convergence," Proc. American Control Conf., pp. 2755-2756, June 1994.
- [253] S. Commuri and F.L. Lewis, "Robust practical stabilization of nonlinear systems with ill-defined relative degree," Proc. IEEE Mediterranean Symp. New Directions in Control and Automation, pp. 299-306, Crete, June 1994.
- [254] K. Liu and F.L. Lewis, "Synthesis techniques for robust control systems via Lyapunov's direct method," Proc. Symposium on the Control of Robots and Manufacturing Systems, pp. 179-186, Ft. Worth, TX, 9 Nov. 1990.
- [255] F.L. Lewis, G. Maliotis, and C. Abdallah, "Robust adaptive control for a class of partially known nonlinear systems," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 2425-2427, December 1988.
- [256] H. Kang, G. Vachtsevanos, and F.L. Lewis, "Structural convergence improvement schemes on adaptive control," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 1941-1944, December 1988.
- [257] C.T. Abdallah and F.L. Lewis, "On robustness analysis in the control of nonlinear systems," Proc. American Control Conf., pp. 2196-2198, Atlanta, GA, June 1988.
- [258] C.T. Abdallah, F.L. Lewis, and B.L. Stevens, "A Routh-like algorithm in system identification and adaptive control," Proc. 25<sup>th</sup> IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 117-120, December 1986.
- [259] B. Stevens, R. Marshall, and F. Lewis, "Identification of nonprime systems," Proc. American Control Conf., pp. 1267-1269, Seattle, Washington, June 1986.
- [260] B. Stevens and F.L. Lewis, "STR for nonprime plant with some known dynamics," Proc. 23<sup>rd</sup> IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 387-391, December 1984.

#### Neural Networks for Control

- [261] F.L. Lewis, "A perspective on the development of intelligent neural control systems," Proc. European Control Conf., pp. 4447-4448, Kos, June 2007.
- [262] T. Cheng and F.L. Lewis, "Neural network solution for finite-horizon H-infinity state feedback control of nonlinear systems," Proc. European Control Conf., pp. 3248-3254, Kos, June 2007.
- [263] Tao Cheng and F.L. Lewis, "Neural Network Solution for Finite-Horizon H-infinity Constrained Optimal Control of Nonlinear Systems," Proc. IEEE Int. Conf. Control and Automation, pp. 1966-1972, Guangzhou, China, May 2007.
- [264] Tao Cheng and F.L. Lewis, "Fixed-Final Time Constrained Optimal Control of Nonlinear Systems Using Neural Network HJB Approach," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 3016-3021, San Diego, Dec. 2006.
- [265] Tao Cheng, F.L. Lewis, and M. Abu-Khalaf, "A Neural Network Solution for Fixed-Final Time Optimal Control of Nonlinear Systems," Proc. Mediterranean Conf. Control and Automation, paper TM2-3, Ancona, June 2006.
- [266] M. Abu-Khalaf, F.L. Lewis, and J. Huang, "Neural network H-infinity state feedback control with actuator saturation: the nonlinear benchmark problem," Proc. Int. Conf. Control and Applics., pp. 1-9, Keynote paper, Budapest, June 2005.
- [267] W. Gao, R.R. Selmic, and F.L. Lewis, "Robust composite saturation compensation for a single flexible link using neural networks," Proc. Mediterranean Conf. Control and Automation, pp. 280-285, Limassol, Cyprus, June 2005.
- [268] M. Abu-Khalaf, F.L. Lewis, and J. Huang, "Hamilton-Jacobi-Isaacs Formulation for Constrained Input Nonlinear Systems," Proc. IEEE CDC, pp. 5034-5040, Bahamas, Dec. 2004.
- [269] O. Kuljaca and F.L. Lewis, "Neural Network Frequency Control for Thermal Power Systems," Proc. IEEE CDC, pp. 3509-3514, Bahamas, Dec. 2004.
- [270] F.L. Lewis and M. Abu-Khalaf, "Hamilton-Jacobi-Isaacs Formulation For Constrained Input Systems: Neural Network Solution," Proc. Symp. Systems Structure and Control, paper 323, Oaxaca, Mexico, Dec. 2004, *invited plenary paper*.
- [271] F.L. Lewis, M. Abu-Khalaf, and J. Huang, "Robust optimal control of constrained input systems using neural networks," Proc. Chinese Control Conf., Wuxi, China, Aug. 2004, *invited keynote paper*.
- [272] M. Abu-Khalaf, F.L. Lewis, and J. Huang, "Computational techniques for constrained nonlinear state feedback H-infinity optimal control using neural networks," Proc. Mediterranean Conf. Control and Automation, paper 1141, Kusadasi, Turkey, June 2004.
- [273] R.R. Selmic, V.V. Phoha, and F.L. Lewis, "Intelligent compensation of actuator nonlinearities," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 4327-4332, Maui, Dec. 2003.
- [274] F.L. Lewis and M. Abu-Khalaf, "A Hamilton-Jacobi Setup for constrained neural network control," Proc. IEEE International Symp. Intelligent Control, paper Mon-PL, Houston, Oct., 2003, *invited plenary paper*.
- [275] M. Abu-Khalaf and F.L. Lewis, "Nearly optimal control laws for nonlinear systems with saturating actuators using a neural network HJB approach," Proc. Mediterranean Conf. Control and Automation, Rhodes, June 2003.
- [276] F.L. Lewis and M. Abu-Khalaf, "Nearly optimal state feedback control of constrained nonlinear systems using a neural network HJB approach," Proc. Int. Conf. on Intelligent Control Systems, Algarve, Portugal, April 2003, *invited plenary paper*.
- [277] O. Kuljaca and F.L. Lewis, "Fuzzy logic/neural network adaptive critic controller design," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 3356-3361, Las Vegas, Dec 2002.
- [278] M. Abu-Khalaf and F.L. Lewis, "Nearly optimal HJB solution for constrained input systems using a neural network least-squares approach," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 943-948, Las Vegas, Dec 2002.

- [279] O. Kuljaca, N. Swamy, F.L. Lewis, and C. M. Kwan, "Design and implementation of industrial neural network controller using backstepping," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 2709-2714, Orlando, Dec. 2001.
- [280] R.R. Selmic, and F.L. Lewis, "Multimodel neural networks identification and failure detection of nonlinear systems," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 3128-3133, Orlando, Dec. 2001.
- [281] G. Galan, S. Jagannathan, and F.L. Lewis, "A one-layer neural network controller with input preprocessing for autonomous underwater vehicles," Proc. IFAC Symposium on System Structure and Control, paper 119, Prague, Aug. 2001.
- [282] B. Borovic, O. Kuljaca, and F.L. Lewis, "Neural net underwater vehicle dynamic positioning control," Proc. Med. Conf. Control and Automation, paper MED01-066, Dubrovink, June 2001.
- [283] J. Campos and F.L. Lewis, "Backlash compensation with filtered prediction in discrete time nonlinear systems by dynamic inversion using neural networks," Proc IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, Sydney, paper ThM12-2, Dec. 2000.
- [284] R.R. Selmic and F.L. Lewis, "Neural net backlash compensation with Hebbian tuning by dynamic inversion," Proc IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, Sydney, paper WeA12-1, Dec. 2000.
- [285] J. Campos, R. Selmic, and F.L. Lewis, "Backlash compensation in nonlinear systems by dynamic inversion using neural networks," Proc. IASTED Int. Conf. Control and Appl., pp. 223-229, Cancun, May 2000.
- [286] J. Campos, F.L. Lewis, and R. Selmic "Backlash compensation in discrete time nonlinear systems using dynamic inversion by neural networks," Proc. IEEE Int. Conf. on Robotics and Automation, pp. 1289-1295, San Francisco, CA, April 2000.
- [287] F.L. Lewis, J. Campos, and R. Selmic, "On adaptive critic architectures in feedback control," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 1677-1684, Phoenix, Dec. 1999.
- [288] R.R. Selmic and F.L. Lewis, "Backlash compensation in nonlinear systems using dynamic inversion by neural networks," Proc. IEEE Int. Conf. Control Applications, pp. 1163-1168, Hawaii, Aug. 1999.
- [289] J. Ezzine and F.L. Lewis, "Disturbance accommodating neurocontrol," Proc. IFAC World Congress, pp. 367-372, Beijing, June 1999.
- [290] J. Campos and F.L. Lewis, "Adaptive critic neural network for feedforward compensation," Proc. American Control Conf., pp. 2813-2818, San Diego, June 1999.
- [291] R. Selmic and F.L. Lew,s "Deadzone compensation in nonlinear systems using neural networks," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 513-519, Tampa, Dec. 1998.
- [292] Y. Kim and F.L. Lewis, "Reinforcement adaptive learning neural network based friction compensation for high speed and precision," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 1064-1069, Tampa, Dec. 1998.
- [293] R. Selmic and F.L. Lewis, "Deadzone compensation in motion control systems using neural networks," Proc. IEEE Conf. Control Applications, pp. 288-292, Trieste, Sept. 1998.
- [294] F.L. Lewis and T. Parisini, "New developments in neurocontrol," Proc. IEEE Conf. Control Applications, pp. 86-91, Trieste, Sept. 1998. Invited paper.
- [295] F.L. Lewis, "Neural networks for control of nonlinear dynamical systems," Proc. NSF Design and Manufacturing Grantees Conf., pp. 695-696, Monterrey, Mexico, Jan. 1998. (2-page summary, published but unrefereed).
- [296] Y. Kim, F.L. Lewis, and D.M. Dawson, "Hamilton-Jacobi-Bellman optimal design of functional link neural network controller for a robot manipulator," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 1038-1043, San Diego, Dec. 1997.
- [297] Y. Kim and F.L. Lewis, "Hamilton-Jacobi-Bellman optimal design of CMAC neural network controller for robot manipulators," Proc. IEEE Conf. Systems, Man, and Cybernetics, pp. 1361-1366, Orlando, Oct. 1997.
- [298] Y.H. Kim, C. Kwan, and F.L. Lewis, "Multi-manipulator control using neural networks," Proc. IASTED Int. Conf. Robotics and Manufacturing, pp. 241-244, Cancun, May 1997.

- [299] S. Commuri, S. Jagannathan, and F.L. Lewis, "Control of robot manipulators using CMAC neural networks," Proc. IEEE Mediterranean Conf. Control and Automation, paper TP4-3, Paphos, July 1997.
- [300] R. Selmic and F.L. Lewis, "Neural network approximation of piecewise continuous functions: application to friction compensation," Proc. IEEE Int. Symp. Intelligent Control, pp. 227-232, Istanbul, July 1997.
- [301] S. Jagannathan and F.L. Lewis, "Feedback linearization in discrete-time using neural networks," Proc. IEEE Int. Symp. Intelligent Control, pp. 181-186, Istanbul, July 1997.
- [302] L.B. Gutierrez and F.L. Lewis, "Implementation of a neural net tracking controller for a single flexible link," Proc. American Control Conf., pp. 657-661, June 1997.
- [303] Y.H. Kim and F.L. Lewis, "Direct-reinforcement adaptive learning neural network control for nonlinear systems," Proc. American Control Conf., Albuquerque, pp. 1804-1808, June 1997.
- [304] S. Jagannathan, S. Commuri, and F.L. Lewis, "Feedback linearization using CMAC neural networks," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, Kobe, pp. 3304-3309, Dec. 1996.
- [305] Y. Kim and F.L. Lewis, "Nonlinear observer design using dynamic recurrent neural networks," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, Kobe, pp. 949-954, Dec. 1996.
- [306] R. Fierro and F.L. Lewis, "Practical point stabilization of a nonholonomic mobile robot using neural networks," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, Kobe, pp. 1722-1727, Dec. 1996.
- [307] S. Commuri, F.L. Lewis, and K. Liu, "Approximation-based neural network and fuzzy logic control," Proc. IFAC World Congress, pp. 337-342, San Francisco, June 1996.
- [308] Y.H. Kim and F.L. Lewis, "Output feedback control of rigid robots using dynamic neural networks," Proc. IEEE Conf. Robotics and Automation, Minneapolis, pp. 1923-1928, Apr. 1996.
- [309] C.M. Kwan, F.L. Lewis, and Y.H. Kim, "Robust neural network control of flexible-joint robots," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 1296-1301, New Orleans, Dec. 1995.
- [310] C.M. Kwan, D.M. Dawson, and F.L. Lewis, "Robust adaptive control of robots using neural networks: global tracking stability," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 1846-1851, New Orleans, Dec. 1995.
- [311] S. Commuri and F.L. Lewis, "Discrete-time CMAC neural networks for control applications," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 2420-2426, New Orleans, Dec. 1995.
- [312] C.M. Kwan and F.L. Lewis, "Robust backstepping control of nonlinear systems using neural networks," Proc. European Control Conf., pp. 2772-2777, Rome, Sept 1995.
- [313] S. Jagannathan and F.L. Lewis, "Multilayer discrete-time neural network controller for a class of nonlinear systems," Proc. IEEE Int. Symposium on Intelligent Control, pp. 427-432, Monterey, Aug. 1995.
- [314] S. Commuri and F.L. Lewis, "CMAC neural networks for control of nonlinear dynamical systems: structure, stability and passivity," Proc. IEEE Int. Symposium on Intelligent Control, pp. 123-129, Monterey, Aug. 1995.
- [315] C.M. Kwan, F.L. Lewis, and D.M. Dawson, "Robust neural network control of rigid-link electrically-driven robots," Proc. IEEE Int. Symposium on Intelligent Control, pp. 117-122, Monterey, Aug. 1995.
- [316] R.. Fierro and F.L. Lewis, "Control of a nonholonomic mobile robot using neural networks," Proc. IEEE Int. Symposium on Intelligent Control, pp. 415-421, Monterey, Aug. 1995.
- [317] C.M. Kwan and F.L. Lewis, "Robust backstepping control of induction motors using neural networks," Proc. IEEE Mediterranean Symp. on New Directions in Control and Automation, pp. 323-330, Cyprus, July 1995.
- [318] Yesildirek and F.L. Lewis, "A neural net controller for robots with Hebbian tuning and guaranteed stability," Proc. American Control Conf., pp. 2784-2789, Seattle, June 1995.
- [319] C.-M. Kwan, A. Yesildirek, and F.L. Lewis, "Robust force/motion control of flexible-joint robots using neural networks," Proc. American Control Conf., pp. 4460-4465, Seattle, June 1995.
- [320] S. Commuri, F.L. Lewis, S.Q. Zhu, and K. Liu, "CMAC neural networks for control of nonlinear dynamical systems," Proc. First Int. Conf. Neural, Parallel, and Scientific Computing, pp. 119-124, Atlanta, May 1995.

- [321] Yesildirek and F.L. Lewis, "A neural network controller for feedback linearization," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 2494-2499, Dec. 1994.
- [322] C.-M. Kwan, A. Yesildirek, and F.L. Lewis, "Robust force/motion control of constrained robots using neural network," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 1862-1867, Dec. 1994.
- [323] Yesildirek, M.W. Vandegrift, and F.L. Lewis, "A neural network controller for flexible-link robots," Proc. IEEE Int. Symp. Intelligent Control, pp. 63-68, Aug. 1994.
- [324] S. Jagannathan and F.L. Lewis, "Identification of a class of nonlinear dynamical systems using multilayer neural nets," Proc. IEEE Int. Symp. Intelligent Control, pp. 345-351, Aug. 1994.
- [325] S. Jagannathan and F.L. Lewis, "Discrete-time neural net controller with guaranteed performance," Proc. American Control Conf., pp. 3334-3339, June 1994.
- [326] S. Jagannathan, F.L. Lewis, and O.C. Pastravanu, "Model reference adaptive control of nonlinear dynamical systems using multilayer neural networks," Proc. IEEE Int. Conf. Neural Networks, pp. 4766-4771, June 1994.
- [327] Yesildirek and F.L. Lewis, "Feedback linearization using neural networks," Proc. IEEE Int. Conf. Neural Networks, pp. 2539-2544, June 1994.
- [328] Yesildirek, S. Jagannathan, and F.L. Lewis, "Continuous and discrete time neural network controllers," Proc. IEEE Mediterranean Symp. New Directions in Control and Automation, pp. 9-16, Crete, June 1994.
- [329] F.L. Lewis, A. Yesildirek, and K. Liu, "Neural net robot controller: structure and stability proofs," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 2785-2791, San Antonio, Dec. 1993.
- [330] F.L. Lewis, A. Yesildirek, and K. Liu, "Neural net robot controller with guaranteed stability," Proc. Int. Conf. Industrial Fuzzy Control and Intelligent Systems (IFIS), pp. 103-108, Houston, Dec. 1993.
- [331] F.L. Lewis, K. Liu, and A. Yesildirek, "Neural net robot controller with guaranteed tracking performance," Proc. IEEE Int. Symp. Intelligent Control, pp. 225-231, Chicago, Aug. 1993.

# Fuzzy Logic Control

- [332] O. Kuljaca and F.L. Lewis, "Adaptive elastic fuzzy logic controller," Proc. Mediterranean Conf. Control and Automation, Paper 1103, Kusadasi, Turkey, June 2004.
- [333] O. Kuljaca and F.L. Lewis, "Dynamic focusing of awareness in fuzzy control systems," Proc. Mediterranean Conf. Control and Automation, Paper T3-004, Rhodes, June 2003.
- [334] Y.H. Kim, F.L. Lewis, and C. Kwan, "Reinforcement adaptive fuzzy control for a class of nonlinear dynamical systems," Proc. IFAC Conf. New Technol. for Computer Control, Hong Kong, Nov. 2001.
- [335] J. Campos, F.L. Lewis, L. Davis, and S. Ikenaga, "Backstepping based fuzzy logic control of active vehicle suspension systems," Proc. American Control Conf., pp. 4030-4035, Chicago, June 2000.
- [336] J. Campos and F.L. Lewis, "Deadzone compensation in discrete time using adaptive fuzzy logic," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 2920-2926, Tampa, Dec. 1998.
- [337] K.T. Woo, Li-Xin Wang, F.L. Lewis and Z.X.Li, A fuzzy system compensator for backlash, Proc. Int. Conf. Robotics and Automation, pp. 181-186, Leuven, Beligum, May 1998.
- [338] Y.H. Kim and F.L. Lewis, "Direct-reinforcement-adaptive-learning fuzzy logic control for a class of nonlinear systems," Proc. IEEE Int. Symp. Intelligent Control, pp. 281-286, Istanbul, July 1997.
- [339] K.T. Woo, L.-X. Wang, F.L. Lewis, and Z.X. Li, "A fuzzy system compensator for backlash," Proc. Int. Conf. Robotics and Automation, pp. 1424-1429, Albuquerque, April 1997.
- [340] S. Commuri, and F.L. Lewis, "Design and stability analysis of adaptive-fuzzy controllers for a class of nonlinear systems," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, Kobe, pp. 2729-2730, Dec. 1996.
- [341] S. Jagannathan, F.L. Lewis, M. Vandegrift, and S. Commuri, "Feedback linearization of nonlinear systems using fuzzy logic systems," Proc. ISAI/IFIS, pp. 378-385, Cancun, Mexico, Nov. 1996.

- [342] S. Commuri and F.L. Lewis, "Design of discrete-time nonlinear adaptive-fuzzy controllers with guaranteed performance," Proc. IEEE Mediterranean Symp. Control and Automation, pp. 753-758, Crete, June 1996.
- [343] S. Commuri and F.L. Lewis, "Adaptive fuzzy logic control of robot manipulators," Proc. IEEE Conf. Robotics and Automation, pp. 2604-2609, Minneapolis, Apr. 1996.
- [344] S. Jagannathan and F.L. Lewis, "Discrete-time adaptive fuzzy logic control of robotic systems," Proc. IEEE Conf. Robotics and Automation, pp. 2586-2591, Minneapolis, Apr. 1996.
- [345] K. Liu, I.H. Yu, and F.L. Lewis, "Indirect adaptive fuzzy logic control system with guaranteed stability," Proc. Int. Conf. CFSA/IFIS/SOFT'95 on Fuzzy Theory and Applications, pp. 386-392, Taipei, Taiwan, 1995.
- [346] K. Liu, R.R. Shoults, and F.L. Lewis, "Applications of fuzzy logic technique in power systems," Proc. IFAC Symp. Control of Power Plants and Power Systems, pp. 291-296, Cancun, Mexico, 1995.
- [347] K. Liu and F.L. Lewis, "Implement variable structure control via fuzzy logic," Proc. European Control Conf., pp. 803-808, Rome, Sept 1995.
- [348] M.W. Vandegrift, F.L. Lewis, S. Jagannathan, and K. Liu, "Adaptive fuzzy logic Control of discrete-time dynamical systems," Proc. IEEE Int. Symposium on Intelligent Control, pp. 395-401, Monterey, Aug. 1995.
- [349] M.W. Vandegrift, F.L. Lewis, S. Zhu, and K. Liu, "Fuzzy logic control of a class of feedback linearizable nonlinear dynamical systems," Proc. IEEE Mediterranean Symp. on New Directions in Control and Automation, pp. 395-402, Cyprus, July 1995.
- [350] K. Liu, F.L. Lewis, and I.H. Yu, "Fuzzy logic approximation to unknown dynamic systems via input-output measurements," Proc. American Control Conf., pp. 4243-4248, Seattle, June 1995.
- [351] F.L. Lewis, S.Q. Zhu, and K. Liu, "Function approximation by fuzzy systems," Proc. American Control Conf., pp. 3760-3764, Seattle, June 1995.
- [352] K. Liu, R.R. Shoults, and F.L. Lewis, "Load-frequency control (LFC) via fuzzy logic," Proc. IEEE/EPRI Mission Earth Conf., pp. 35-41, Las Vegas, Jan. 1995.
- [353] F.L. Lewis and K. Liu, "Towards a paradigm for fuzzy logic control," Proc. Int. Joint Conf. NAFIPS/ISIS/NASA, pp. 94-100, San Antonio, Dec. 1994.
- [354] K. Liu, F.L. Lewis, and I.H. Yu, "Fuzzy logic modeling for unknown nonlinear systems by input-output measurements," Proc. Int. Conf. on Artificial Intel. and Expert Systems Applic., pp. 505-510, Houston, 1994.
- [355] K. Liu and F.L. Lewis, "Some issues about fuzzy logic control," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 1743-1748, San Antonio, Dec. 1993.
- [356] K. Liu and F.L. Lewis, "From min-max robust control to fuzzy logic control," Proc. Int. Conf. Industrial Fuzzy Control and Intelligent Systems (IFIS), pp. 134-137, Houston, Dec. 1993.
- [357] K. Liu and F.L. Lewis, "Fuzzy control needs clear ideas- discussions about FLC," Proc. First Chinese World Congress Intelligent Control and Intelligent Automation, pp. 855-860, Beijing, 1993.
- [358] K. Liu and F.L. Lewis, "A new fuzzy logic control scheme and its application in control of a flexible-link robotic system," Proc. First Chinese World Congress Intelligent Control and Intelligent Automation, pp. 933-938, Beijing, 1993.
- [359] K. Liu and F.L. Lewis, "Fuzzy logic control of a flexible link manipulator," Proc. Int. Symp. Implicit and Nonlinear Systems, pp. 21-26, Arlington, TX, Dec. 1992.

# Mobile Robots

- [360] M. Sun, F.L. Lewis, S.S. Ge, "Platoon-Stable Adaptive Controller Design," Proc. IEEE CDC, pp. 5481-5486, Bahamas, Dec. 2004.
- [361] F.J. Maldonado and F.L. Lewis, "Motion equations and kinematics simulation of mobile robots," Proc Electro 2000, pp. 315-319, Inst. Tecnologico de Chihuahua, Oct. 2000

- [362] S. Ikenaga, F.L. Lewis, J. Campos, and L. Davis, "Active suspension control of ground vehicle based on full-vehicle model," Proc. American Control Conf., pp. 4019-4024, Chicago, June 2000.
- [363] R. Fierro and F.L. Lewis, "Control of nonholonomic mobile robot: backstepping kinematics into dynamics," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 3805-3810, New Orleans, Dec. 1995.
- [364] S.Q. Zhu, F.L. Lewis, S.L. Campbell, and K. Ito, "A new method for maneuver planning and a family of paths," Proc. European Control Conf., pp. 3080-3085, Rome, Sept 1995.
- [365] R. Zulli, R. Fierro, G. Conte, and F.L. Lewis, "Motion Planning and Control for Non-Holonomic Mobile Robots," Proc. IEEE Int. Symposium on Intelligent Control, pp. 551-557, Monterey, Aug. 1995.
- [366] S.Q. Zhu and F.L. Lewis, "Trajectory planning and robust stabilization for autodrive cars," Proc. American Control Conf., pp. 820-824, Seattle, June 1995.
- [367] K. Liu and F.L. Lewis, "Fuzzy logic-based navigation controller for an autonomous mobile robot," Proc. IEEE Conf. Systems, Man, and Cybernetics, pp. 1782-1789, San Antonio, Oct. 1994.
- [368] K. Liu and F.L. Lewis, "Fuzzy logic-based navigation and maneuvering for a mobile robot system," Proc. IEEE Mediterranean Symp. New Directions in Control and Automation, pp. 555-562, Crete, June 1994.
- [369] S.Q. Zhu and F.L. Lewis, "Maneuver planning and robust path tracking for mobile robot nonholonomic systems," Proc. IEEE Mediterranean Symp. New Directions in Control and Automation, pp. 166-173, Crete, June 1994.
- [370] S. Jagannathan, K. Liu, and F.L. Lewis, "Modeling, control, and obstacle avoidance of a mobile robot with an onboard manipulator, Proc. IEEE Int. Symp. Intelligent Control, pp. 196-201, Chicago, Aug. 1993.
- [371] K. Liu and F.L. Lewis, "Control of mobile robot with onboard manipulator," Proc. Int. Symp. Robotics and Manuf., pp. 539-546, Santa Fe, Nov. 1992.
- [372] K. Liu and F.L. Lewis, "Decentralized continuous robust controller for mobile robots," Proc. IEEE Int. Conf. Robotics and Automation, pp. 1822-1827, Cincinnati, May 1990.

# **Stewart Platform Manipulator**

- [373] K. Liu, R. Glenn, T,J, Lawley, and F.L. Lewis, "Stewart-Platform based inlet duct painting system," Proc. IEEE Int. Conf. Robotics and Automation, Atlanta, pp. 106-113, May 1993.
- [374] K. Liu, G. Lebret, A. Lowe, and F.L. Lewis, "Control of a Stewart-platform-based robotic milling cell," Proc. ASME Winter Annual Meeting: Dynamic Systems and Control Vol. 39, pp. 23-30, Anaheim, Nov. 1992.
- [375] J.M. Fitzgerald, K. Liu, J. Lin, and F.L. Lewis, "Applications of Stewart platform manipulators in moving systems," Proc. SME Conf. Maintaining and Supporting an Aircraft Fleet, paper 31, Dallas, June 1992.
- [376] K. Liu, M. Fitzgerald, D. Dawson, and F.L. Lewis, "Modeling and control of a Stewart platform manipulator," Proc. ASME Winter Annual Meeting: Dynamic Systems and Control Vol. 33, pp. 83-89, Atlanta, Dec. 1991.
- [377] K. Liu, M. Fitzgerald, and F.L. Lewis, "Some issues about modeling of the Stewart Platform manipulator, Proc. Int. Symp. Implicit and Robust Systems, pp. 131-136, Warsaw, July 1991.

#### Flexible and Vibratory Systems Control

- [378] S. Ikenaga, F.L. Lewis, J. Campos, and L. Davis, "Active suspension control of ground vehicle based on full-vehicle model," Proc. American Control Conf. Chicago, June 2000.
- [379] S. Ikenaga, F.L. Lewis, J. Campos, and L. Davis, "Active suspension control of ground vehicle based on full-vehicle model: preliminary results" 70<sup>th</sup> Shock and Vibration Symposium, Albuquerque, Nov. 1999.
- [380] S. Ikenaga, F.L. Lewis, L. Davis, J. Campos, M. Evans, and S. Scully, "Active suspension control using a novel strut and active filtered feedback," Proc. IEEE Conf. Control Applics., pp. 1502-1508, Hawaii, Aug. 1999.

- [381] J. Campos, L. Davis, F.L. Lewis, S. Ikenaga, S. Scully, and M. Evans, "Active suspension control of ground vehicle heave and pitch motions," Proc. IEEE Mediterranean Conf. Control and Automation, pp. 222-233, Haifa, June 1999.
- [382] J. Lin and F.L. Lewis, "Partial states feedback two-time scale control of elastic beams subjected to moving vibratory systems," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 251-256, San Diego, Dec. 1997.
- [383] L. B. Gutiérrez and Lewis, F. L. "Implementation of a neural net tracking controller for a single flexible link: comparison with PD and PID controllers," in *Proc. 1997 American Control Conference*, Albuquerque, NM, June 1997.
- [384] L. B. Gutiérrez and F. L. Lewis, "Implementación de un controlador de seguimiento con redes neuronales para un brazo flexible sencillo: comparación con controladores PD y PID," in 2nd Colombian Automatics Association Congress, Bucaramanga, Colombia. Mar. 1997. (In Spanish)
- [385] J. Yu, F.L. Lewis, and T. Huang, "Nonlinear feedback control of a gantry crane," Proc. American Control Conf., pp. 4310-4315, Seattle, June 1995.
- [386] S.Q. Zhu, F.L. Lewis, and L.R. Hunt, "Robust stabilization of the internal dynamics of flexible robots without measuring the velocity of the deflection," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 1811-1816, Dec. 1994.
- [387] J. Lin, F.L. Lewis, and T. Huang, "Passive control of flexible structures subjected to moving vibratory systems," Active and Passive Control of Mechanical Vibration, PVP-Vol. 289, pp. 11-18, ASME Winter Annual Meeting, Nov. 1994.
- [388] S.Q. Zhu, S. Commuri, and F.L. Lewis, "A singular perturbation approach to stabilization of the internal dynamics of multilink flexible robots," Proc. American Control Conf., pp. 1386-1390, June 1994.
- [389] J. Lin, J. Yu, F.L. Lewis, and T. Huang, "A systematic formulation and simulation of the dynamic model for bridge vibration control," Proc. American Control Conf., pp. 1469-1473, June 1994.
- [390] M.W. Vandegrift and F.L. Lewis, "Improved reduced-order model for control of flexible-link robots," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 621-626, San Antonio, Dec. 1993.
- [391] J. Lin and F.L. Lewis, "Improved measurement/estimation technique for flexible link robot arm control," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 627-632, San Antonio, Dec. 1993.
- [392] J. Lin and F.L. Lewis, "Dynamic equations of a manipulator with rigid and flexible links: derivation and symbolic computation," Proc. American Control Conf., San Francisco, pp. 2868-2872, June 1993.
- [393] F.L. Lewis and M. Vandegrift, "Flexible robot arm control by a feedback linearization/singular perturbation approach," Proc. IEEE Int. Conf. Robotics and Automation, Atlanta, pp. 729-736, May 1993.
- [394] F.L. Lewis, D.M. Dawson, J. Lin, and K. Liu, "Tank gun-pointing control with barrel flexibility effects," Proc. ASME Winter Annual Meeting: Dynamic Systems and Control Vol. 31, pp. 47-54, Atlanta, Dec. 1991.

#### Construction Automation

[395] F.L. Lewis, "Robots and machine intelligence in construction," Handbook Amer. Inst. Constructors Nat. Forum, Dallas, Apr. 1993.

#### 2-Dimensional Systems

- [396] F.L. Lewis and A. Karamancioglu, "2-D frequency domain algorithm for solving the implicit Fornasini-Marchesini model," Proc. 13<sup>th</sup> IMACS World Congress, pp. 1281-1282, Dublin, July 1991.
- [397] A. Karamancioglu and F.L. Lewis, "Geometric theory for 2-D implicit Roesser systems," Proc. 13-th IMACS World Congress, Dublin, pp. 1832-1834, July 1991.
- [398] F.L. Lewis and A. Karamancioglu, "A geometric approach to singular 2-D systems," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 470-475, Honolulu, Dec. 1990.

- [399] G. Beauchamp, F.L. Lewis, and B. Mertzios, "Recent results in 2-D singular systems," Proc. IFAC Workshop on System Structure and Control, pp. 253-256, Prague, Czechoslovakia, Sept. 1989.
- [400] E.W. Kamen and F.L. Lewis, "Linear and externally bilinear multidimensional systems," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 658-660, December 1978.

### Singular/Descriptor Systems

- [401] P. Misra, V. Syrmos, and F.L. Lewis, "A numerical algorithm for the solution of generalized Lyapunov equations," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 3138-3143, San Antonio, Dec. 1993.
- [402] M. Kociecki, A. Banaszuk, and F.L. Lewis, "Output uniqueness and input acceptance for implicit linear systems," Proc. 2<sup>nd</sup> IFAC Workshop System Structure and Control, pp. 324-327, Prague, Sept. 1992.
- [403] V.L. Syrmos and F.L. Lewis, "Transmission zero assignment using semistate descriptions," Proc. American Control Conf., pp. 791-795, Chicago, June 1992.
- [404] V.L. Syrmos and F.L. Lewis, "Robust eigenvalue assignment in generalized systems," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, Brighton, England, Dec. 1991.
- [405] V.L. Syrmos and F.L. Lewis, "A general compensator synthesis approach for generalized systems using (C,E,A,B)-pairs," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, Brighton, Dec. 1991.
- [406] D. Fountain and F.L. Lewis, "Walsh Function solution of continuous two-point boundary-value problems," Proc. 13<sup>th</sup> IMACS World Congress, pp. 312-313, Dublin, July 1991.
- [407] V.L. Syrmos and F.L. Lewis, "Some new notions in geometric system theory," Proc. 13<sup>th</sup> IMACS World Congress, pp. 1328-1330, Dublin, July 1991.
- [408] V.L. Syrmos and F.L. Lewis, "Robust eigenstructure assignment for implicit systems," Proc. Int. Symp. Implicit and Robust Systems, Warsaw, July 1991.
- [409] Banaszuk, M. Kociecki, and F.L. Lewis, "On various kinds of invertibility of implicit systems," Proc. European Control Conf., pp. 66-70, Grenoble, July 1991.
- [410] V.L. Syrmos and F.L. Lewis, "On the applications of the generalized Sylvester equations to feedback design techniques in generalized systems," Proc. European Control Conf., pp. 394-399, Grenoble, July 1991.
- [411] D. Fountain, A. Banaszuk, and F.L. Lewis, "A new technique for observer design for implicit systems," Proc. American Control Conf., pp. 331- 332, Boston, June 1991.
- [412] Banaszuk, M. Kociecki, and F.L. Lewis, "Inversion of implicit linear systems: geometric conditions and a stable algorithm," Proc. American Control Conf., pp. 1187-1189, Boston, June 1991.
- [413] V.L. Syrmos and F.L. Lewis, "State feedback design using nonsquare descriptions," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 983-984, Honolulu, Dec. 1990.
- [414] K. Ozcaldiran and F.L. Lewis, "Some generalized notions of observability," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, Honolulu, pp. 3635-3639, Dec. 1990.
- [415] W.S. Gray, E.I. Verriest, and F.L. Lewis, "A Hankel matrix approach to singular realization theory," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 73-78, Honolulu, Dec. 1990.
- [416] F.L. Lewis and D.W. Fountain, "Some singular systems applications in circuit theory," Proc. International Symposium on Circuits and Systems, pp. 1380-1384, New Orleans, May 1990.
- [417] F.L. Lewis, "A tutorial on the properties of linear singular systems," IFAC Workshop on System Structure and Control, Prague, Czechoslovakia, Sept. 1989.
- [418] F.L. Lewis and D.W. Fountain, "Generalized notions in geometry and duality," Proc. American Control Conf., pp. 2146-2151, June 1989.
- [419] F.L. Lewis, "Computational geometry for design in singular systems," Proc. 12-th IMACS World Congress, pp. 184-186, Paris, July 1988.
- [420] M.A. Christodoulou, B.G. Mertzios, and F.L. Lewis, "Simplified realization algorithm for singular systems," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 1142-1143, Dec. 1987.

- [421] F.L. Lewis, "Subspace recursions and structure algorithms for singular systems," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 1147-1150, Dec. 1987.
- [422] F.L. Lewis, "Recent work in singular systems," Proc. Int. Symp. On Singular Systems, pp. 20-24, Atlanta, GA, Dec. 1987.
- [423] Ozcaldiran and F.L. Lewis, "A brief survey of geometric theory for singular systems," ICIAM, Paris, France, June, 1987.
- [424] F.L. Lewis and G. Beauchamp, "Computation of subspaces for singular systems," MTNS, Phoenix, AZ, June 1987.
- [425] F.L. Lewis and K. Ozcaldiran, "Large-scale dynamical interconnections of singular systems," MTNS, Phoenix, AZ, June 1987.
- [426] F.L. Lewis, "Preliminary notes on optimal control for singular systems," Proc. 24<sup>th</sup> IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 266-272, December 1985.
- [427] F.L. Lewis, and K. Ozcaldiran, "On the eigenstructure assignment of singular systems," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 179-182, December 1985.
- [428] F.L. Lewis, "Descriptor systems: fundamental matrix, reachability and observability matrices, subspaces," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 293-298, December 1984.
- [429] F.L. Lewis and K. Ozcaldiran, "Reachability and controllability for descriptor systems," Proc. 27<sup>th</sup> MSCAS, pp. 690-695, Morgantown, WV, June 1984.
- [430] K. Ozcaldiran and F.L. Lewis, "A result on the placement of infinite eigenvalues in descriptor systems," Proc. American Control Conf., pp. 366-371, San Diego, CA, June 1984.
- [431] F.L. Lewis, "Adjoint matrix, B,zout theorem, Cayley-Hamilton theorem, and Fadeev's method for the matrix pencil (sE-A)," Proc. IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, pp. 1282-1288, December 1983.
- [432] F.L. Lewis, "Inversion of descriptor systems," Proc. American Control Conf., San Francisco, CA, pp. 1153-1158, June 1983.

# **Book Chapters**

- K.G. Vamvoudakis, F.L. Lewis, and D. Vrabie, "Reinforcement learning with applications in Autonomous Control and Game Theory," Chap 19 in *Handbook of Computational Intelligence*, edited by P. Angelov, World Scientific press, World Scientific Publishing, Dec. 2021.
- [2] Bahare Kiumarsi, Hamidreza Modares, and Frank L. Lewis, "Reinforcement Learning for Distributed Control and Multi-Player Games", Chapter 2 in *Handbook of Reinforcement Learning and Control*, edited by K. G. Vamvoudakis, Y. Wan, F. L. Lewis, D. Cansever, Springer, 2021.
- [3] Lewis F.L., Vamvoudakis K.G. (2020) Neuro-Inspired Control. In: Baillieul J., Samad T. (eds) Encyclopedia of Systems and Control. Springer, London. DOI 10.1007/978-1-4471-5102-9\_224-3.
- [4] Hamidreza Modares, Isura Ranatunga, Bakur ALQaudi, F.L. Lewis, and D.O. Popa, "Intelligent humanrobot interaction systems using reinforcement learning and neural networks," Chapter 8 in *Trends in Control* and Decision-making for Human-robot Collaboration Systems, Springer, Berlin, 2017.
- [5] Hamidreza Modares, Bahare Kiumarsi, Kyriakos G. Vamvoudakis, and Frank L. Lewis, "Adaptive H∞ Tracking Control of Nonlinear Systems using Reinforcement Learning," Chapter 14, Adaptive Learning Methods for Nonlinear System Modeling, Eds. Danilo Comminiello and José C. Príncipe, Elsevier, 2017.
- [6] B. Kiumarsi, H. Modares, F.L. Lewis, "Optimal Tracking Control of Uncertain Systems: On-Policy and Off-Policy Reinforcement Learning Approaches," Chapter 5, in Control of Complex Systems, ed. K. Vamvoudakis and S. Jagannathan, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2016.
- [7] K.G. Vamvoudakis, F.L. Lewis, and D. Vrabie, "Reinforcement learning with applications in automation decision and feedback control," in *Handbook of Computational Intelligence*, edited by P. Angelov, World Scientific press, 2015.

- [8] K.G. Vamvoudakis, F.L. Lewis, and S.S. Ge, "Neural networks in feedback control systems," ed. Myer Kutz., 2014.
- [9] K.G. Vamvoudakis and F.L. Lewis, "Online learning algorithms for optimal control and dynamic games," Chapter 16 in *Reinforcement Learning and Approximate Dynamic Programming for Feedback Control*, edited by F.L. Lewis and D. Liu, John Wiley/IEEE Press, 2012.
- [10] D. Vrabie and F.L. Lewis, "Integral reinforcement learning for online computation of Nash strategies of nonzero-sum differential games," Chapter 15 in *Reinforcement Learning and Approximate Dynamic Programming for Feedback Control*, edited by F.L. Lewis and D. Liu, John Wiley/IEEE Press, 2012.
- [11] Gang Chen and F.L. Lewis, "Cooperative Control of Unknown Networked Lagrange Systems using Higher Order Neural Networks" Chapter 10, pages 214-236, in *Artificial Higher Order Neural Networks for Modeling and Simulation*, edited by Ming Zhang, IGI Global, 2012.
- [12] Abhijit Das and F.L. Lewis, "Distributed adaptive control for multi-agent systems with pseudo higher order neural net," Chapter 9 in *Artificial Higher Order Neural Networks for Modeling and Simulation*, edited by Ming Zhang, IGI Global, 2012.
- [13] K.G. Vamvoudakis and F.L. Lewis, "Online Adaptive Learning Solution of Multi-Agent Differential Graphical Games," in "Frontiers in Advanced Control Systems", ed. G.L. de Olveira Serra, chap. 2, Intech Publishing, Rijeka, Croatia, 2012.
- [14] Abhijit Das, F.L. Lewis, and K. Subbarao, "Sliding Mode Approach to Control Quadrotor Using Dynamic Inversion," in Challenges and Paradigms in Applied Robust Control, ed. A. Batroszewicz, InTech publishing, Rijecka, Croatia, November 2011.

This chapter reached 3000 downloads in March 2014.

- [15] D. Vrabie and F.L. Lewis, "Approximate Dynamic programming," Chap. 62 in *The Control Handbook*, second edition, W.S. Levine ed., CRC Press, 2011.
- [16] F.L. Lewis, M. Fitzgerald, and K. Liu "Robotics," in *The Computer Science Handbook*, Allen B. Tucker, Jr. ed., Chapter 71, CRC Press, 2011.
- [17] F.L. Lewis, "Optimal Control," Chap. 25 in *The Control Handbook*, second edition, W.S. Levine ed., CRC Press, 2011.
- [18] Abhijit Das and F.L. Lewis, "Distributed adaptive control for networked multi-robot systems," in *Multi-Robot Systems, Trends and Development*, ed. T. Yasuda, InTech publishing, Rijecka, Croatia, 2011.
- [19] K. Vamvoudakis and F.L. Lewis, "Online gaming: real time solution of nonlinear two-player zero-sum games using synchronous policy iteration," in *Advances in Reinforcement Learning*, ed. A. Mellouk, InTech Publishing, 2011.

This chapter reached 3000 downloads in May 2014.

- [20] D. Vrabie and F.L. Lewis, "Online Adaptive Optimal Control based on Reinforcement Learning," in Optimization and Optimal Control: Theory and Applications, ed. A. Chinchuluun, P.M. Pardalos, et al., pp. 309-324, Springer, Berlin, 2010.
- [21] Abhijit Das, F.L. Lewis, K. Subbarao, "Backstepping Control of Quadrotor: A Dynamically Tuned Higher Order Like Neural Network Approach," chapter 20, in *Artificial Higher Order Neural Networks for Computer Science and Engineering*, ed. Ming Zhang, IGI Global Publishing, Pa., USA, Feb 2010.
- [22] J. Gadewadikar, A. Bhilegaonkar, F.L. Lewis, and O. Kuljaca, "Results on H-infinity static output-feedback control of an electro-mechanical system," in *Technological Developments in Education and Automation*, pp. 123-128, Springer, Netherlands, Jan. 2010.
- [23] E. Stingu and F.L. Lewis, *Neuro Fuzzy Control of Autonomous Robotics*, in Encyclopedia of Complexity and Systems Science, ed. R.A. Meyers, Springer, Berlin, 2009.
- [24] Abhijit Das, F.L. Lewis, and K. Subbarao, "Quadrotor control by dynamic inversion with aerodynamics stabilization," in Computational Intelligence Control and Computer Vision in Robotics and Automation, ed. B. Subudhi, chapter 6, Narosa Press, New Delhi, 2009.

- [25] P. Ballal, F.L. Lewis, G.R. Hudas, "Trust-Based Collaborative Control for Teams in Communication Networks", in *Recent Advances in Nonlinear Dynamics and Synchronization*, ed. K. Kyamakya et al., pp. 347-363, Springer, Berlin, 2009.
- [26] K.G. Vamvoudakis and F.L. Lewis, "Online synchronous policy iteration method for optimal control," in Recent Advances in Intelligent Control systems, ed. Wen Yu, Chapter 14, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2009.
- [27] Hongwei Zhang, J. Huang, F. L. Lewis, "An Improved Method in Receding Horizon Control With Updating of Terminal Cost Function," in *Applications of Intelligent Control to Engineering Systems*, ed. Kimon Valavanis, Springer, Berlin, Chapter 14, 2009.
- [28] A. Al-Tamimi, M. Abu-Khalaf, and F.L. Lewis, "Heuristic Dynamic Programming Nonlinear Optimal Controller," in *Theory and Novel Applications of Machine Learning*, ed. V. Kordic, chapter 18, 2009.

This chapter reached 12,000 downloads in April 2017.

- [29] A. Al-Tamimi, M. Abu-Khalaf, and F.L. Lewis, *Discrete-time Control Algorithms and Adaptive Intelligent Systems Designs*, VDM Verlag Dr. Müller Verlag, July 2010.
- [30] A. Al-Tamimi, M. Abu-Khalaf, and F.L. Lewis, "Model-free adaptive dynamic programming algorithms for H-infinity control of complex linear systems," in *Modeling and Control of Complex Systems*, ed. P.A. Ioannou and A. Pitsillides, CDC Press, 2008
- [31] B. Borovic and F.L. Lewis, "Control of Optical Devices," Chapter 12, *Photonic MEMS Devices*, Ai-Qun Liu, CRC Press, Boca Raton, 2008.
- [32] B. Borovic and F.L. Lewis, "Control Strategies for Electrostatic MEMS Devices," Chapter 11, *Photonic MEMS Devices*, Ai-Qun Liu, CRC Press, Boca Raton, 2008.
- [33] P. Dang, F.L. Lewis, K. Subbarao, and H. Stephanou, "Optimal Placement of Microactuators for Distributed Control Using Neural Networks," in Recent Advances in Control Systems, Robotics, and Automation, 2 ed., ed. S. Pennacchio, pp. 29-36, InternationalSAR, Palermo, Italy, 2008.
- [34] D. Vrabie and F.L. Lewis, "Direct adaptive-optimal control: biologically inspired feedback control," in Advances in Statistical Control, p. 201, ed. C.H. Won, C. Schrader, and A.N. Michel, Birkhauser, Boston, 2008.
- [35] T. Cheng and F.L. Lewis, "Neural network solution of finite-horizon H-infinity optimal controllers for nonlinear systems," in Emerging Technologies, Robotics, and Control Systems, vol. 1, InternationalSAR, Palermo, Italy, pp. 59-65, ed. S. Pennacchio, 2007.
- [36] P. Dang, F.L. Lewis, D. Popa, "Dynamic localization of air-ground wireless sensor networks," in Advances in Unmanned Aerial Vehicles: State of the art and road to autonomy, ed. K. Valavanis, chapter 14, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2007.
- [37] F.L. Lewis and S.S. Ge, "Neural Networks in Feedback Control Systems," in *Mechanical Engineer's Handbook*, Instrumentation, Systems, Controls, and MEMS, Book 2, ed. Meyer Kutz, Chapter 19, John Wiley, New York, 2006.
- [38] B. Borovic, F.L. Lewis, and A.Q. Liu, "Feedback Control for MEMS," in *Systems and Control*, ed. M. Jamshidi, pp. 45-54, TSI Press, Albuquerque, 2006.
- [39] D.O. Popa and F.L. Lewis, "Algorithms for robotic deployment of WSN in adaptive sampling applications," in *Wireless Sensor Networks and Applications*, Chapter 2, ed. Y. Li, M. Thai, and W. Wu, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2007.
- [40] V. Giordano, F.L. Lewis, P. Ballal, and B. Turchiano, "Supervisory control for task assignment and resource dispatching in mobile wireless sensor networks," in *Cutting Edge Robotics*, ed. V. Kordic, p. 133-152, 2005.
- [41] F. Hong, S.S. Ge, F.L. Lewis, and T.H. Lee, "Adaptive neural-fuzzy control of nonholonomic mobile robots, in *Autonomous Mobile Robots: Sensing, Control, Decision-Making, and Applications*, ed. S.S. Ge and F.L. Lewis, CRC Press, 2005.
- [42] M. Abu-Khalaf and F.L. Lewis, "A Neural Network Approach for Nearly Optimal Control of Constrained Nonlinear Systems," in *Intelligent Systems Using Soft Computing Methodologies*, ed. A. Ruano, IEE Press, Stevenage, UK, 2005.

- [43] F.L. Lewis, "Wireless Sensor Networks," in *Smart Environments: Technologies, Protocols, Applications,* Chapter 2, ed. D.J. Cook and S.K. Das, Wiley, New York, 2005.
- [44] J. Mireles, F.L. Lewis, A. Gurel, and S. Bogdan, "Deadlock Avoidance Algorithms and Implementation, a Matrix-Based Approach," in *Deadlock Resolution in Computer-Integrated Systems*, chapter 7, ed. Mengchu Zhou, Marcel Dekker, New York, 2004.
- [45] J. Mireles and F.L. Lewis, "Blocking Phenomena Analysis for Discrete Event Systems with Failures or Preventive Maintenance Schedules," in *Advances in Automatic Control*, pp. 225-238, ed. Mihail Voicu, Kluwer, Boston, 2003.
- [46] J. Campos and F.L. Lewis, "Neural Control Systems," Encyclopedia of Life Support Systems, ed. H. Unbehauen, chapter 6.43.24, EOLSS Publishers, Oxford, UK, 2003.
- [47] R.R. Selmic and F.L. Lewis, "Deadzone Compensation in Motion Control Systems Using Augmented Multilayer Neural Networks," in *Adaptive Control of Nonsmooth Dynamic Systems*, ed. G. Tao and F.L. Lewis, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2001.
- [48] R.R. Selmic and F.L. Lewis, "Neural Network Approximation of Piecewise Continuous Functions: Application to Friction Compensation," in Soft Computing and Intelligent Control Systems: Theory and Applications, Chap. 20, pp. 491-517, ed. N.K. Sinha and M.M. Gupta, Academic Press, London, 2000.
- [49] D. Labalo, A. Gurel, F.L. Lewis, and S. Bogdan, "Modeling and information structures for supervisory control of flexible manufacturing systems," in Information Infrastructure Systems for Manufacturing, Chap. 20, ed. J. Mills and F. Kimura, Kluwer, London, 1999.
- [50] A. Gurel, S. Bogdan, F.L. Lewis, and B. Huff, "Deadlock-free dispatching in finite-buffer reentrant flowlines with a matrix implementation approach," in Theory and Practice of Control and Systems, ed. A. Tornambe, G. Conte, A.M. Perdon, World Scientific Press, Singapore, 1999.
- [51] S. Jagannathan and F.L. Lewis, "Discrete-time neural network control of nonlinear systems," in Intelligent Adaptive Control, ed. L.C. Jain and C.W. de Silva, chap. 6, CRC Press, New York, 1999.
- [52] F. L. Lewis and Y.H. Kim, "Neural Networks for Feedback Control," in Encyclopedia of Electrical and Electronics Engineering, vol. 14, pp. 277-298, ed. J.G. Webster, New York: Wiley, 1999.
- [53] S. Commuri and F. L. Lewis, "Cerebellar Model Arithmetic Computers," in Encyclopedia of Electrical and Electronics Engineering, vol. 3, pp. 153-165, ed. J.G. Webster, New York: Wiley, 1999.
- [54] R. Fierro and F. L. Lewis, "Robot Kinematics," in Encyclopedia of Electrical and Electronics Engineering, vol. 18, pp. 559-571, ed. J.G. Webster, New York: Wiley, 1999.
- [55] Y.H. Kim and F.L. Lewis, "Dynamic Neural Networks for Closed-Loop Feedback Control and Estimation of Uncertain Nonlinear Systems," in Industrial and Manufacturing Systems: Neural Network Systems Techniques and Applications, pp. 213-271, ed. C.T. Leondes, 1998.
- [56] A. Gurel, O.C. Pastravanu, and F.L. Lewis, "A system-theoretic approach for discrete-event control of manufacturing systems," in Idempotency, pp. 243-261, Cambridge Univ. Press, 1998.
- [57] F.L. Lewis, "Robotics," in Handbook of Mechanical Engineering, F. Kreith ed., chapter 14, CRC Press, 1998.
- [58] F.L. Lewis, S. Jagannathan, and A. Yesildirek, "Neural Network Control of Robot Arms and Nonlinear Systems," in Neural Systems for Control, O. Omidvar and D.L. Elliott ed., chap. 7, Academic, Boston, 1997.
- [59] F.L. Lewis, D.Tacconi, H.-H. Huang, A. Gurel, and O. Pastravanu, "Manufacturing controller design and deadlock avoidance using a matrix model for discrete event systems," in Methods and Applications of Intelligent Control, ed. S. Tzafestas, chapter 17, 1997.
- [60] K. Liu, F.L. Lewis, and R.R. Shoults, "Application of intelligent control techniques in advanced AGC," in Methods and Applications of Intelligent Control, ed. S. Tzafestas, Chapter 16, 1997.
- [61] F.L. Lewis, "Optimal Control--- Lesson 5", in IEEE Self-Study Course on Modern Control Systems, ed. M.K. Masten, 1995.

- [62] F.L. Lewis, "Techniques in 2-D Implicit Systems," in Multidimensional Systems: Signal Processing and Modeling Techniques, Control and Dynamic Systems, Vol. 69, pp. 89-131, C.T. Leondes ed., Academic Press, 1995.
- [63] F.L. Lewis, H.H. Huang, O.C. Pastravanu, and A. Gurel, "Control System Design for Flexible Manufacturing Systems," in Flexible Manufacturing Systems: Recent Developments, pp. 253-290, A. Raouf and M. Ben Daya eds., Elsevier, 1995.
- [64] F.L. Lewis, "Optimal control (linear systems)", in McGraw-Hill Encyclopedia of Science and Technology, pp. 468-472, 1994.
- [65] J.A. Lowe and F.L. Lewis, "Digital signal processor implementation of a Kalman filter for disk drive headpositioning mechanism," in Microprocessors in Robotic and Manufacturing Systems, S. Tzafestas ed., pp. 369-383, 1991.
- [66] F.L. Lewis, G. Beauchamp, and V.L. Syrmos, "Some useful aspects of the infinite structure in singular systems," in Realization and Modelling in System Theory, M.A. Kaashoek, J.H. van Schuppen, and A.C.M. Ran, eds., pp. 263-270, Boston: Birkhauser, 1990.

# **Journal Special Issues**

- Derong Liu, F.L. Lewis, Qinglai Wei, "Special Issue on Adaptive Dynamic Programming and Reinforcement Learning," IEEE Trans. Systems, Man, and Cybernetics: Systems, vol. 50, no. 11, Nov. 2020.
- [2] Tao Yang, Ziyang Meng, Yan Wan, Dimos Dimarogonas, Wei Ren, F.L. Lewis, Special Issue on "Distributed Optimization for Networked Cyber-Physical Systems," IET Control Theory & Applications, Aug. 2019.
- [3] Mouhacine Benosman, F.L. Lewis, Martin Guay, and David Owens, Special Issue on "Learning-Based Adaptive Control: Theory and Applications," J. Adaptive Control and Signal Processing, Feb. 2019.
- [4] Dongbin Zhao, Derong Liu, F.L. Lewis, J. Principe, and S. Squartini, Special Issue on Deep Reinforcement Learning and Adaptive Dynamic Programming, IEEE Trans. Neural Networks and Learning Systems, vol. 29, no. 6, 2018.
- [5] Daizhan Cheng, F.L. Lewis, M.W. Spong, Jiangbo Liu, and Jin Zhang, "Special Issue for T.J. Tarn's 80<sup>th</sup> Birthday," Control Theory and Technology, vol. 15, no. 4, Nov. 2017.
- [6] Zhongsheng Hou, Huijun Gao, and F.L. Lewis, "Special Issue on Data-Driven Control and Learning Systems, IEEE Trans. Industrial Electronics, vol. 64, no. 5, May 2017.
- [7] Song, Y. D., Lewis, F. L., Polycarpou, M., Prokhorov, D., Zhao, D., Special Issue on New Developments in Neural Network Structures for Signal Processing, Autonomous Decision, and Adaptive Control, IEEE Trans. Neural Networks and Learning Systems, vol. 28. No. 3, March 2017.
- [8] Jinliang Ding, Y.D. Song, T.Y. Chai, S. Jagannathan, and F.L. Lewis, Special Issue on "Data-driven Control, and Data-Based System Modelling, Monitoring, and Control," IET Control Theory & Applications, 2015.
- [9] Y.D. Song, F.L. Lewis, M. Polycarpou, D. Prokhorov, Dongbin, Zhao, Special Issue on "New Developments in Neural Network Structures for Signal Processing, Autonomous Decision, and Adaptive Control," IEEE Transactions on Neural Networks and Learning Systems, 2015.
- [10] F.L. Lewis, W. Dixon, Z. Hou, and T. Tucelen, "Special Issue on Extensions of Reinforcement Learning and Adaptive Control," *Acta Automatic Sinica*, 2015.
- [11] D. Mikulski, G. Hudas, Sajal Das, and F.L. Lewis, "Special Issue on Modeling & Simulation for Cyber Security of Autonomous Vehicle Systems," J. Defense Modeling & Simulation, vol. 12, no. 4, Oct. 2015.
- [12] Keyou You, Zhongkui Li, D.E. Quevedo, and F.L. Lewis, "Special Issue on "Recent Developments in Networked Control and Estimation," IET Control Theory and Applications, Jan. 2015.
- [13] A. Davoudi, J.M. Guerrero, F.L. Lewis, et al., Special Issue on "Advanced Distributed Control of Energy Conversion Devices and Systems," IEEE Trans. Energy Conversion, Dec. 2014.

- [14] Xin Xu, Cong Wang, and F.L. Lewis, Special Issue on Learning Issues in Feedback Control of Uncertain Dynamical Systems, Int. J. Adaptive Control and Signal Proc., vol. 28, Mar-May 2014.
- [15] D. Mikulski, G. Hudas, and F.L. Lewis, "Special Issue on Intelligent Behaviors of Unmanned Systems," J. Defense Modeling & Simulation, vol. 11, no. 1, Jan. 2014.
- [16] L. Zhang, H. Gao, F.L. Lewis, and O. Kaynak, Special Section on "Networked Control Systems," IEEE Transactions on Industrial Informatics, vol. 9, no.1, Feb. 2013.
- [17] G. Hudas, D. Mikulski, and F.L. Lewis, "Special Issue on Intelligent Behaviors for Tactical Unmanned Systems," J. Defense Modeling & Simulation, vol. 9, no. 1, Jan. 2012.
- [18] S. Ferrari, S. Jagannathan, and F.L. Lewis, "Special Issue on Approximate Dynamic Programming and Reinforcement Learning," Journal of Control Theory and Applications, vol. 9, no. 3, Aug. 2011.
- [19] Lihua Xie and F.L. Lewis, "Special Issue on Networked Sensing, Decision, and Control," J. Control Theory and Applications, vol. 8, no. 1, Springer, Feb. 2010.
- [20] G. Vachtsevanos and F.L. Lewis, "Special Issue on Intelligent Diagnostics and Prognostics," Trans. Inst. Measurement and Control, vol. 31, no. 3/4, June/August 2009.
- [21] F.L. Lewis, G. Lendaris, and Derong Liu, "Special Issue on Approximate Dynamic Programming and Reinforcement Learning for Feedback Control," IEEE Trans. Systems, Man, and Cybernetics, Part B, vol. 38, no. 4, August 2008.
- [22] Tao Zhang, Sam Ge, and F.L. Lewis, "Special Issue on Intelligent Control and its Applications to Hard Disk Drives," International Journal of Adaptive Control and Signal Processing, 2007.
- [23] F.L. Lewis, D. Wunsch, J. Huang, D. Prokhorov, and T. Parisini ed., "Special Issue on Neural Networks for Feedback Control," IEEE Trans. Neural Networks, vol. 18, no. 4, July 2007.
- [24] K.S. Narendra and F.L. Lewis ed., "Special Issue on Neural Network Feedback Control, Automatica, Aug. 2001.
- [25] Guest Editor, Int. Journal of Control, Special Issue on "Neural Networks Feedback Control with Guaranteed Stability," vol. 70, no. 3, 1998.
- [26] F.L. Lewis and K. Liu, Guest Editors, Int. J. Intelligent Control and Systems, Special Issue on "Neural Network and Fuzzy Logic Applications in Feedback Control," vol. 1, no. 2, June 1996.
- [27] Guest Editor, Circuits, Systems, and Signal Processing, Special Issue on "Implicit and Robust Systems," vol. 13, no. 6, 1994.
- [28] Guest Editor, Journal of Intelligent and Robotic Systems: Theory and Applications, Special Issue on "Control of Robots and Manufacturing Systems," vol. 6, no.1, 1992.
- [29] Guest Editor, Circuits, Systems, and Signal Processing, Special Issue on "Recent Advances in Singular Systems," vol. 8, no. 3, 1989.
- [30] Guest Editor, Circuits, Systems, and Signal Processing, Special Issue on "Semistate Systems," vol. 5, no. 1, 1986.

# **Proceedings and Reprint Volumes**

- [1] K.P. Valavanis, F.L. Lewis, K.S. Barber, and C. Abdallah, Proc. IEEE Int. Symposium on Intelligent Control, Monterey, Aug. 1995.
- [2] P. Ioannou, N. Stylianopoulos, and F.L. Lewis, Proc. IEEE Mediterranean Symp. New Directions in Control and Automation, Cyprus, July 1995.
- [3] K.P. Valavanis, G.N. Saridis, F.L. Lewis, and G. Stavrakakis, Proc. IEEE Mediterranean Symp. New Directions in Control and Automation, Crete, June 1994.
- [4] F.L. Lewis, ed., Proc. Int. Symp. on Implicit and Nonlinear Systems, Arlington, TX, Dec. 1992.
- [5] N. Sadegh and F.L. Lewis, ed., Advanced Control Issues for Robot Manipulators, DSC Vol. 39, ASME Winter Annual Meeting, Anaheim, Nov. 1992.

- [6] S.L. Campbell, M. Kociecki, and F.L. Lewis, ed., Proceedings of the Symposium on Implicit and Robust Systems, Warsaw, Poland, July 1991.
- [7] J.J. Mills, O.R. Mitchell, and F.L. Lewis, ed., Proceedings of the Symposium on the Control of Robots and Manufacturing Systems, Arlington, TX, Nov. 1990.
- [8] F.L. Lewis, ed., Proceedings of the International Symposium on Singular Systems, Atlanta, GA, Dec. 1987.

### Magazine and Trade Journal Articles

- [1] P. Ballal and F.L. Lewis, "Issue in Wireless Sensor Networks," Industrial Automation Asia (IAA) Magazine, Editorial, Sept. 2007.
- [2] F.L. Lewis, Neural network feedback control: work at UTA's Automation & Robotics Research Inst, J. Intelligent & Robotic Systems, Education paper, vol. 48, no. 4, pp. 513-523, 2007.
- [3] B. Borovic, F.L. Lewis, W. McCulley, A.Q. Liu, E.S. Kolesar, D. Popa. "Control issues for MEMS," IEEE Control Systems Magazine, pp. 18-21, April 2006.
- [4] D.M. Dawson and F.L. Lewis, "High-level language software: its application in the robotics field," Integrated Manufacturing, vol. 5, no. 6, pp. 4-7, June 1990.

# **Technical Reports**

- [1] F.L. Lewis, "Approximation-based feedback control of nonlinear systems using multilayer neural networks," Volterra Centennial Symposium, org. C. Cordunneanu, Univ. Texas at Arlington, May 1996.
- [2] B.L. Stevens and F.L. Lewis, "Aircraft flight controls design using output feedback," Internal Report 1-90, Atlanta, Controls Co., 1860 Monroe Dr. NE, Atlanta, GA 30324, Jan. 1990.
- [3] F.L. Lewis, D. Fountain, and G. Martin, "Output feedback in game theory and decentralized control," Georgia Tech, School of Electrical Engineering, Sys. Tech. Rep. FLL-88-1, February 1988.
- [4] F.L. Lewis and B.L. Stevens, "Implicit model-following regulator using output feedback," Georgia Tech, School of Electrical Engineering, Sys. Tech. Rep. FLL-87-1, January 1987.
- [5] F.L. Lewis, "On optimal control for linear singular systems," Georgia Tech, School of Electrical Engineering, Sys. Tech. Rep. FLL-86-1, August 1986.
- [6] F.L. Lewis, "Discrete time expanded state equations: subspace recursion relations, recursive solutions, and generalization to advanced-input controlled systems," Georgia Tech, School of Electrical Engineering, Sys. Tech. Rep. FLL-81-1, 1981.

# **Unpublished Reports**

- [1] J. Lin, J. Yu, F.L. Lewis, and T. Huang, "Dynamic modeling for bridge vibration control," Transportation Research Board Annual Meeting, paper 940849, Jan. 1994.
- [2] F.L. Lewis and H.-H. Huang, "Sequencing controller design for discrete event manufacturing systems," IEEE Mediterranean Symp. Control Theory and Applics., Crete, June 1993.
- [3] F.L. Lewis, K. Liu, and A. Yesildirek, "Neural net robot controller with guaranteed performance," IEEE Mediterranean Symp. Control Theory and Applics., Crete, June 1993.
- [4] M. Hoffmann and F.L. Lewis, "Integration of robust, adaptive, and learning robot control algorithms using an expert system," IEEE Region 5 Meeting, San Antonio, April 1992.

This paper won two awards: (1) Fourth Place Award, 1992 IEEE Region 5 Meeting, (2) Second Place Award, IEEE Industry Applications Society 1992 National Student Prize Paper Competitition.

[5] F.L. Lewis and K. Ozcaldiran, "The relative eigenstructure problem and descriptor systems," SIAM National Meeting, Denver, CO, June 1983.

# **Reviews and Editorials**

- [1] P. Ballal and F.L. Lewis, "The Smart Environment," Industrial Automation Asia, pp. 38-41, Sept. 2007.
- [2] F.L. Lewis, review of Constrained Control and Estimation, by G.C. Goodwin, M.M. Seron, J.A. de Dona, IEEE Trans. Automat. Control, vol. 51, no. 1, Jan. 2006.
- [3] K. Liu and F.L. Lewis, "Guest Editorial," Int. J. Intelligent Control and Systems, Special Issue on "Neural Network and Fuzzy Logic Applications in Feedback Control," vol. 1, no. 2, June 1996.
- [4] F.L. Lewis, review of Linear Multivariable Control, by A.I.G. Vardulakis, IEEE Trans. Automat. Control, vol. 39, no. 7, p. 1536, July 1994.
- [5] J.J. Mills, O.R. Mitchell, and F.L. Lewis, "Guest Editorial," J. Intell. and Robotic Systems, Special Issue on "Control of Robots and Manufacturing Systems," vol. 6, no. 1, 1992.
- [6] F.L. Lewis, "Review of Singular Control Systems, by L. Dai," SIAM Review, vol. 33, no. 1, pp. 151-152, Mar. 1991.
- [7] F.L. Lewis, "Review of Introduction to Signals and Systems, by E.W. Kamen," IEEE Trans. Automat. Control, vol. AC-35, no. 1, p. 124, Jan. 1990.
- [8] F.L. Lewis, "A new vocabulary for system theory?," editorial, Circuits, Systems, and Signal Proc., vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 233-234, 1989.